
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

APRIL 20,  2015

AGENDA 

MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL 

MAYOR JODY L. MCLEOD COUNCILMAN ART HOLDER 
MAYOR PRO TEM MICHAEL GRANNIS COUNCILMAN R.S. “BUTCH” LAWTER, JR. 
COUNCILMAN BOB SATTERFIELD COUNCILMAN JASON THOMPSON 

TOWN STAFF 

STEVE BIGGS, TOWN MANAGER 
KIMBERLY A. MOFFETT, TOWN CLERK 

BRUCE THOMPSON II, TOWN ATTORNEY 

P. O. Box 879 - Clayton, North Carolina 27528 - Office (919) 553-5002 - Fax (919) 553-8919 

  Jody L. McLeod Bob Satterfield 
       MAYOR          R.S. “Butch” Lawter, Jr. 

Art Holder  
   Bruce Thompson Jason Thompson   
TOWN ATTORNEY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

     Steve Biggs Michael Grannis 
 TOWN MANAGER   MAYOR PRO TEM 



AGENDA 
THE WORK SESSION MEETING OF THE CLAYTON TOWN COUNCIL 

 
MONDAY, APRIL 20, 2015    THE CLAYTON CENTER 
6:30 PM       COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation  
 
2. ADJUSTMENT OF THE AGENDA 
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 

(Items on the consent agenda are considered routine in nature or have been thoroughly 
discussed at previous meetings.  Any member of the Council may request to have an item 
removed from the consent agenda for further discussion.) 
a. Draft Minutes – March 16, 2015 
b. Clean Sweep Proclamation  
c. Appointment to Public Arts Advisory Board 
d. Street Blade Real Estate – 90 DayTrial at  Riverwood Athletic Club 

 
Potential Action:  Approval of Consent Agenda as Presented 

 
4. INTRODUCTIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

a. Request for Preeclampsia Awareness Month Proclamation 
 
Potential Action:  Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
b. 2015 Peace Officers Day Proclamation 

 
Potential Action:  Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
c. Public Arts Advisory Board Upcoming Projects/Budget Request   
 
Potential Action:   

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a. Public Hearing – PDD 2014-127 – Steeplechase Planned Development – 
Rezoning to PD-MU 

 
Potential Action: Tabled – May 4, 2015 
 
b. Public Hearing – PSD 2014-128 – Steeplechase Planned Development – 

Preliminary Plat/Master Plan 
 
 Potential Action:  Tabled – May 4, 2015 
 

Page 1 of 366



6. ITEMS SCHEDULED FOR THE REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
a. Report on Sewer Bid Process for Sam’s Branch Phase 2   
 
Potential Action:   -  None – Informational Report 
 
b. Rezoning - 15-05-02-RZ – Riverwood Athletic Club – Raven’s Ridge 8C  
 
Potential Action: Set Public Hearing for May 4, 2015 
 
c. Major Subdivision/Preliminary Plat - 15-08-01-SUB  - Riverwood Athletic 

Club - Raven’s Ridge 8C  
 
Potential Action:   Set Public Hearing for May 4, 2015 
 
d. Rezoning – 14-126-01 – Proctor’s Place 
 
Potential Action:  Set Public Hearing for May 4, 2015 
 
e.  Rezoning I  - 15-05-01 – Horne Memorial Church 
 
Potential Action:  Set Public Hearing for May 4, 2015 

 
7. ITEMS CONTINGENT FOR THE REGULAR MEETING 

a. Warranty and Dedication Request – Cleveland Draft House of Clayton 
 
Potential Action:  Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
b. Ordinance Amending Code of Ordinance – Access to SBI/DCI Criminal 

Record Information regarding ABC Permit Request 
 
Potential Action:   Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
c.  Special Event – 2015-06 – Harvest Festival 

 
Potential Action:  Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
d.  Special Event – 2015-07 – Clayton Shindig 
 
Potential Action:  Place on May 4, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 

8. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION  
 a. Archer Lodge Animal Control Service Request  
 
 Potential Action: Provide feedback to staff 

 
 

Page 2 of 366



9. OLD BUSINESS  
 
a. Hocutt Ellington Memorial Library Long Range Plan 

Potential Action:  Approval of Long Range Plan as Presented 

b.  Library Card User Fees  

Potential Action:   Approval of Ordinance Amending Fees & Charges 
Regarding Library User Fees 

10. STAFF REPORTS 
a. Town Manager 
b. Town Attorney 
c. Town Clerk  
 Calendar of Events 
d. Other Staff 

 
11. OTHER BUSINESS 

a. Informal Discussion & Public Comment 
b. Council Comments 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Page 3 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3a    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Draft Minutes 
 
DESCRIPTION: Draft minutes from the March 16, 2015 Town Council 

meetings.   
 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
 
4-20-15   Consent    Draft Minutes 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4 of 366



 
Town of Clayton 

Town Council Minutes 
March 16, 2015 

 
Present:  Mayor Jody McLeod, Mayor Pro Tem Michael Grannis, Council Member 
Bob Satterfield, Council Member Butch Lawter, Council Member Art Holder, and 
Council Member Jason Thompson 
 
Staff Present:   Steve Biggs, Town Manager;  Nancy Medlin, Deputy Town 
Manager;  Jeff Bandini, Town Attorney; Tim Simpson, Public Works Director; 
Howard Creech, Electrical Department; Larry Bailey, Parks and Recreation 
Director, Christie Starnes, Library Director;  David DeYoung, Planning Director; 
Stacy Beard, Public Information Officer; Robert McKie, Finance Director;  Bruce 
Naegelen, Downtown Development Coordinator; Dale Medlin, Electric 
Department Supervisor; Matt Lorion, Parks and Recreation;  R.W. Bridges, 
Police Chief;  Tommy Roy, Information Technology Specialist;  Christy Anastasi, 
Deputy Town Clerk and Kimberly Moffett, Town Clerk. 
 
1.  CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor McLeod called the meeting to order at 6:36 p.m. The Mayor led the 
Pledge of Allegiance as well as offering the Invocation. 

 
2. ADJUSTMENT OF THE AGENDA 
  

Mr. Biggs advised there would be an addition to the Agenda.   This 
addition will be Item 9A and is a Resolution regarding the sale of telecom 
easement and assignment agreement.   
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
a. Draft Minutes – February 2, 2015 and February 19, 2015 
b. Resolution #2015-08 –Transferring duties of Deputy Town Clerk 

 
Action:   Approval of Consent Agenda as Presented 
 
Motion:    Council Member Thompson 
Second:  Council Member Holder 
Vote:    Unanimous 

 
4. INTRODUCTIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

a. 2014 Electric Department Report 
 
Dale Medlin, Electrical Department, provided the 2014 Electrical 
Department Annual Report.  Council members were provided with a copy 
of the report.  Some of the items discussed included new equipment, 
completed capital projects and associated costs as well as financial 

Page 5 of 366



information for projects in the 2015-106 budget.  Mr. Medlin also provided 
information regarding customer outage figures and addressed actions 
taken to improve the electrical system.  Mayor Pro Tem Grannis thanked 
Mr. Medlin and his entire team for all their hard work and dedication and 
stated he felt they did an outstanding job. There was a brief discussion 
regarding tree trimming.  Mr. Medlin stated he firmly believed that if not 
for the tree trimming projects, customer outages times could easily be 
doubled.   

 
b. Library  Card Fees 
 
Deputy Town Manager Medlin provided a report recommending the 
equitable cost share for all persons using the library and its services.  The 
following card fee recommendations were brought to council for 
consideration: 
 
Resident:  Free 
Non Resident Taxpayer:  Free 
Education Employees:  Free 
Town Employees:  Free 
Non-Resident:  $25 Annually 
        $15 Semi-annually 
        $10 Quarterly 
Replacement Cards (unexpired):  $5.00 
Non-Residential Internet Use:  $5.00/Hour 
 
Ms. Medlin explained the process used for calculating the proposed cost 
of fees and stated two separate calculation methods were used.  Both 
methods averaged a consistent fee. Ms.  Medlin stated these 
recommendations would be a component of the Long Range Plan and 
Policy and the effective date of these changes would be July 1, 2015.  
 
There was discussion regarding the numbers of library cards within the 
town limit, ETJ and Johnston County.   
 
Council Member Holder suggested there be a reduced fee for a 
family/household.   This item will be addressed and will be presented at 
the April 6, 2015 Town Council meeting.  
 
c. Clayton Police Department Annual Report 
 
Chief R.W. Bridges provided the 2014 Annual Report.  Significant events 
of the Clayton Police Department were discussed and included the 
following: 
 

 Two new officers hired to fill vacancies  

Page 6 of 366



 K-9 “Able” joined the CPD ranks 

 One new office assistant hired to fill vacancy 

 Two civilian employees retired 

 New Training Officer Position created 

 One additional Advanced Law Enforcement Certificate earned 

 Two Intermediate Law Enforcement Certifications earned 

 US Police K-9 Trails 

 Two homicides were investigated – both were solved with suspects 
arrested 

 Filed reports on 690 Traffic Accidents – 173 with injuries, 1 fatality 

 Handled 26,946 police calls for service in 2014 
 
Chief Bridges also stated Police Officer of the Year was presented to 
Detective Temple for his outstanding work on a case involving a chop 
shop and tractor trailers as well as playing a large role in the conclusion 
of the 2nd homicide case for 2014.  Chief Bridge also stated there was a 
total of 5 citizen complaints for the year, 21 defensive actions and 3 
pursuits.  There was an increase of 2,778 in service calls from 2013 to 
2014. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Grannis commended Chief Bridge and department for the 
great job they do.   Mayor Pro Tem Grannis asked about percentages of 
certifications within the department.   Chief Bridges stated he would need 
to verify actual percentages but felt confident stating the Clayton Police 
Department percentage is high with regard to those officers with 
advanced certifications.  
 
Council Member Thompson asked if there were any areas with a higher 
concentration of police service calls.  Chief Bridges stated there were 
south of Highway 70 and east of Highway 42.  Council Member Thompson 
stated he would like to see map showing the area for calls of service. 
 
Council Member Lawter stated he is very pleased with the new position of 
Park Police Officer.  He further stated that officer Duran is quickly 
becoming known and proving to be extremely helpful. Council Member 
Lawter thanked the Chief and the department for the fine job they do in 
keeping the community safe. 
 
Chief Bridges advised that next on-site accreditation will take place in 
July.   
 
Mayor McLeod offered this thanks and appreciation for all the fine work 
done by the Police Department on a daily basis. 
 
 
 

Page 7 of 366



 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
a. Public Hearing – PDD 2014-127 – Steeplechase Planned Development – 

Rezoning to PD-MU 
 
Action:   Tabled Public Hearing to April 6, 2015 
 
b. Public Hearing – PSD 2014-128 – Steeplechase Planned Development – 

Preliminary Plat/Master Plan 
 
Action:   Tabled Public Hearing to April 6, 2015 
  

6. ITEMS SCHEDULED FOR THE REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
a. The Fresh Air Fund Proclamation 
  
Town Clerk, Kimberly Moffett, stated a request was received from the 
Fresh Air Fund for a proclamation recognizing the organization.  The 
organization offers an opportunity to for children from inner cities, who 
might not otherwise be able, to enjoy the fresh air of backyards, parks, 
greenways and wide open spaces.  The Fresh Air Fund states there are 
several families in Clayton that open their homes to children for this 
summer experience. 

 
Action:   Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
b.   Amendments to Municipal Records Retention & Disposition Schedule 
 
Town Clerk, Kimberly Moffett, presented an amendment to the Municipal 
Records and Disposition Schedule.  The amendments include adding law 
enforcement records – audio and video recordings and amending 
employee eligibility records to make it mandatory to retain records 
throughout the entire employment of an employee.  Records may be 
destroyed upon separation; either 3 years from the date of hire OR 1 year 
after separation; whichever is later. 
 
Action:   Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
c. Surplus Property Resolution 
 
Finance Director McKie presented a resolution authorizing the sale of 
surplus property.  These items will be placed on www.govdeals.com, 
which is an internet based auction system. 
 
Action:   Place on April 6, 2016 Consent Agenda 
 

Page 8 of 366

http://www.govdeals.com/


 
 
d. Special Event – Clayton Road Race 
  
Bruce Naegelen provided a report for the Clayton Road Race, which is 
scheduled to be held on May 9, 2015.  The event is sponsored by the 
Clayton Parks and Recreation.  The race will take place downtown and 
streets included are Second, Atkinson, Horne, Barbour and Fayetteville.  
The event will take place between 8:00 and 11:00 a.m.  Council Member 
Thompson wanted to ensure that the Fire Department had no concerns 
and Mr. Matt Lorion of the Parks and Recreation Department stated there 
was a representative of the Fire Department that was part of the Special 
Events Committee was aware of all plans. The Special Events Committee 
recommends approval of the event. 
 
Action:  Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
e. Special Event – Santa Baby Road Race 
  
Bruce Naegelen provided a report for the Santa Baby Road Race, which is 
scheduled to be held on December 5, 2015.  This event is a 1 mile fun run 
and is sponsored by the Partnership for Children Johnston County.  The 
location of the event is downtown and requested closures include the 
Clayton Center Parking Lot and Town Square.  The event is scheduled to 
run from 9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m.  The Special Events Committee 
recommends approval of the event. 
 
Council Member Lawter asked about the cost to the town for all the 
various special events that take place.  Mr. Biggs stated the gathering of 
all information is currently underway. 
 
Action:   Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 

      f.   Special Event – Zaxby’s Movie Night 
 
Bruce Naegelen provided details regarding Zaxby’s Movie Night.  There 
are two different dates; May 2, 2015 and August 22, 2015.  These events 
take place at Town Square between the hours of 6:00 and 10:00 p.m.  
Closure of the Town Square Parking Lot is requested beginning at 12:00 
noon on the days of the events.  The Special Events Committee 
recommends approval. 
 
Action:   Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
 
 

Page 9 of 366



 
 

7. ITEMS CONTINGENT FOR THE REGULAR MEETING 
a.   Warranty and Dedication Acceptances: 
Public sewer utility and all pertinent easements:  

 Spring Branch Medical Park Phase2, Smith Packet AL Facility 

 Chandlers Ridge (Old Lyndale) Subdivision, Phase 2 
 

 Action:   Place on April 6, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 

8. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION  
 

9. OLD BUSINESS 
 

Mr. Biggs provided information regarding the presale and lease agreement 
regarding Shotwell Road.  Terms have been successfully negotiated. 

 
Action:   Suspend rules in order to take action/vote 

 
Motion: Council Member Thompson 
Second: Mayor Pro Tem Grannis 
Vote:  Unanimous 
 
Action:   Adoption of Resolution Authorizing Sale of Telecom Easement and 

Agreement 
 
Motion: Council Member Holder 
Second: Council Member Lawter 
Vote:  Unanimous 

 
10.  STAFF REPORTS 

a. Town Manager 
 
Mr. Biggs stated what a great job and high level of professionalism and 
achievement there is in both the Electric and Police Departments.  He 
thanked both for the reports presented this evening. 

 
b. Town Attorney 
c. Town Clerk  

 Calendar of Events 
 
d. Other Staff 
 
Stacy Beard, Public Information Officer, advised the Clayton Chamber of 
Commerce would be presenting the Administrative Assistant of the Year Award 
at their annual luncheon.  Additionally, the Chamber has initiated anew event.  

Page 10 of 366



They will visit all Chamber members on April 14, 2015 and thank them for their 
membership.  

 
Matt Lorion, Parks and Recreation Department, invited everyone to attend the 
Special Needs Dance, which will be held this Friday – March 20, 2015.  This year 
will be a hoedown theme and the dance will take place from 7:00 to 9:00 p.m. at 
the Community Center.  Mayor Pro Tem Grannis stated he attended last year and 
this was an amazing event and he encouraged attendance. 

 
11. OTHER BUSINESS 
a. Informal Discussion & Public Comment 
b. Council Comments 

Council Member Satterfield asked for an update regarding the road at 
Maplewood.  Mr. Biggs stated it would be done shortly.  Council Member 
stated he was asked if town had any interest in placing the Moore Street old 
substation property on the market.  Mr.  Biggs stated a market analysis is 
being completed.   

 
Mayor Pro Tem Grannis asked for an estimated completion date for 
Riverwood street paving.  Mr. Biggs stated he would able to provide an 
update at the next meeting.  

 
Council Member Holder  provided a copy of financial analysis. 

 
Mayor McLeod stated he heard many positive comments regarding the 
demolition of the red and white building.  It was a very smooth process. 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 With there being nothing further, the meeting was adjourned at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 Action:   Adjournment at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 Motion: Council Member Thompson 
 Second: Council Member Lawter 
 Vote:  Unanimous 

 

 

Page 11 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3b    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Clean Sweep Proclamation 
 
DESCRIPTION: Judy Hoffman will be present to accept this Proclamation of 

behalf of the Newcomers & Neighbors Club.  
  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
  
 
4-6-15   Placed on 4-20-15    Proclamation 
    Consent Agenda 
 
4-20-15   Consent Agenda   Proclamation 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 366



Town of Clayton 
Proclaim Spring Litter Sweep 

As 
April 18-May 2, 2015 

 

Whereas, the Spring 2015 LITTER SWEEP roadside cleanup will take place 
April 18 – May 2, 2015, and; 

Whereas,  the Newcomers & Neighbors Club encourages civic and 
professional groups, businesses, churches, schools, neighborhoods, families 
and individual citizens to participate in the Department of Transportation 
cleanup by sponsoring and organizing local roadside cleanups; and 

Whereas, the great natural beauty of our community and a clean 
environment are sources of great pride for the Town of Clayton, attracting 
tourists and aiding in recruiting of new industries; and  
 
Whereas, the cleanup will increase awareness of the need for cleaner 
roadsides, emphasize the importance of not littering, and encourage recycling 
of solid wastes; and 

Whereas,  volunteers help to beautify our town and raise awareness of the 
impact of litter on the environment while giving every citizen the opportunity 
to take responsibility for clean roads; 

NOW, THEREFORE, LET IT BE PROCLAIMED by the Honorable Mayor 
and Town Council of the Town of Clayton that April 18- May 2, 2015, be 
proclaimed as “Litter Sweep” Spring 2015 Roadside Cleanup.  Let it also be 
proclaimed that Clayton citizens are urged to keep our roadsides clean; to 
reduce and recycle solid wastes; and to report violations of the litter laws. 

Duly proclaimed this 20th of April 2015 while in regular session. 

  

                                                                                                             
_______________________ 

                                                                                              Jody L. McLeod    
                                                                                              Mayor 

 

Page 13 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3c    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Vacancy on Public Arts Advisory Board 
 
DESCRIPTION: Nancy Medlin presented this application to fill current 

vacancy on the Public Arts Advisory Board.  The applicant 
was interviewed by staff and is highly recommended for 
approval.  The term of this vacancy expires on December 31, 
2017. 

  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15 Placed on 4-20 Consent  Application 
 For Approval       

    
 
4-20-15 Consent    Application 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14 of 366



Page 15 of 366



Page 16 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3d    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Street Blade (Real Estate) – 90 Day Trial 
 
DESCRIPTION: This suggestion was brought to the Town Council by James 

Lipscomb.  This will allow a street blade be placed to help 
direct people to the location of new homes.   This is being 
requested for a 90 day trial period to take place at the 
Riverwood Athletic Club. 

  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
 
4-20-15 Consent    None 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 4a    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Introductions and Special Presentations 
 
DESCRIPTION: Molly Herring, who serves as the coordinator the “The 

Promise Walk for Preeclampsia”, will be present to speak 
about the Promise Walk that is scheduled to be held in 
Clayton on May 16, 2015.  Ms. Herring will also request that a 
Proclamation be issued recognizing May 2015 as 
Preeclampsia Awareness Month. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Presentation/Request  Proclamation 
    For Proclamation     
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18 of 366



  
TT OO WW NN   OO FF   CC LL AA YY TT OO NN  

PP RR OO CC LLAA II MM II NNGG   MM AA YY   22 00 11 55   AA SS     
PP RR EE EE CC AA MM PP LL SS II AA  AA WW AA RR EE NN EE SS SS   MM OO NN TT HH  

 
WHEREAS, Preeclampsia, including HELLP syndrome and eclampsia, is a dangerous condition 
of pregnancy that can, in its severest form, lead to maternal and/or infant mortality or 
premature birth with significant health risks for the mother and baby; and 
 
WHEREAS, as many as 320,000 cases of preeclampsia are diagnosed in America every year with 
approximately 25% resulting in severe, life-threatening consequences to a pregnant woman and 
her baby; and 

 
WHEREAS, 24,000 births are affected by preeclampsia each year in the state of North Carolina; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, public education as to the signs and symptoms of preeclampsia, HELLP syndrome 
and eclampsia can help women recognize the condition and seek appropriate medical care.  
Prenatal education should include recognition of those signs and symptoms (spikes in maternal 
blood pressure, sudden swelling of face and hands, severe upper abdominal pain, blurred vision, 
persistent headaches, breathlessness); and 
 
WHEREAS, many citizens of  Clayton have joined with the Preeclampsia Foundation to raise 
public awareness in order to minimize maternal and infant illness and death due to 
preeclampsia; and  

 
WHEREAS, a Promise Walk will be held on Saturday, May 16, 2015 at the East Clayton 
Community Park. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Honorable Mayor and Clayton Town Council wish to recognize May 
2015 as 
 

PREECLAMPSIA AWARENESS MONTH 
 
Duly proclaimed by the Clayton Town Council this 4th day of May 2015, while in regular 
session. 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Jody McLeod 

Mayor 

Page 19 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 4b    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Introductions and Special Presentations 
 
DESCRIPTION: Chief Bridges will request that a Proclamation be issued 

recognizing May 15, 2015 as  Police Memorial Day and 
recognizing May 10 – 16, 2015 as Police Week. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Presentation/Request  Proclamation 
    For Proclamation     
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20 of 366



PROCLAMATION 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 
2015 PEACE OFFICERS MEMORIAL DAY & POLICE WEEK 

 

WHEREAS, as a Nation, we rely on law enforcement officers to keep our neighborhoods 
safe, enforce our laws, and respond in times of crisis; and 

WHEREAS, The Town of Clayton Police Officers maintain peace and order across our 
Town, and we look to them as models of courage and integrity; and 

WHEREAS, during Police Officers Week, we take this opportunity to honor their 
extraordinary service and sacrifice, and we remember the fallen heroes whose selfless 
acts have left behind safer streets and a stronger community; and 

WHEREAS, Officers face the threat of violence and danger every day, they routinely put 
their lives on the line to defend ours, and the price of that bravery cannot be measured.  
The steadfast dedication of our law enforcement officers warrants more than praise; and 

WHEREAS, by a joint resolution approved October 1, 1962, and by Public Law 103-322, 
the President of the United Stated has been authorized and requested to designate May 
15 of each year as "Peace Officers Memorial Day" and the week in which it falls as "Police 
Week”; and 

NOW THEREFORE, we call upon all citizens to reflect on the way in which our lives have 
been touched by the Officers who stand guard over our community; and 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Clayton Town Council does hereby proclaim May 15, 2015, 
as Peace Officers Memorial Day and May 10 through May 16, 2015, as Police Week. 

Duly adopted this 4th day of May, 2015 while in regular session. 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Jody McLeod  

Mayor 

 

Page 21 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 4c Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Introductions and Special Presentations 

DESCRIPTION: Jason Hardy, who serves as the Chair of the Public Arts 
Advisory Board, will present the 2015-2016body of work for 
the Public Arts Advisory Board as well as providing a slide 
show of the artworks that were selected for the 2015-2016 
Downtown Sculpture Trail. 

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

4-20-15 Presentation Report 

Page 22 of 366



Page 23 of 366



Page 24 of 366



Page 25 of 366



Page 26 of 366



Page 27 of 366



Page 28 of 366



Page 29 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 5a Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Public Hearing - PDD 2014-127 – Steeple Chase Planned 
Development – Rezoning to PD-MU 

DESCRIPTION: Steeple Chase Planned Development – Rezoning to PD-MU.  
This is a  631 acre project and is generally located east of City 
Road, west of North O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch 
and the Neuse River.  The applicant is requesting approval to 
rezone the subject property to Planned Development –Mixed 
Use. 

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

2-16-15 Set Public Hearing Staff Report 
for March 2, 2015  Supporting Documents 

3-2-15 Public Hearing Updated Staff Report 
TABLED – 3/16/15 Supporting Documents 

3-16-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
TABLED – 4/6/15 Supporting Documents 

4-6-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
TABLED  - 4/20/15 Supporting Documents 

Traffic Impact Study 

4-20-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
To be Tabled Supporting Documents 
5/4/15  Traffic Impact Study 

Page 30 of 366



 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 366



Page 1 of 3 

Town Council 
February 16, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to Planned Development) 
Project Name: Steeplechase Planned Development 

Associated Application: PSD 2014-128 (Master Plan) 
NC PINs: 166900-38-4997 
TAG #s: 05H02009 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: None 
Applicant:  Galaxy NC, LLC, c/o Wakefield Development 
Owners: Raymond Elmore Earp Jr. Irrevocable Trust 

Neighborhood Meeting:  Held October 27, 2014 
Public Noticing: Property posted November 7, 2014 

PROJECT LOCATION:   The approximately 631 acre project is generally located east of City Road, west of North 
O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch and the Neuse River. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting approval to rezone the subject property to Planned Development – 
Mixed Use. 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 631.04 acres  

Present Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 10 (R-10), Residential 8 (R-8), Neighborhood 
Business (B-2) 

Proposed Zoning: Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU)  

Existing Use: Vacant/Agriculture/Forested 

Overlay:  Partially within the Watershed Protection Overlay (a small portion of the site in the 
southeast corner) 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 32 of 366



Page 2 of 3 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 

North:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

South:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 8 (R-8 SUD) 
Existing Use: Vacant / Single Family Residential /Agriculture 

East: Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential / Agriculture 

West: Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting the subject property be rezoned to Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU). 
Concurrent with the request to rezone property to a Planned Development District, a Master Plan has been 
submitted. That application is under concurrent review under case #PSD 2014-128. Both the rezoning and the 
master plan must be approved for the PD-MU District to be approved. Details of the Master Plan are provided in 
a separate staff report. 

Planned Development Review Criteria 
The regulations below are the components of the UDC that pertain to the review of Planned Developments: 

Definition: 
Definition of PD-MU (§155.200(A)(3)(d)): “The PD-MU district is intended to provide coordinated mixed-
use developments which include light industrial, commercial, office, educational, civic, institutional, 
residential and service uses  within a planned development with appropriate perimeter buffering and 
open space. The variety of land uses available in this district allows flexibility to respond to market 
demands and the needs of tenants which provides for a variety of physically and functionally integrated 
land uses.” 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
The request is consistent with the following objectives of the Strategic Growth Plan: 

 Proposed Land Use Map
 Objective 2.1 Balanced Development/ Investment: Old and New
 Objective 2.3 Expand Wastewater Capacity: Treatment and Transmission
 Objective 2.5 More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes (Continue to encourage diverse

housing stock. Promote planned development, which allows more flexibility in housing types.)
 Objective 5.1 More Developed Parks and Parkland

The Proposed Land Use Map shows the site as “Residential – Light and Neighborhood Commercial.” 

Page 33 of 366



Page 3 of 3 

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
Although the overall proposed density is 4 dwelling units per acre, the master plan has been designed to provide 
lower densities adjacent to existing subdivisions.  These lower densities are compatible to the densities in the 
adjacent subdivisions and provide a transition from the higher density/intensities. The commercial parcel is 
currently limited in the master plan regulating documents to neighborhood commercial (B-2 uses) and a 
maximum of 75,000 square feet of floor area. 

Landscaping and Buffering 
Planned Developments require a Class C perimeter buffer is provided along the boundary of the property. 

Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet or exceed the standards established for open space subdivisions. 

CONSIDERATIONS 

 The applicant is requesting approval of a rezoning of the subject parcel to Planned Development –
Mixed Use.

 This approval is subject to approval of PSD 2014-128 (Master Plan).

 The final decision is made by the Town Council with recommendation from the Planning Board.

 The Planning Board did not make a recommendation at their January 26, 2015 meeting, and will open
the item again at their February 23, 2015 meeting.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending: 
1) Approval of the rezoning.

Planning Board Recommendation:  No recommendation at this time. The item was postponed for decision at a 
future meeting. 

Attachments: 
1. Existing and Proposed Zoning Map
2. Aerial Map
3. Application
4. Neighborhood Meeting Materials

Page 34 of 366



R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

R-E

R-E

R-E

R-8

R-8

R-E

R-10

R-E

PD-R

R-10

R-8

R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

B-2

R-8
R-8 I-2

R-6 R-6

B-1

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Existing Zoning

0 0.550.275
Miles

±

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD  BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R SARAZEN DR  

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Proposed Zoning (PDD 2014-127)

PD-MU

PD-MU

PD-MU

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features

ZONING
R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Special Use District

Page 35 of 366



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
EL

L 
R

D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

LOOP RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W

MAIN ST  

T R DR

PEARSON PL  

PE
RC

Y 
DR

 
MAYLON LN 

HAYWOOD LN

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NEUSE RIVER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat approval

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 0.550.275
Miles

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features ±
Page 36 of 366



Page 37 of 366



Page 38 of 366



Page 39 of 366



Page 40 of 366



Page 41 of 366



Page 42 of 366



Page 43 of 366



Page 44 of 366



Page 45 of 366



Page 46 of 366



Page 47 of 366



Page 48 of 366



27__

Page 49 of 366



Page 50 of 366



PPAB 2574608v1

Page 1 of 1 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

PDD2014-127 
Steeplechase rezoning to PD-MU 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 

Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 

The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically: 
- The Proposed Land Use Map (Figure 6.4) 
- Objective 1.2 – increase residential presence in downtown. 
- Objective 2.1 – balance development/investment: old & new. 
- Objective 2.5 – more housing opportunities: beyond starter homes. 
- Objective 5.1 – expand greenway program. 

Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically: 

 Staff recommends that the Planning Board approve the rezoning.

 The Planning Board recommends an approval of the rezoning at their February 23,

2015 meeting.

 The Planning Board recommended approval of the Steeplechase Planned

Development Master Plan (PSD2014-128, which functions as the Preliminary

Subdivision Plan at their February 23, 2015 meeting.

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

Page 51 of 366



COUNCIL MOTION SHEET 
ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 

(Rezoning or Text Amendment)  

After considering the recommendations of the Planning Board and Planning 
Director, I move to [approve OR deny]  [PDD 2014-127]  

[IF APPROVING] 

and to approve the Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness included in the 
Agenda packet [with the following modifications: STATE MODIFICATIONS, IF 
ANY]. 

Page 52 of 366



AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE 
AND ZONING MAP 

OF THE TOWN OF CLAYTON, NORTH CAROLINA 

PDD 2014-127 “Steeplechase Planned Development” Rezoning to PD-MU 

WHEREAS a petition has been filed with the Town Council of the Town of 
Clayton requesting an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the Town 
of Clayton to include in the Planned Development – PD-MU zone the property described 
below, said property formerly being zoned Residential (R-8), Residential-10 (R-10) and 
Neighborhood Business (B-2); and  

WHEREAS said property is owned by Nancy Crews Earp and Mary Earp Worley; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Board of the Town of Clayton has reviewed the 
proposed change(s) and made a recommendation thereupon; and 

WHEREAS notice of a public hearing to consider the proposed change was 
published in accordance with law in the Clayton News Star, a local newspaper, as 
required by Section 155.702(D) of the Clayton Unified Development Code and by 
Section 160A-364 of the North Carolina General Statutes; and 

WHEREAS a notice of the proposed zoning classification action was mailed to 
the owner(s) of the parcel(s) of land involved, as shown on the County Tax Listings, and 
to the owners of all parcels of land abutting that (those) parcel(s) of land and within 100 
feet of the subject parcel(s) of land, as shown on the County Tax Listings, by depositing a 
copy of the same in the United States Mail, first class postage paid, as required by 
Section 155.702(D) of the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Clayton and by Section 
160A-384 of the General Statutes; and 

WHEREAS the said public hearing was actually conducted at 6:30 p.m. on April 
6, 2015, wherein a reasonable opportunity was given to all those in attendance to speak 
either in favor or against the said change or to make relevant comments; 

THEREFORE, after duly considering the matter, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF 
THE TOWN OF CLAYTON DOES HEREBY ORDAIN: 

SECTION 1.  That the Unified Development Code of the Town of Clayton is hereby 
amended to include in the Planned Development – PD MU zone the following described 
property: 

Page 53 of 366



General Description: 

South of Smith Ridge Estates and Ole Mill Stream Subdivision, North of Sam’s 
Branch Greenway, between Covered Bridge Road and O‘Neil Street on the east, 
and City Road on the west, with Covered Bridge Road, and Brookhill Drive running 
partly through the parcel. 

Specific Description: 

Parcel No. 05H02009     Tax ID #0869846 

SECTION 2.  That the official Town of Clayton Zoning Map is hereby amended to 
include in the Planned Development – PD-MU zone the above-described property and 
will be so marked. 

SECTION 3.  That if any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 
Ordinance. 

SECTION 4.  That this ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

DULY ADOPTED this 20th  day of April, 2015. 

________________________ 
Jody L. McLeod 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett, CMC 
Town Clerk 

PDD 2014-127 

Page 54 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 5b Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Public Hearing - PSD 2014-128 

DESCRIPTION: Steeplechase Planned Development – Preliminary Plat/Master 
Plan.   The applicant is requesting Master Plan approval, with 
the Master Plan acting as the Preliminary Subdivision Plat 
approval, for the for the Steeplechase Planned Development 
to allow a maximum of 2,200 residential units and 75,000 
square feet of commercial uses.  

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

2-16-15 Set Public Hearing for Staff Report 
March 2, 2015 Supporting Documents 

3-2-15 Public Hearing Updated Staff  Report 
TABLED – 3/16/15 Supporting Documents 

3-16-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
TABLED – 4/6/15 Supporting Documents 

4-6-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
TABLED – 4/20/15 Supporting Documents 

Traffic Impact Study  

4-20-15 Public Hearing Staff Report 
To Be Tabled Supporting Documents 
5/4/15  Traffic Impact Study 

Page 55 of 366



         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56 of 366



Page 1 of 14 

Town Council 
February 16, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: PSD 2014-128 (Preliminary Plat / Master Plan for Planned Development) 
Project Name: Steeplechase Planned Development 

Associated Application: PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to PD-MU) 
NC PINs: 166900-38-4997 
TAG #s: 05H02009 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: None 
Applicant:  Galaxy NC, LLC, c/o Wakefield Development 
Owners: Raymond Elmore Earp Jr. Irrevocable Trust 

Neighborhood Meeting:  Held October 27, 2014 
Public Noticing: Property posted November 7, 2014 

PROJECT LOCATION:   The approximately 631 acre project is generally located east of City Road, west of North 
O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch and the Neuse River. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting Master Plan approval, with the Master Plan acting as the Preliminary 
Subdivision Plat approval, for the for the Steeplechase Planned Development to allow a maximum of 2,200 
residential units and 75,000 square feet of commercial uses. 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 631.04 acres  

Present Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 10 (R-10), Residential 8 (R-8), Neighborhood 
Business (B-2) 

Proposed Zoning:  Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU) 

Existing Use: Vacant/Agriculture/Forested 

Existing Impervious: None – site is undeveloped 

Overlay:  Partially within the Watershed Protection Overlay (a small portion of the site in the 
southeast corner) 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 57 of 366



Page 2 of 14 

DEVELOPMENT DATA: 

All information below is as proposed by the applicant. Planned developments are unique in that they do not 
carry pre-established development standards. All bulk, area, and dimensional standards are set by the 
approval process and are binding once approved by Town Council. (See §155.202(L)).  PLEASE NOTE THAT ALL 
MODIFIED DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ARE SPECIFICALLY LISTED IN THE MASTER PLAN DOCUMENT.  
STANDARDS WHICH ARE NOT SPECIFICALLY CALLED OUT MUST MEET THE MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE. 

Proposed Uses: Residential/Non-residential – mix of housing types (single family, 
townhomes, condominiums and apartments), recreational amenities, and 
commercial uses. 

Proposed Buildings: Multiple buildings and phases include mixed residential, commercial and 
recreational (club house) buildings. 

Proposed Residential 
Density: 

Maximum 4 units per acre for residential portion of property (calculation 
does not include commercial site) 

Proposed Commercial 
Intensity: 

9.91 acres / 80% per lot building coverage / 75,000 SF max. 

Proposed Maximum 
Building Height: 

Detached Homes – Single Family: 35 feet max. 

Attached Homes – Townhome & Single Family: 45 feet max. 

Multi-Family – Condos & Apartments: 55 feet max. 

Amenity and Club: 45 feet max. 

Commercial Area: 80 feet max. 

Staff note: For reference, the maximum height in all existing general 
residential zoning districts is 35 feet. Maximum height in existing general 
commercial zoning districts is 60 feet (in B-3 and O-I). Maximum height 
for apartments/condos/townhomes is set by the Planned Development 
process.  

Staff supports the request for 80 feet in height for the Commercial area 
because it would allow for mixed use development with office and 
residential uses in upper stories. 

Proposed Impervious 
Surface: 

Overall Development: 70% 

The Master Plan is divided into a series of phases. Some phases may 
exceed maximum impervious with the understanding that the overall 
project may not exceed the maximum impervious surface percentage. As 
each phase is approved for development, it will be reviewed for 
consistency with the maximums set in the Master Plan, ensuring the 
overall development does not exceed the 70% maximum. 

Required Parking: Parking will be required as established by the Unified Development 
Ordinance and will be reviewed as each phase is approved for 
development. 

Access: Primary access is identified along Covered Bridge Road (3 aligned 
entrances/intersections) and North O’Neil Street (two entrances). 

Page 58 of 366



Page 3 of 14 

Additional internal connections exist along Brook Hill Drive as well as 
interconnectivity to existing stub streets in Smith Ridge estates and Old 
Mill Stream subdivisions. Additional access points may occur on City Road 
if the School District utilizes the portion of the site set aside for school 
use.  Several major roadway improvements will be necessary as a part of 
this development. Details of roadway and intersection improvements will 
be determined as part of the review of the Traffic Impact Analysis. The 
Traffic Impact Analysis review by NCDOT is included as an attachment to 
this staff report.  

Water/Sewer Provider: Town of Clayton 

Electric Provider: Town of Clayton 

Proposed minimum 
Recreation and Open 
Space: 

Overall: 64.98 Acres 

Active Recreation: 16.245 acres 

See discussion on Recreation and Open Space, below. Recreation and 
Open Space and Active Recreation acreages are minimums and cannot be 
reduced except by Town Council approval via a major modification to the 
Master Plan. 

Proposed Dimensional 
Standards: 

Minimum Dimensional Standards (setbacks, building coverage, and 
height) are set based on use in the Master Plan.  

The Master Plan includes a provision that all setbacks may be modified by 
up to 20% with approval by the Planning Director. 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 

North:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

South:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 8 (R-8 SUD) 
Existing Use: Vacant / Single Family Residential /Agriculture 

East: Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential / Agriculture 

West: Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting preliminary subdivision plat approval for the Master Plan for the Steeplechase 
Planned Development. This 631 acre project is under concurrent request to be rezoned to Planned Development 

Page 59 of 366



Page 4 of 14 

Mixed Use (PD-MU) under case # PDD 2014-127. Both the rezoning and the master plan must be approved for 
the PD-MU District to be approved.  

The Master Plan is also acting as the Preliminary Subdivision Plat, as is permitted by the UDC. All dimensional 
standards are set within the Master Plan, along with basic street and development patterns, and regulating 
sheets are included to guide the form of development components. This means that as each phase of the 
development moves towards construction, the specific details within each phase (exact placement of lot lines, 
for example) will be reviewed and approved by staff as a final plat. Individual site components are required to be 
consistent with the design and standards presented in the regulating and master plan. 

 Note: The exceptions to the above include the commercial parcel, condo/apartment/townhome
sections and recreation areas.  The condo/apartment/townhome sections will either be kept under
single ownership as rentals or subdivided into lots which encompass the unit only leaving the
remainder of the land in common ownership. Consequently the condo/apartment/townhome
sections may be processed as a Major Site Plan with approval by the Planning Board. Development
of the recreation areas will be processed as Minor Site Plans (staff-level review). The commercial
parcel will go back to Planning Board for major site plan review/approval.

Other modifications to this approved Master Plan deemed “Major” will return to the Town Council 
for review and approval.  

The applicant is requesting a maximum of 2200 residential units, to be comprised of a mix of single family and 
multi-family units. The units are clustered in a range of densities.  The commercial parcel is limited to 75,000 
square feet of commercial uses.  The project includes both active and passive recreation and open space, and 
identifies resource conservation areas as permanently preserved (as is required).   

The Master Plan also identifies a potential school site.  The applicant is in discussions with Johnston County 
Public Schools, and the site will be reserved for 18 months from the date of approval to acquire the site in 
accordance with §155.605(A) of the UDC. 

Planned Development Review Criteria 
The regulations below are the components of the UDC that pertain to the review of Planned Developments: 

Definition: 
Definition of PD-MU (§155.200(A)(3)(d)): “The PD-MU district is intended to provide coordinated mixed-use 
developments which include light industrial, commercial, office, educational, civic, institutional, residential and 
service uses  within a planned development with appropriate perimeter buffering and open space. The variety of 
land uses available in this district allows flexibility to respond to market demands and the needs of tenants 
which provides for a variety of physically and functionally integrated land uses.” 

Per §155.203(L), Planned Developments are subject to the following requirements: 

 The development proposed in the master plan is compatible with the character of surrounding land
uses and maintains and enhances the value of surrounding properties.

 Each planned development shall provide a comprehensive set of design guidelines that
demonstrate the project will be appropriate within the context of the surrounding properties and
the larger community. All bulk, area and dimensional standards shall be established by the Town
Council at the time of approval.

Page 60 of 366



Page 5 of 14 

 No resource conservation area (see § 155.500) shall be counted towards lot area. This shall not
preclude the platting of lots in such areas, provided that adequate lot area outside the resource
conservation area is provided.

 No resource conservation area shall be counted towards the recreation and open space
requirements.

 The planned development master plan shall meet or exceed the recreation and open space
requirements of an open space residential subdivision.

 A phasing plan is required.

Master Plan Approval Criteria (§155.705(K)): 
1. Compliance with all applicable requirements of the UDC;
2. Consistency with the Clayton General Design Guidelines;
3. Conformance of the proposal with the stated purpose of the requested planned development district;
4. Compatibility of the proposed development with the adjacent community;
5. The quality of design intended for each component of the project and the ability of the overall

development plan to ensure a unified, cohesive environment at full build-out;
6. Compatible relationships between each component of the overall project;
7. Self-sufficiency of each phase of the overall project;
8. Documentation that the proposed infrastructure improvements accommodate the additional impacts

caused by the development, or documentation to assure that the development, as proposed, will not
overtax the existing public infrastructure systems;

9. The fiscal impact of the proposal and the proposed financing of required improvements;
10. The success of the proposal in providing adequate pedestrian and bicycle links within the development

and with the adjacent community; and
11. The effectiveness with which the proposal protects and preserves the ecologically sensitive areas within

the development.

Preliminary Plat Findings of Fact 
Since the Master Plan is also acting as a Preliminary Subdivision Plat, the applicant is required to address the 
Findings of Fact outlined in §155.706 of the UDC. These have been included as an attachment to this report. 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
The request is consistent with the following objectives of the Strategic Growth Plan: 

 Proposed Land Use Map
 Objective 2.1 Balanced Development/ Investment: Old and New
 Objective 2.3 Expand Wastewater Capacity: Treatment and Transmission
 Objective 2.5 More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes (Continue to encourage diverse

housing stock. Promote planned development, which allows more flexibility in housing types.)
 Objective 5.1 More Developed Parks and Parkland

The Proposed Land Use Map shows the site as “Residential – Light and Neighborhood Commercial.” 

Consistency with the Unified Development Code 
The proposed development is consistent with and meets the applicable requirements of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC).  Individual lot development specifications including landscaping, building placement, 
access, driveway placement, etc. are required to be set as a part of the planned development, meet all other 
applicable Town standards, and be consistent with the provisions of the approved Master Plan.  

Page 61 of 366



Page 6 of 14 

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
The overall proposed density is 4 dwelling units per acre. Under the current zoning, which includes R-10, R-8, 
and B-2 zoning districts, the subject property could currently be developed using Conventional Subdivision 
standards with approximately 2,520 single family lots and 426,888 square feet of commercial uses.  These 
numbers go up substantially if Open Space subdivision standards are utilized.  The conventional development 
standard allocations were determined as follows: 

Ex. Zoning Acreage Max. Density/Acre 
Max. 

Intensity/Building 
Coverage 

Dwelling Units Square Footage 

R-10 536.6 4 N/A 2,146 N/A 
R-8 74.86 5 N/A 374 N/A 

B-2 19.6 N/A 50% N/A 426,888 

TOTALS 631.06 2,520 426,888 

Because the property is being processed as a Planned Development, units may be clustered to achieve higher 
densities in some areas while keeping lower densities in other areas to achieve a balance in residential types and 
lot sizes. Portions of the site will develop with higher residential density than others (i.e. the townhome and 
apartment options). Those higher densities are located closer to major intersections, while the portions of the 
site designed for single family detached (lower densities) are designed in the areas adjacent to existing 
subdivisions, providing a transition from the higher density/intensities.  

The proposed density on the subject property is very similar to the zoning of adjacent property to the south 
(Residential-10, which allows minimum 10,000 square foot lots, or 4 units per acre; and R-8 which allows 8,000 
square foot lots, or approximately 5 units per acre). Properties to the east are primarily undeveloped, 
agriculture, or very large lot single family residential (residential unit located on very large properties). Ole Mill 
Stream and Smith Ridge Estates directly to the north are established neighborhoods developed at densities of 
approximately 1 unit per acre. 

While those adjacent neighborhoods do have lower densities, Riverwood, to the north, was developed at a 
similar density to the proposed rezoning.  

The commercial parcel proposed at the intersection of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street has reduced in 
size from approximately 19.6 acres to 13.51 acres  The development plan is limiting the development of the 
commercial site to a maximum of 75,000 square feet of floor area.  

Given the property’s adjacency to Clayton’s “core,” staff is supportive of the development of the entire property 
as a Planned Development and the proposed density of 4 units per acre so long as adequate measures are taken 
to ensure traffic safety and desirable neighborhood design that makes this development a benefit to the Town 
and a desirable place to live. 

Landscaping and Buffering 
A 20 foot Class C perimeter buffer is provided along the boundary of the property, including along Covered 
Bridge Road where it bisects the north and south portions of the property. Where able, existing trees and 
vegetation will be preserved to meet the standards of the Class C buffer. Where a Class C buffer is planted, it will 
be a minimum of 20 feet in width. All landscaping is required to meet the standards for height and caliper as 
established in the UDC. Street tree species are required to receive approval from the Planning Director as they 
will be located in the public right-of-way.   

Page 62 of 366



Page 7 of 14 

Street trees must be canopy trees and spaced a maximum of 40 feet apart. Street trees will be placed in a 
widened planting strip located between the sidewalk and street. 

Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet or exceed the standards established for open space subdivisions. 
Required and provided recreation and open space is listed below: 

Overall Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet the minimum standards for Recreation and Open Space as set for 
Open Space Subdivisions in the UDC. Overall Recreation and Open Space requirements include preserved land, 
passive open space, and active recreation areas. Recreation and Open Space may NOT include resource 
conservation areas (RCAs) such as riparian buffers, wetlands, ponds, and areas of 25% slope that exceed 5,000 sf 
in area (the exception to this rule is that the area of a paved greenway may be counted to recreation and open 
space if located in a RCA). 

Required: Either 12.5% of net site area OR 1,245 sf per unit, whichever is greater. 

2,200 units x 1,245sf = 2,739,000 sf or 63 acres 

Net Site Area is 631.06 acres – 111.19 acres in resource conservation areas = 519.87 acres 
519.87 ac * .125 = 65 acres 

As shown above, as currently proposed, the 12.5% calculation results in the greater number, 
requiring 65 acres of recreation and open space.  

Proposed: 65.08 acres outside of the RCA’s. 

Improved Recreation Areas 
A certain amount of the required Recreation and Open Space must be developed as active recreation amenities 
for the development. 

Required: At least 25% of the required recreation and open space shall be improved. 
25% of 65.08 acres is 16.27 acres. 

Provided: 29.22 acres 

The acreage of proposed recreation and open space will be established as the minimum for the development 
and will be binding on the development of the property. The established minimums for both overall Recreation 
and Open Space as well as Active Recreation and Open Space cannot be reduced except by Town Council.  

Dedication of Recreation and Open Space to the Town 
Per §155.203(I)(2)(a), “all residential development shall be required to either dedicate a portion of the land, or 
make a payment-in-lieu of dedication at a rate set forth in the town’s Comprehensive List of Fees and Charges 
per lot or dwelling unit.” A mix of dedication and fee-in-lieu may be utilized. 

At this time, the Town and the developer are discussing the possible donation of Phase 7 (11.13 acres) for use as 
a public trailhead and park. 

Page 63 of 366



Page 8 of 14 

Greenways and Sidewalks 
The Master Plan proposes a series of interconnected greenways and sidewalks to provide multi-modal access 
throughout the development.  

- Sam’s Branch Greenway: The existing Sam’s Branch Greenway currently ends just to the east of the 
southeastern corner of the property, which planned extensions running along the southern boundary of 
the property along Sam’s Branch creek and further west.  

The Town is currently in the design phase for the extension of the existing Sam’s Branch Greenway west 
to the entrance to Legend Park (known as “Sam’s Branch Phase II”), an extension which traverses the 
south boundary proposed development. Sam’s Branch Phase II greenway also provides potential 
important connections to downtown Clayton via future connections from Legend Park to the downtown 
street networks. This phase of the greenway also provides access to Legend Park, which includes a 
softball field and mountain bike trails.  

Future extensions of the greenway just west of Legend Park will provide multi-modal access along City 
Road to the Municipal and Civitan Parks, as well as to the amenities of Downtown Clayton.  

The Sam’s Branch Greenway already connects to the Mountains to Sea Trail (aka “Neuse River 
Greenway”), an almost 30 mile uninterrupted greenway which connects into Raleigh’s greenway 
network, with future extensions planned. This section of the greenway in Clayton is also part of the 
designated East Coast Greenway network along the eastern coast of the United States. 

- Proposed Greenway/Sidewalk exchange 
Typically, sidewalks are required on both sides of all streets of new development (including along 
existing roadways). Staff supports the applicant’s proposal to waive the requirement for sidewalks on 
both sides of the road (reducing it to sidewalks on one side of the road) for identified portions of the 
development’s roadway network so long as a minimum 10 foot wide paved multi-use path / greenway is 
provided elsewhere in the development at an equal exchange based on construction costs. Staff 
supports this because while some accessibility is lost with the reduction in sidewalks, this accessibility is 
made up by the presence of a multi-use path which provides access to other portions of the 
development, and acts as a part of the Sam’s Branch Greenway Trail. Benefits to the applicant include 
the ability to use the calculated square footage of the paved pathway toward their improved/active 
recreation requirements and a reduced roadway cross-section width. 

Environmental 
As required in the UDC, resource conservation areas (including riparian buffers, ponds/waterways, 100-year 
flood zones, and steep slopes) shall be preserved by a binding legal instrument recorded with the deed as each 
phase is platted (see Article 5 of the UDC). Additionally, the development will be required to meet any state 
requirements for protection not addressed by the UDC. Riparian buffers that meet the definition of the UDC in 
Article 5 shall include a 50 foot undisturbed buffer, measured from the top of bank. 

According to the Master Plan, there are 111.19 acres of RCAs on the site, all of which shall remain undisturbed 
unless proper permits and approvals for disturbance are received from the State or Town, as applicable. 

Page 64 of 366



Page 9 of 14 

Signs 
A Master Sign Plan is required for all signage associated with the development. A typical entrance sign design is 
shown in the Master Plan. Entrance signs shall be required to meet or exceed the approved sign style set in the 
Master Plan. 

Access/Streets 
The primary development access point is located off of Covered Bridge Road, will provide access to the future 
clubhouse area on the southern portion of the site, and shall align with the existing Brook Hill Drive.  All external 
access shall be approved by either NCDOT or the Town as applicable.  

The applicant has provided a detailed Vehicular and Pedestrian Circulation Plan which is part of the Master Plan. 
The actual alignment of the internal road network as shown on the Plan is for visual reference only and is not 
binding; road alignment may vary as individual phases are approved so long as basic design components such as 
shorter block lengths and interconnectivity are maintained. However, external connection points and identified 
improvements to existing roads and intersections are binding and cannot be modified without major 
modification approval by the Town Council. 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) has been completed by the applicant and reviewed by NCDOT and the Town. The 
comments provided by NCDOT have been provided as an attachment to this staff report.  The applicant will have 
the opportunity to revise the TIA and address the traffic comments.  Ultimately, the traffic improvements 
deemed necessary by NCDOT and the Town shall be installed prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy 
for the phase that generates the need for the improvement. 

Required Access Points 
Per the UDC, no more than 75 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until a required 
secondary access has been constructed or bonded for construction. No more than 250 certificates of occupancy 
may be issued within the subdivision until the required third access has been constructed or bonded for 
construction.  Access points to existing “stub-out” streets in existing subdivisions (Ole Mill Stream, Smith Ridge 
Estates) will be required to be constructed as part of the associated phase of development. 

Alternative Cross-Section 
An alternative cross-sections are proposed as part of this development. As discussed in the Recreation and Open 
Space component of this report, the cross-sections reflect the proposal to allow sidewalk on just one side of the 
street in identified roadways within the development.  

Several cross-sections propose a planting strip between the sidewalk and the road edge, thus placing the street 
trees in the public right-of-way. Staff supports the planting strip because of improved aesthetics and enhanced 
pedestrian safety when the sidewalk is further from the road and buffered by trees. 

Cross-sections on NCDOT roadways (City Road, Covered Bridge Road, and North O’Neil Street) will be ultimately 
approved by NCDOT. Staff will require a minimum 10 foot paved greenway along these roadways as shown on 
the Master Plan. 

Multi-Modal Access 
The location of the proposed greenways allow for the extension of Sam’s Branch Greenway to Downtown to 
Legend Park and Municipal Park.  

Page 65 of 366



Page 10 of 14 

Please see the “Alternative Cross-Section” discussion in the “Access/Streets” section of this report, as well as the 
“Greenways and Sidewalks” discussion within the “Recreation and Open Space” section of this report for more 
information on multi-modal access. 

Architecture/Design 
Mix of Housing Types 
While a range of housing types are included in the Master Plan, the exact mix and location of housing types is 
not intended to be finalized by this Master Plan. To ensure some mix of housing, a minimum of 10% of low, 
medium, and high density housing development is set by the Master Plan. Beyond this minimum, so long as a 
mix of housing types is included and the maximum number of units is not exceeded (mix to be chosen from the 
pre-established housing types in the Master Plan), the number of each type of housing may vary depending on 
market conditions, etc.  

Design 
Types of houses to be included in the development are noted on the regulating plan. A graphic architectural 
elevation of the building type is also included. The elevations are not intended as a set standard, but the final 
housing product will be required to be consistent with or exceed the style, quality, and materials shown in the 
graphics. It is required that architectural elevations of the housing types vary from home to home to ensure 
visual interest. 

Setbacks and other Dimensional Standards 
Dimensional standards (setbacks, building/house coverage, impervious limits) are set by the Master Plan and 
approved by the Town Council. 

A Note on Townhomes 
The UDC sets certain standards for townhome design if a garage is present. If the townhomes have garages, they 
will be required to meet Town of Clayton standards as addressed in Section 155.301(J) which sets standards 
such as garage width in relation to the home width. Driveway placement on each lot will also be required to 
meet the requirements of the UDC. Any requirements that pertain to townhome design will be addressed either 
through the final plat or site plan review process, as applicable. 

Commercial 
The commercial component will include architectural and contextual standards as indicated in the Master Plan 
and Regulating Plan.  The development will have an Architectural Review Committee who will review the 
commercial architecture.  Town Staff and Planning Board will also review the architecture and site layout as a 
part of a Major Site Plan approval. 

Waivers/Deviations/Variances from Code Requirements 

Per §155.706 of the UDC, the Town Council is authorized to waive certain requirements of §§ 155.600 through 
155.607 if it is clear that adequate provisions for the type and intensity of the proposed use has been or will be 
provided, and there are special circumstances, such as unique characteristics of the lot and area, or strict 
interpretation of the requirements render the subdivision of the property not feasible or desirable. The UDC 
states that waivers should meet the following criteria: 

1. The granting of the waiver will not be detrimental to the public safety, health, or welfare or injurious to
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;

Page 66 of 366



Page 11 of 14 

2. The conditions upon which the request for a waiver is based are unique to the property for which the
waiver is sought and are not generally applicable to other property;

3. Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific
property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished from a mere
inconvenience, if the strict letter of this chapter are enforced; and

4. The purpose of the waiver is not based primarily upon financial consideration.

The following waivers have been requested by the applicant: 

1. Waiver from the Town-approved cross-sections. Revised street Cross-Sections have been requested, as
shown in the Master Plan.

2. Waiver from §155.602(H), which requires sidewalks on both sides of all streets. Allow construction of 10
foot paved multi-use path / greenway on a linear foot-for-foot basis, in place of a fee-in-lieu.

3. Waiver from §155.602(G) which states that “No residential street cul-de-sac serving lots less than 20,000
square feet in size shall exceed 700 feet in length.” The request is to allow a cul-de-sacs with a length
greater than 700 feet to serve lots less than 20,000 square feet in size with approval from the Town of
Clayton Fire Marshal.

CONSIDERATIONS 

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Master Plan for the Steeplechase Planned Development. The
Master Plan also acts as the preliminary subdivision plat and so the approval process is quasi-judicial.

 This approval is subject to approval of PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to PD-MU).

 The final decision is made by the Town Council with recommendation from the Planning Board.

 The Planning Board did not make a recommendation at their January 26, 2015 meeting, and will open
the item again at their February 23, 2015 meeting.

 The applicant is requesting a wastewater allocation of 554,555 gallons per day phased in over time. The
Wastewater Allocation must be approved by the Town Council.

FINDINGS 

The applicant has addressed the Major Subdivision Approval Criteria outlined in UDC Section 155.706.  The 
applicant’s Findings of Fact are incorporated into the record as an attachment to the Staff Report. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending: 
1) Approval of the requested waivers.
2) Approval of the Wastewater Allocation request.
3) Approval of the Master Plan with the conditions listed below.

CONDITIONS: 

Page 67 of 366



Page 12 of 14 

1. Following Board approvals, three copies of the Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat meeting the
requirements of the Conditions of Approval shall be submitted to Planning Department for final
approval.

2. The development of the property is limited to the parameters established on the Master Plan and the
Master Plan Document (regulating plan) as approved by the Town Council. Modifications to the
approved Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan or Master Plan Document shall require review and
approval in accordance with Section 155.705 of the Unified Development Code.

3. The Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan is considered a preliminary plat.  Individual phases are
subject to final plat review with the exception that Condo/Apartment/Townhome areas that will not be
further subdivided, and Commercial phases, shall be reviewed as a Major Site Plan.

4. The developer shall reserve the portion of the site shown as a “potential school site” for 18 months from
the date of the approval. If developed as a school, the development of the school site will be reviewed
as a Major Site Plan.

5. Neighborhood parks and recreational amenities, including the clubhouse site, shall be reviewed as
Minor Site Plans prior to construction.

6. The clubhouse and trail system around the pond shall be permitted and under construction prior to the
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the 251st residential unit.

7. A combination of dedication and fee-in-lieu may be utilized to meet recreation and open space
requirements. To meet requirements, additional recreation area must be dedicated or a recreation fee-
in-lieu shall be required at the established rate to supplement the dedicated land (land considered
Resource Conservation Areas does not count toward meeting recreation and open space requirements).

8. Annexation of any land not currently within Town Limits shall be required prior to Final Plat approval for
the first phase of the development.

9. Development fees shall be paid prior to Final Plat approval for each phase. For phases requiring Site Plan
review, fees shall be paid prior to issuance of building permits.

10. All traffic improvements required by NCDOT and the Town shall be installed prior to the issuance of a
certificate of occupancy for the phase (as shown on the overall phasing plan with the Master Plan
Document/ Regulating Plan) that generates the need for the improvement.  The necessary right-of-way
for Covered Bridge Road (internal to the project), North O’Neil Street, and City Road shall be dedicated
as a part of the first phase (as indicated in the Traffic  Study Prepared by Davenport) of the
development. The necessary right-of-way for Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road (north of its

intersection with North O’Neil Street) shall be dedicated as a part of the second phase (as indicated in
the Traffic Study Prepared by Davenport) of the development.

11. All roof mounted and ground mechanical equipment not associated with single family detached
residential development must be completely screened from view.

12. Five foot wide sidewalks or ten foot wide multi-use paths shall be installed along at least one side of all
roadways within the development as identified in the Master Plan. Where sidewalks are on only one
side of the road, the developer shall provide a minimum ten-foot wide paved greenway/multi-use trails

Page 68 of 366



Page 13 of 14 

within the development on an equivalent basis based on cost. An Engineer’s estimate which documents 
the cost allocations (in linear footage) between the deleted five foot concrete sidewalk and the 
proposed 10 foot asphalt multi-use path is required.   Any cost shortage between the required five foot 
sidewalk and 10 foot multi-use path shall be paid as a fee-in-lieu. 

13. All sidewalks and greenways shall be bonded or constructed prior to plat recordation for the associated
phase, with the exception that the sidewalk in front of residential units may be installed prior to the
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy of the unit.

14. Internal greenways shall be constructed or bonded prior to the first Certificate of Occupancy for the
associated phase.

15. All greenways shall meet Town of Clayton standards with a minimum paved width of 10 feet.

16. The acreage of recreation and open space, and active recreation areas identified in the Master Plan shall
be considered minimum requirements and may not be reduced without approval by the Town Council.
The recreation areas shall be constructed concurrent with the construction of the associated phase and
shall be installed or bonded prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for that phase.

17. Where a greenway is placed in the same location as a required buffer, that buffer width shall be
expanded by a minimum of 15 feet to accommodate the trail and required plantings.

18. A 10’ greenway shall be constructed along one side of Covered Bridge Road and North O’Neil Street for
the entire project frontage concurrent with necessary roadway improvements.  A greenway shall also be
constructed along the project frontage adjacent to City Road concurrent with or prior to the
construction of a phase which abuts City Road, and shall be installed or bonded prior to issuance of a
Certificate of Occupancy for that phase.

19. All required vegetated buffers and plantings, including street trees, shall be installed concurrently with
construction of the associated phase of the development and shall be completely installed or bonded
prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for that phase.

20. A mix of housing types shall be required at the minimum percentages set by the Master Plan and shall
be selected from the list of housing type options presented in the Master Plan Document (regulating
plan). In no case shall the overall project density exceed 4 units per acre.

21. A mix of housing elevations (variations in architectural features), styles, and colors along each block is
required to ensure visual interest and variety. Housing elevations shall be submitted along with each
final plat review and shall be reviewed to ensure consistency with the architectural standards presented
in the Master Plan and requirement this condition of approval.

22. Final location and configuration of Cluster Mailbox Units (CBUs) shall be determined in the final plat/site
plan review (as applicable) for each phase.  CBU’s are required to have vehicular access/parking, as well
as sidewalk /pedestrian access and must be approved by the Planning Department and the United States
Postal Service.

23. No more than 75 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until the required
secondary access has been constructed or bonded for construction.

Page 69 of 366



Page 14 of 14 

24. No more than 250 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until the required third
access has been constructed or bonded for construction.

25. Street tree species shall be approved by the Town Engineer and Town Planning Director as part of
individual phase final plat / major site plan review.

26. A Master Sign Plan shall be required prior to installation or approval of any signage. All signs shall
require review and approval pursuant to §155.713.

27. Final design of individual elements identified within the Regulating Plan (such as typical lighting,
recreation, or architectural elevations) may be modified during individual phase review without need to
modify the Regulating Plan, but shall be approved by staff and shall respect (or exceed) the intent and
vision of the original approval/design shown in the Regulating Plan, including but not limited to quality,
style, and materials. Modifications that are determined by the Planning Director not to meet or exceed
the original intent or do not classify as “minor” modifications per the Unified Development Code shall
require major review and approval.

28. The review and approval of project water, sewer, storm drainage and street construction drawings must
be submitted to and approved by the Public Works Department.

29. Resource Conservation Areas as defined in Article 5 of the Unified Development Code shall remain
undisturbed pursuant to standards of Article 5, and shall be shown on all plats as being permanently set
aside pursuant to the UDC requirements.

30. Prior to site grading and construction activities, tree protection fencing shall be installed around all
resource conservation areas. Once the tree protection fence is installed, it must be inspected by the
Planning Department prior to construction activity.

31. A homeowners’ association (HOA) document shall be reviewed by staff and recorded prior to final plat
of the first residential phase. The HOA document shall assure responsibility for maintenance of all
common facilities and provide adequate means for funding to do so.

Planning Board Recommendation:  No recommendation at this time. The item was postponed for decision at a 
future meeting. 

Attachments: 
1. Subdivision Findings of Fact
2. Zoning, Aerial, and Future Land Use Map
3. Application
4. Neighborhood Meeting Materials
5. Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan
6. Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) executive summary (provided by applicant)
7. NCDOT TIA Analysis Recommendations
8. NCDOT TIA Analysis Recommendations followup letter
9. Wastewater Allocation request

Page 70 of 366



Page 71 of 366



R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

R-E

R-E

R-E

R-8

R-8

R-E

R-10

R-E

PD-R

R-10

R-8

R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

B-2

R-8
R-8 I-2

R-6 R-6

B-1

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Existing Zoning

0 0.550.275
Miles

±

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD  BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R SARAZEN DR  

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Proposed Zoning (PDD 2014-127)

PD-MU

PD-MU

PD-MU

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features

ZONING
R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Special Use District

Page 72 of 366



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
EL

L 
R

D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

LOOP RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W

MAIN ST  

T R DR

PEARSON PL  

PE
RC

Y 
DR

 
MAYLON LN 

HAYWOOD LN

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NEUSE RIVER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat approval

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 0.550.275
Miles

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features ±
Page 73 of 366



Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)
Steeplechase Planned Development Rezoning to PD-MU

Produced by: TOC Planning
01/26/2015 O'NEIL ST SH

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

MAIN ST  0 0.50.25 Miles

O'NEIL ST 

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
E

LL
 R

D

LOOP RD 

MAIN ST  

BROOKHILL D
R  

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W
BO

BB
IT

 R
D

 

STALLINGS ST  

T R DR

FOREST DR

OAKDALE AVE 

R
ID

G
E 

C
T

MAYLON LN
KATIE DR  

PINELAND AVE 

LA
KE

 D
R 

PA
R

K
D

A
LE LN

SUMMIT S
T  

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)

0 ½¼
Miles

Legend
Steeplechase Site

PROPOSED LAND USE
CBD
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL
MULTI-FAMILY
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL
OFFICE INSTITUTIONAL
OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION
PUBLIC
RESIDENTIAL-INFILL
RESIDENTIAL-LIGHT
RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM
SMALL AREA PLAN

Applicant: Wake Development
Property Owners: Earps
Parcel ID Numbers: 
File Number: PDD 2014-127

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\SUBDIVISIONS\MAJOR SUBDIVISIONS\2014\PSD 2014-128 SteepleChase Planned Development - master plan, preliminary plat\Maps\Staff Presentation Map - PSD2014-128 - FLUM.mxd

Page 74 of 366



Page 75 of 366



Page 76 of 366



Page 77 of 366



Page 78 of 366



Page 79 of 366



Page 80 of 366



Page 81 of 366



Page 82 of 366



Page 83 of 366



Page 84 of 366



Page 85 of 366



Page 86 of 366



Page 87 of 366



Page 88 of 366



Page 89 of 366



Page 90 of 366



27__

Page 91 of 366



Page 92 of 366



S
T

E
E

P
L

E
C

H
A

S
E

P
la

nn
ed

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  
/ M

as
te

r 
P

la
n 

D
oc

um
en

t

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r T

ow
n 

of
  C

la
yt

on
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

3,
 2

01
5

Page 93 of 366



ii

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

C
on

te
nt

s N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Fo

rm
 - 

La
nd

 U
se

 S
um

m
ar

y .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.1

Pu
bl

ic
 R

ea
lm

 - 
Ve

hi
cu

la
r a

nd
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Pl

an
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
2

St
re

et
 S

ec
tio

ns
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.3

Ph
as

in
g 

Pl
an

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
4

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

5

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

6

D
et

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
7

A
tt

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
To

w
nh

om
es

 &
 S

in
gl

e 
Fa

m
ily

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..8

M
ul

ti-
Fa

m
ily

 - 
Co

nd
o 

/ A
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.9

A
m

en
ity

 a
nd

 C
lu

b 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
..1

0

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 A
re

a 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.1
1

U
til

iti
es

 a
nd

 S
to

rm
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
12

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.1

3

Ph
as

in
g .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.1

3

Page 94 of 366



1

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Fo

rm
 - 

La
nd

 U
se

 S
um

m
ar

y

Th
e 

pl
an

 f
or

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e 
pr

om
ot

es
 a

 n
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
fo

rm
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
by

 a
 r

el
ax

ed
 

gr
id

 d
efi

 n
ed

 la
rg

el
y 

by
 th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
R.

 E
. E

ar
p 

Po
nd

 a
nd

 th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

ro
ad

 n
et

w
or

k.
 T

hi
s 

pa
tt

er
n 

es
ta

bl
is

he
s 

a 
hi

er
ar

ch
y 

of
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

st
re

et
s 

an
d 

si
de

w
al

ks
 w

hi
ch

 s
up

po
rt

 
a 

pe
de

st
ria

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
ad

ap
te

d 
to

 t
he

 la
nd

 f
or

m
. T

he
 h

ea
rt

 o
f 

th
is

 s
tr

ee
t 

ne
tw

or
k 

is
 t

he
 p

ro
po

se
d 

am
en

ity
 a

re
a 

on
 t

he
 n

or
th

 s
ho

re
 o

f 
th

e 
R.

 E
. E

ar
p 

po
nd

 a
nd

 
th

e 
po

nd
 it

se
lf 

w
hi

ch
 s

er
ve

s 
as

 t
he

 fo
ca

l p
oi

nt
 o

f a
ct

iv
ity

. M
or

e 
th

an
 t

w
o 

th
ird

s 
of

 t
he

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

ith
in

 a
 1

0 
m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k 

of
 t

hi
s 

am
en

ity
. O

th
er

 in
te

rc
on

ne
ct

ed
 

co
lle

ct
or

 s
tr

ee
ts

, l
oc

al
 s

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 a

lle
ys

 c
om

pl
et

e 
th

e 
re

la
xe

d 
gr

id
 o

f w
al

ka
bl

e 
bl

oc
ks

 
w

hi
ch

 c
on

ne
ct

 th
e 

re
si

de
nc

es
, p

ar
ks

 a
nd

 o
pe

n 
sp

ac
es

.

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 m

ix
tu

re
 o

f 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l t
yp

es
 s

uc
h 

as
 d

et
ac

he
d 

si
ng

le
 

fa
m

ily
, 

at
ta

ch
ed

 h
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 m
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

 a
s 

w
el

l 
as

 a
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

re
ta

il 
ar

ea
. 

Pr
om

in
en

t 
si

te
s 

ar
e 

pl
an

ne
d 

fo
r 

re
si

de
nt

 u
se

s,
 p

ar
ks

, 
an

d 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

s.
 T

he
 d

es
ig

n 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
re

 w
rit

te
n 

in
 a

 m
an

ne
r 

th
at

 w
ill

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
st

ro
ng

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

co
rr

id
or

s 
th

at
 

ar
e 

re
in

fo
rc

in
g 

a 
“s

en
se

 o
f p

la
ce

”. 
Fr

on
t 

po
rc

he
s,

 s
tr

ee
t 

tr
ee

s 
si

de
w

al
ks

, s
tr

ee
t 

fu
rn

itu
re

 
in

 p
ub

lic
 s

pa
ce

s,
 a

nd
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
cr

os
si

ng
s 

co
m

bi
ne

 t
o 

fo
rm

 a
 “

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
” 

th
at

 
pr

om
ot

es
 in

te
rn

al
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
ac

tiv
ity

. 

LA
N

D
 U

SE
 A

LL
O

C
AT

IO
N

S 
St

ee
pl

ec
ha

se
 is

 p
la

nn
ed

 to
 in

cl
ud

e 
a 

m
ix

 o
f r

es
id

en
tia

l, 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
 re

ta
il,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

us
es

, p
ar

ks
 a

nd
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
on

 6
31

.0
6 

ac
re

s.
 T

he
 la

nd
 u

se
 d

en
si

ty
 fo

r t
hi

s 
pr

oj
ec

t i
s 

no
t 

to
 e

xc
ee

d 
2,

20
0 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

ni
ts

 o
r 3

.4
8 

D
U

/A
C 

ba
se

d 
on

 g
ro

ss
 a

cr
ea

ge
. T

he
 ta

bl
e 

be
lo

w
 

ill
us

tr
at

es
 th

e 
al

lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 e

ac
h 

la
nd

 u
se

. 

U
SE

A
CR

ES
%

 L
A

N
D

 A
RE

A

RC
A’

s 
(R

ip
ar

ia
n 

Bu
ffe

rs
, F

lo
od

 P
la

in
, P

on
d)

+/
- 1

11
.1

9
+/

- 1
7.

62
%

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e
+/

-  
65

.0
8

+/
- 1

0.
31

%

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

se
s

+/
- 4

44
.8

8
+/

- 7
0.

50
%

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
re

ta
il

+/
- 9

.9
1

+/
- 1

.5
7%

To
ta

l
63

1.
06

10
0%

SI
N

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
RE

SI
D

EN
TI

A
L 

M
IN

IM
U

M
 %

LO
T 

W
ID

TH
M

IN
IM

U
M

 S
F

%
 M

IN
IM

U
M

 
O

F 
U

N
IT

S

Sm
al

l L
ot

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
40

’ a
nd

 5
0’

45
00

10
%

M
ed

iu
m

 L
ot

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
50

’ a
nd

 6
0’

50
00

10
%

La
rg

e 
Lo

t S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
60

’ a
nd

 g
re

at
er

60
00

10
%

To
w

nh
om

e
16

’
10

00
10

%

Co
nd

o
N

/A
N

/A
0%

A
pa

rt
m

en
ts

N
/A

N
/A

0%

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

50
60

00
N

/A

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

Page 95 of 366



2

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

Pu
bl

ic
 R

ea
lm

 - 
Ve

hi
cu

la
r a

nd
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Pl

an

Th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

al
m

 is
 th

e 
zo

ne
 d

efi
 n

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
st

re
et

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
th

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
 o

r o
pe

n 
sp

ac
es

 
th

at
 d

efi
 n

e 
th

e 
ed

ge
s.

 T
hi

s 
zo

ne
 w

ill
 b

e 
an

 im
po

rt
an

t e
le

m
en

t o
f t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 

is
 th

e 
pr

im
ar

y 
sp

ac
e 

fo
r p

ed
es

tr
ia

ns
 in

te
ra

ct
in

g 
w

ith
 n

ei
gh

bo
rs

. A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e,
 la

nd
sc

ap
e 

m
at

er
ia

l, 
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 s
id

ew
al

ks
 a

ll 
co

m
bi

ne
 to

 c
re

at
e 

a 
un

iq
ue

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

di
ff e

re
nt

ia
tin

g 
on

e 
st

re
et

 f
ro

m
 a

no
th

er
. 

D
iff 

er
en

tia
tio

n 
in

 t
hi

s 
m

an
ne

r 
is

 s
yn

on
ym

ou
s 

w
ith

 p
la

ce
 

m
ak

in
g.

 

ST
RE

ET
S

Th
e 

st
re

et
s 

pr
op

os
ed

 
fo

r 
St

ee
pl

ec
ha

se
 

ar
e 

de
si

gn
ed

 
to

 
pr

ov
id

e 
th

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

em
er

ge
nc

y 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
ve

hi
cl

e 
ac

ce
ss

 w
hi

le
 c

re
at

in
g 

a 
sa

fe
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t. 

Th
e 

pa
tt

er
n 

of
 in

te
rc

on
ne

ct
ed

 s
tr

ee
ts

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
a 

hi
er

ar
ch

y 
of

 in
te

rc
on

ne
ct

ed
 s

tr
ee

ts
 p

ro
vi

de
s 

op
tio

ns
 e

na
bl

in
g 

tr
affi

  c
 t

o 
di

sp
er

se
 t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

. T
ra

ffi  
c 

ca
lm

in
g 

is
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

bl
oc

k 
de

si
gn

, s
tr

ee
t s

ec
tio

n 
w

id
th

s 
an

d 
st

re
et

sc
ap

e 
de

si
gn

. A
ll 

To
w

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 a

nd
 t

he
 p

ro
po

se
d 

al
te

rn
at

e 
st

re
et

 
se

ct
io

ns
 a

re
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 fo

r s
tr

ee
t t

re
e 

pl
an

tin
gs

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 u

til
iti

es
 in

 a
 m

an
ne

r 
th

at
 a

vo
id

s 
co

nfl
 ic

t. 
A

lte
rn

at
e 

st
re

et
 s

ec
tio

n 
w

ai
ve

r r
eq

ue
st

s 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
pl

an
s 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
th

is
 s

ub
m

itt
al

 (
se

e 
pa

ge
 3

). 
In

 a
ll 

st
re

et
 s

ec
tio

ns
, 

st
an

da
rd

 c
ur

b 
an

d 
gu

tt
er

 c
an

 b
e 

in
te

rc
ha

ng
ed

 w
ith

 T
ow

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 s
ta

nd
ar

d 
va

lle
y 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 g
ut

te
r 

or
 

ro
lle

d 
cu

rb
 a

nd
 g

ut
te

r. 

SI
D

EW
A

LK
S 

A
N

D
 S

TR
EE

T 
YA

RD
S

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 p
ub

lic
 s

id
ew

al
k 

on
 a

t l
ea

st
 o

ne
 s

id
e 

of
 th

e 
st

re
et

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
a 

pe
de

st
ria

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t. 
Th

e 
“P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Zo

ne
” 

is
 c

om
pr

is
ed

 o
f t

re
e 

pl
an

te
r s

tr
ip

s,
 s

id
ew

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

co
ur

ts
. I

t e
xt

en
ds

 fr
om

 th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f c

ur
b 

to
 th

e 
ou

te
r e

dg
e 

of
 th

e 
si

de
w

al
k 

or
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e.
 S

te
ep

le
ch

as
e 

is
 p

ro
po

si
ng

 
pl

an
te

r s
tr

ip
s t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
n 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l s

tr
ee

ts
. B

ui
ld

in
g 

se
tb

ac
ks

 a
nd

 
th

e 
st

re
et

 y
ar

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
fa

ca
de

s 
an

d 
th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f 
cu

rb
 v

ar
y 

am
on

g 
bu

ild
in

g 
ty

pe
s 

as
 n

ot
ed

 in
 th

is
 d

oc
um

en
t.

Th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 s
tr

ee
t 

sy
st

em
 a

s 
de

pi
ct

ed
 i

s 
co

nc
ep

tu
al

 o
nl

y 
to

 s
ho

w
 g

en
er

al
 d

es
ig

n 
an

d 
co

nn
ec

tiv
ity

, a
nd

 t
ha

t 
ac

tu
al

 a
lig

nm
en

t 
m

ay
 c

ha
ng

e 
du

rin
g 

fi n
al

 p
la

t 
de

si
gn

. T
he

 
ex

ce
pt

io
n 

is
 m

od
ifi 

ca
tio

n 
of

 c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

po
in

ts
 to

 e
xt

er
na

l r
oa

dw
ay

 n
et

w
or

ks
 a

nd
 m

aj
or

 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

to
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t, 

w
hi

ch
 c

on
st

itu
te

 a
 m

aj
or

 m
od

ifi 
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

m
us

t 
be

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
To

w
n 

Co
un

ci
l.

*

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

*3

CL
UB

HO
US

E

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
TO

 P
RI

VA
TE

ST
RE

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 -

PH
AS

E 
II -

 C
ON

NE
CT

TO
 M

TS
T

OL
D 

RO
AD

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T.
PO

SS
IB

LE
 R

EU
SE

 A
S

PR
IV

AT
E 

RO
AD

PR
OP

OS
ED

RE
AL

IG
NM

EN
T

BY
 N

CD
OT

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 D
EV

EL
OP

ER

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T 

(N
CD

OT
)

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

(N
CD

OT
)

BR
OO

KH
ILL

 D
RI

VE
 (E

XI
ST

IN
G 

NC
DO

T)

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OV

ER
ED

 B
RI

DG
E 

RO
AD

 (N
CD

OT
)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

UB
LIC

)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L C

OL
LE

CT
OR

 S
TR

EE
T 

(P
UB

LIC
)

LE
GE

ND
:

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
- P

HA
SE

 II
BY

 O
TH

ER
S

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

RI
VA

TE
)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

LY
 M

AI
NT

AI
NE

D
GR

EE
NW

AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 N
CD

OT

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L M

AI
N 

EN
TR

AN
CE

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

Page 96 of 366



3

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

5'

BUILDING FACE

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5.5
'

GR
EE

NW
AY

EA
SE

ME
NT

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE54
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-E

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

15
.5'

6.5
'

POND SIDE ROW

ROW

2.5
'

DI
TC

H

CENTER LINE

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

6' 
MI

NI
MU

M
3:1

 M
AX

 C
UT

OR
 F

ILL

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

CO
MM

ON
 A

RE
A

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5'

VA
RI

AB
LE

 W
ID

TH
GR

EE
NW

AY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

CENTER LINE51
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

CENTER LINE70
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
45

' E
-E

ROW

10
.5'

PA
RA

LL
EL

 P
AR

KI
NG

ROW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
6.5

'
6.5

'
10

.5'
PA

RA
LL

EL
 P

AR
KI

NG
6'

SI
DE

W
AL

K

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

6'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

10
'

20
' E

-E

10
'

ROW

ROW

DI
TC

H
DI

TC
H 20
'

20
'

5'
SH

OU
LD

ER
5'

SH
OU

LD
ER

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

6.5
' M

IN
IM

UM

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

82
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

ROW

17
'

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

2.5
'

CENTER LINE

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

ROW

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

CENTER LINE50
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

13
.5'

27
' B

-B

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
13

.5'
6.5

'

ROW

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'
2'

2.5
'

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
6.5

'

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

CENTER LINE20
'

EA
SE

ME
NT

 O
R 

CO
MM

ON
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y

8'
8'

16
' E

-E

1
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

 (N
CD

OT
)

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
2

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

3
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

6
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

I"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

NO
TE

S:

1.
IN

 A
LL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SE
CT

IO
NS

, S
TA

ND
AR

D 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
CA

N 
BE

 IN
TE

RC
HA

NG
ED

 W
IT

H 
TO

W
N 

OF
CL

AY
TO

N 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 V

AL
LE

Y 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
OR

 R
OL

LE
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R.

2.
TH

E 
UL

TI
MA

TE
 S

EC
TI

ON
 F

OR
 A

LL
 N

CD
OT

 R
OA

DS
 O

N 
TH

E 
PE

RI
ME

TE
R 

OF
 T

HE
 P

RO
JE

CT
 W

ILL
 B

E
DE

TE
RM

IN
ED

 B
AS

ED
 O

N 
TI

A,
 N

CD
OT

, A
ND

 T
OW

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 R
EC

OM
ME

ND
AT

IO
NS

.

3.
DE

VE
LO

PE
R 

TO
 P

RO
VI

DE
 10

' M
UL

TI
PU

RP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L I

N 
LIE

U 
OF

 S
ID

EW
AL

KS
 O

N 
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

AN
D 

N.
ON

EI
L S

TR
EE

T

5
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

" -
 LO

W
 D

EN
SI

TY
 O

PT
IO

N
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

4
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L M
AI

N 
EN

TR
AN

CE
 A

LT
ER

NA
TE

 "C
"

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

7
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

II"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

8
AL

LE
Y

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
9

NO
TE

S
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A 

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 40

 F
EE

T 
ON

 C
EN

TE
R 

OR
 50

 F
EE

T 
AP

AR
T.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
 (A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

Page 97 of 366



4

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

19

22
2528

33

2

7

1

3

9

13

4

5

11

10

12

6

14

8

17
21

16

23

20

24
26

27

31
29

30

34

32 FU
TU

RE

35

15

18

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 be

lo
w.

PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

NO
TE

S:

TH
E 

CL
UB

HO
US

E 
PE

RM
IT

 S
HA

LL
 B

E
RE

QU
IR

ED
 P

RI
OR

 T
O 

TH
E 

25
1S

T
BU

ILD
IN

G 
PE

RM
IT

.

Page 98 of 366



5

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Th
e 

pl
an

 f
or

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e 
cr

ea
te

s 
a 

ne
tw

or
k 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 p
ar

ks
, 

po
ck

et
 p

ar
ks

, 
gr

ee
nw

ay
s,

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

m
ew

s,
 t

ra
ils

 a
nd

 s
id

ew
al

ks
. 

Th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

R.
 E

. 
Ea

rp
 p

on
d 

is
 

pl
an

ne
d 

to
 r

em
ai

n 
an

d 
se

rv
e 

as
 a

 f
oc

al
 p

oi
nt

 f
or

 t
he

 m
ai

n 
am

en
ity

 c
am

pu
s.

 A
 m

ul
ti-

pu
rp

os
e 

tr
ai

l i
s 

pl
an

ne
d 

ar
ou

nd
 t

he
 p

on
d 

th
at

 w
ill

 c
on

ne
ct

 t
o 

th
e 

fu
tu

re
 S

am
’s 

Br
an

ch
 

G
re

en
w

ay
 e

xt
en

si
on

. T
he

 S
am

’s 
Br

an
ch

 G
re

en
w

ay
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 t
er

m
in

at
es

 a
t 

O
’N

ei
l S

tr
ee

t 
an

d 
co

nn
ec

ts
 to

 th
e 

M
ou

nt
ai

ns
 T

o 
Se

a 
Tr

ai
l a

lo
ng

 th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.

Th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

a 
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

m
ew

s,
 s

m
al

l 
pa

rk
s 

an
d 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 a
ll 

re
si

de
nc

es
 a

re
 w

ith
in

 1
/8

 o
f a

 m
ile

 o
f a

 u
se

ab
le

 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

. A
cc

es
s 

to
 w

al
ks

 a
nd

 tr
ai

ls
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 re

si
de

nt
s 

al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

m
od

es
  o

f t
ra

ve
l 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

tw
o-

th
ird

s 
of

 t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

ith
in

 
a 

10
 m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k 

of
 t

he
 a

m
en

ity
 f

ea
tu

re
s 

at
 R

. E
. E

ar
p 

Po
nd

. O
th

er
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
ar

ea
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

Re
so

ur
ce

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
as

 s
uc

h 
as

 ri
pa

ria
n 

bu
ff e

rs
 a

dj
ac

en
t t

o 
dr

ai
na

ge
 w

ay
s 

an
d 

st
re

am
s 

an
d 

co
ns

id
er

ab
le

 lo
w

la
nd

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 b
an

k 
of

 t
he

 N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

 a
nd

 t
o 

th
e 

so
ut

h 
al

on
g 

Sa
m

’s 
Br

an
ch

.

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
 

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 i
s 

pl
an

ne
d 

to
 i

nc
lu

de
 a

 m
ix

 o
f 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l, 

co
m

m
un

ity
 u

se
s,

 p
ar

ks
 a

nd
 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 o

n 
63

1 
ac

re
s.

 T
he

 r
ec

re
at

io
n 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 is

 c
al

cu
la

te
d 

us
in

g 
th

e 
ne

t 
la

nd
 

ar
ea

 a
ft

er
 s

ub
tr

ac
tin

g 
th

e 
Re

so
ur

ce
 C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

as
 (R

CA
’s)

. R
CA

’s 
ar

e 
ar

ea
s 

in
 fl 

oo
d 

pl
ai

ns
, p

on
ds

, r
ip

ar
ia

n 
bu

ff e
rs

, w
et

la
nd

s,
 e

tc
. T

he
 n

et
 la

nd
 a

re
a 

af
te

r s
ub

tr
ac

tin
g 

th
e 

+
/-

 
11

1.
19

 a
cr

es
 o

f R
CA

’s 
is

 5
19

.8
7 

ac
re

s.
 B

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ne
t a

cr
ea

ge
 o

f 5
19

.8
7 

ac
re

s 
a 

to
ta

l o
f 

64
.9

8a
cr

es
 o

f r
ec

re
at

io
n 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 is

 re
qu

ire
d.

PE
RI

M
ET

ER
 L

AN
D

SC
AP

E 
BU

FF
ER

: C
LA

SS
 C

 (t
yp

ic
al

)  

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

N
 &

 O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

51
9.

87
 A

C 
x 

12
.5

%
 =

 6
4.

98
 A

C

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 A

C
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

N
 S

PA
CE

64
.9

8 
ac

 x
 2

5%
 =

 1
6.

24
5 

AC

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 C

O
N

SE
RV

AT
IO

N
 A

RE
A

S
A

CR
ES

%
 L

A
N

D
 A

RE
A

 (G
RO

SS
)

Fl
oo

d 
Pl

ai
n

+/
- 5

3.
78

+/
- 1

0.
34

%

Ri
pa

ria
n 

Bu
ffe

rs
+/

- 4
1.

03
+/

- 7
.8

9%

Po
nd

+/
- 1

6.
38

+/
- 3

.1
5%

To
ta

l R
eq

ui
re

d 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n 
A

re
as

+/
- 1

11
.1

9
+/

- 2
1.

39
%

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 P
RO

VI
D

ED

Ac
tiv

e 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Sp
ac

e
+/

- 2
9.

22
+/

- 4
.6

3%

Pa
ss

iv
e 

O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e

+/
- 2

9.
83

+/
- 4

.7
3%

Ph
as

e 
7

+/
- 6

.0
3

+/
- 0

.9
6%

To
ta

l O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

Pr
ov

id
ed

+/
- 6

5.
08

+/
- 1

0.
31

%

LI
N

EA
R 

FO
O

TA
G

E 
- G

RE
EN

W
AY

S 
/ M

U
LT

I-P
U

RP
O

SE
 T

RA
IL

S

Pu
bl

ic
+/

- 1
2,

70
0 

LF
 (1

27
,0

00
 S

F 
/ 2

.9
1 

AC
)

Pr
iv

at
e

+/
- 1

3,
40

0 
LF

 (1
34

,0
00

 S
F 

/ 3
.0

7 
AC

)

A
C

TI
VE

 R
EC

RE
AT

IO
N

 S
PA

CE
 B

RE
A

KD
O

W
N

Cl
ub

ho
us

e
7.

02
 A

C
G

re
en

w
ay

3.
07

 A
C

Pa
rk

s
19

.1
3 

AC

TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
BY

 O
TH

ER
S 

- P
HA

SE
 II

- C
ON

NE
CT

 T
O 

MT
ST

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

TO
T

TO
T

TO
T

PO
CK

ET

PO
CK

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

AS
SE

DA
LE

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OP
EN

PL
AY

FI
EL

DS

*

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y+/
- 4

00
'

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
GR

EE
NW

AY
 - 

PH
AS

E 
II

BY
 O

TH
ER

S

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

 G
RE

EN
W

AY

DO
UB

LE
 S

ID
EW

AL
K

SI
DE

W
AL

K 
AN

D 
GR

EE
NW

AY

Page 99 of 366



6

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

EN
TR

Y 
FE

AT
U

RE
 / 

RO
U

N
D

A
B

O
U

T 
(T

YP
IC

A
L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

 E
nt

ry
 F

ea
tu

re
s 

/ S
ig

na
ge

2.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

d 
M

ed
ia

ns
3.

 E
nt

ry
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

s
• 

(+
/-

 1
6)

 T
re

es
• 

(+
/-

 7
5)

 S
hr

ub
s

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 T

R
A

IL
 A

N
D

 S
CE

N
IC

 O
V

ER
LO

O
K

 (T
YP

IC
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

 T
ra

il
2.

 S
ea

tin
g

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Th
e 

ov
er

al
l 

Pa
rk

s 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
pl

an
 c

on
si

st
s 

of
 e

le
m

en
ts

 t
ha

t 
co

nt
rib

ut
e 

to
 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

 c
ha

ra
ct

er
 a

nd
 a

 s
en

se
 o

f 
co

m
m

un
ity

. 
 T

he
se

 e
le

m
en

ts
 m

ay
 i

nc
lu

de
 

po
ck

et
 p

ar
ks

, s
id

ew
al

ks
, g

re
en

w
ay

s,
 s

ea
tin

g,
 s

tr
ee

ts
ca

pe
 p

la
nt

in
gs

 a
nd

 e
nt

ry
 fe

at
ur

es
, 

an
d 

sc
en

ic
 o

ve
rlo

ok
s.

  

RO
U

N
D

-A
B

O
U

TS
Ro

un
d-

ab
ou

ts
 a

re
 u

se
d 

as
 a

 tr
affi

  c
 c

al
m

in
g 

m
ea

su
re

 b
ut

 a
ls

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
an

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 to
 

cr
ea

te
 a

 fo
ca

l p
oi

nt
 w

ith
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
pl

an
tin

gs
.  

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 T

R
A

IL
 A

N
D

 S
CE

N
IC

 O
V

ER
LO

O
K

Th
er

e 
ar

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 to

 d
ev

el
op

 g
re

en
w

ay
 c

on
ne

ct
io

ns
 to

 th
e 

M
ou

nt
ai

ns
 to

 S
ea

 T
ra

il 
al

on
g 

th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.  T
he

se
 tr

ai
l c

on
ne

ct
io

ns
 c

an
 b

e 
co

-lo
ca

te
d 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 a

m
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 s
ce

ni
c 

ov
er

lo
ok

s 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 n

et
w

or
k 

of
 n

at
ur

e 
tr

ai
ls

 a
nd

 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
ar

ea
s 

w
hi

ch
 fe

at
ur

e 
th

e 
na

tu
ra

l s
ur

ro
un

di
ng

s.

A
ll 

A
ct

iv
e 

Re
cr

ea
io

n 
si

te
 / 

pa
rk

s 
m

us
t r

ec
ei

ve
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

si
te

 p
la

n 
ap

pr
ov

al
.

Th
e 

D
ev

el
op

er
 is

 in
 t

al
ks

 w
ith

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
ab

ou
t 

th
e 

de
di

ca
tio

n 
of

 P
ha

se
 7

 in
 it

s 
en

tir
et

y 
(a

pp
ro

x.
 1

1 
ac

re
s)

. N
o 

ag
re

em
en

t h
as

 b
ee

n 
m

ad
e 

at
 th

is
 ti

m
e.

 T
he

 D
ev

el
op

er
 a

gr
ee

s 
to

 
de

di
ca

te
 a

 3
0’

 w
id

e 
ea

se
m

en
t 

al
on

g 
th

e 
so

ut
he

rn
 b

ou
nd

ar
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

ex
te

ns
io

n 
of

 t
he

 
Sa

m
’s 

Br
an

ch
 / 

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
to

 S
ea

 T
ra

il 
(a

pp
ro

x.
 2

.8
5 

ac
re

s)
.  

If 
P

Page 100 of 366



7

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

“T
O

T 
LO

T”
  (

TY
PI

C
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

Se
at

in
g

2.
Pl

ay
 S

tr
uc

tu
re

3.
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g

PO
CK

ET
 P

A
RK

 (T
YP

IC
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

Se
at

in
g

2.
Si

de
w

al
k

3.
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g

PO
CK

ET
 P

A
RK

S

Th
es

e 
‘m

in
i-p

ar
ks

’ s
ho

ul
d 

be
 lo

ca
te

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 c
om

m
un

ity
 a

nd
 r

an
ge

 in
 s

iz
e 

to
 

se
rv

e 
as

 f
oc

al
 p

oi
nt

s 
an

d 
ac

tiv
ity

 n
od

es
. 

 T
he

se
 p

ar
ks

 c
an

 c
on

ta
in

 a
ct

iv
e 

or
 p

as
si

ve
 

re
ce

re
at

io
na

l o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s a
nd

 se
rv

e 
an

 im
po

rt
an

t e
le

m
en

t i
n 

cr
ea

tin
g 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 

a 
se

ns
e 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 a
m

on
g 

re
si

de
nt

s.

Page 101 of 366



8

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

D
et

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily

D
et

ac
he

d 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily
 h

om
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 t
he

 p
rim

ar
y 

lo
t 

ty
pe

 w
ith

in
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t.  

Th
e 

lo
t s

iz
e 

ca
n 

va
ry

 b
et

w
ee

n 
la

rg
e 

an
d 

sm
al

l l
ot

s b
ut

 sh
al

l b
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 fo

 4
,5

00
 sq

ua
re

 
fe

et
.  

Si
ng

le
 fa

m
ily

 h
om

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 c
lu

st
er

ed
 to

ge
th

er
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

Lo
t s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 s
ha

ll 
be

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
4,

50
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

b.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t w
id

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 4

0’
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 1

00
’ a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

d.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t c
ov

er
ag

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
70

%
e.

Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

75
%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r S

et
ba

ck
4’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

35
’

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
5’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
W

he
re

 th
e 

lo
t h

as
 a

n 
al

le
y 

or
 is

 a
 c

or
ne

r l
ot

, g
ar

ag
es

 a
nd

 p
ar

ki
ng

 m
ay

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 fr
om

th
e 

al
le

y 
or

 s
id

e 
st

re
et

 w
he

re
 p

os
si

bl
e.

5.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

6.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s.

7.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Re

si
de

nc
es

 s
ha

ll 
co

ns
is

t 
of

 d
et

ac
he

d 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 h

om
es

 a
nd

 z
er

o 
lo

t 
lin

e 
ho

m
es

.
G

ar
ag

es
 m

ay
 b

e 
de

ta
ch

ed
 o

r 
at

ta
ch

ed
 a

nd
 m

ay
be

 a
lle

y 
lo

ad
ed

. T
he

y 
m

ay
 a

ls
o 

ha
ve

 
ac

ce
ss

or
y 

ap
ar

tm
en

ts
 a

nd
/o

r l
iv

in
g 

sp
ac

es
 a

bo
ve

.

2.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

3.
Ro

of
 p

itc
he

s 
sh

al
l r

an
ge

 b
et

w
ee

n 
3:

12
 a

nd
 1

0:
12

 a
nd

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 c

on
si

st
en

t 
w

ith
 e

ac
h

st
yl

e 
of

 b
ui

ld
in

g.

4.
Fe

nc
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

lo
ca

te
d 

on
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 li

ne
 (0

’ s
et

ba
ck

).

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
 - 

St
re

et
 A

cc
es

s
Lo

t T
yp

e:
 S

in
gl

e 
Fa

m
ily

 - 
A

lle
y 

A
cc

es
s

5.
Bu

ild
in

g 
m

as
si

ng
 s

ho
ul

d 
re

sp
on

d 
di

re
ct

ly
 t

o 
th

e 
co

nt
ex

t 
of

 t
he

 s
ite

 l
oc

at
io

n.
 F

or
ex

am
pl

e 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 o
n 

na
rr

ow
 lo

ts
 w

ith
in

 a
n 

ur
ba

n 
co

nt
ex

t 
sh

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
si

m
pl

e 
an

d
of

te
n 

si
ng

ul
ar

 m
as

si
ng

, w
he

re
as

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 o

n 
w

id
e 

lo
ts

 in
 a

 s
ub

ur
ba

n 
co

nt
ex

t 
sh

ou
ld

di
vi

de
 th

ei
r o

ve
ra

ll 
fl o

or
 a

re
a 

th
ro

ug
h 

va
rio

us
 m

as
se

s 
an

d 
ro

of
 li

ne
s 

as
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 to

th
ei

r a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

.

2.
Fr

on
t p

or
ch

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 n
o 

le
ss

 th
an

 5
’ in

 d
ep

th
 a

nd
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

 g
ra

de
.

3.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 d

et
ac

he
d 

ho
m

es
 w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 r

ev
ie

w
 b

y 
th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 R
ev

ie
w

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 (s

ee
 p

ag
e 

12
).

Page 102 of 366



9

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

At
ta

ch
ed

 H
om

es
 - 

To
w

nh
om

es
 &

 S
in

gl
e F

am
ily

A
tt

ac
he

d 
ho

m
es

 i
n 

th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 w

ill
 c

on
si

st
 o

f 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 a

nd
 t

ow
nh

om
e 

re
si

de
nc

es
.  

Th
es

e 
lo

ts
 w

ill
 h

av
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 s

iz
e 

of
 1

,0
00

 s
qu

ar
e 

fe
et

 a
nd

 b
e 

cl
us

te
re

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
.  T

he
se

 re
si

de
nc

es
 m

ay
 h

av
e 

st
re

et
- o

r a
lle

y-
lo

ad
ed

 g
ar

ag
es

.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
1,

00
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

b.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t w
id

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 1

6’
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 s

ha
ll 

no
t b

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
d.

 Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t c

ov
er

ag
e 

sh
al

l b
e 

70
%

e.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t i
m

pe
rv

io
us

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l b

e 
75

%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

5’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

45
’

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
5’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

5.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s.

6.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
A

tt
ac

he
d 

re
si

de
nc

es
 a

re
 d

efi
 n

ed
 a

s 
bu

ild
in

gs
 o

n 
ze

ro
 l

ot
 l

in
e 

lo
ts

 w
ith

 fi
 re

 r
at

ed
pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 lo

ca
te

d 
on

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
lin

es
 t

ha
t 

ha
ve

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 b

ui
lt 

to
 t

he
 s

am
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 
lin

e.
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 in
 t

hi
s 

ca
te

go
ry

 c
on

si
st

 o
f 

du
pl

ex
es

 a
nd

 t
ow

nh
om

es
. G

ar
ag

es
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

ta
ch

ed
 o

r d
et

ac
he

d 
an

d 
m

ay
be

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 b
y 

pr
iv

at
e 

or
 p

ub
lic

 d
riv

es
. T

he
y 

m
ay

 a
ls

o 
ha

ve
 a

cc
es

so
ry

 a
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 a
nd

/o
r l

iv
in

g 
sp

ac
es

 a
bo

ve
.

2.
Pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 s

ha
ll 

be
 fi 

re
 ra

te
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

3.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

..

2.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 a

tt
ac

he
d 

ho
m

es
 w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 r

ev
ie

w
 b

y 
th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 R
ev

ie
w

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 (s

ee
 p

ag
e 

12
).

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 T
ow

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- A

lle
y 

A
cc

es
s

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 T
ow

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- S

tr
ee

t A
cc

es
s

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 To
w

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- S

ur
fa

ce
 P

ar
ki

ng

Page 103 of 366



10

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

M
ul

ti-
Fa

m
ily

 - 
C

on
do

 / 
Ap

ar
tm

en
ts

M
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

 r
es

id
en

ce
s 

in
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 c
an

 b
e 

co
nd

om
in

iu
m

 a
nd

/o
r 

ap
ar

tm
en

t 
bu

ild
in

gs
.  

Th
is

 t
yp

e 
of

 r
es

id
en

tia
l p

ro
du

ct
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

cl
os

er
 t

o 
th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 re
ta

il 
us

es
.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
b.

Th
er

e 
is

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d.
d.

 Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t c

ov
er

ag
e 

sh
al

l b
e 

80
%

e.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t i
m

pe
rv

io
us

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l b

e 
80

%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
0’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
5’

 (2
0’

 m
in

. b
et

w
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

gs
)

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

0’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

55
’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
M

in
im

um
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

to
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

se
pa

ra
tio

n 
is

 2
0’

5.
M

ul
ti-

Fa
m

ily
 r

es
id

en
tia

l 
sh

al
l 

fr
on

t 
on

 p
ub

lic
 o

r 
pr

iv
at

e 
st

re
et

s 
an

d 
co

m
m

on
 a

re
as

.
Pa

rk
in

g 
sh

al
l b

e 
ac

ce
ss

ed
 fr

om
 in

te
rn

al
 p

riv
at

e 
dr

iv
es

.

6.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

7.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s

8.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Bu

ild
in

gs
 c

an
 c

on
si

st
 o

f 
m

ul
ti-

un
it 

co
nd

om
in

iu
m

s,
 a

pa
rt

m
en

ts
, 

fl a
ts

, 
st

ac
ke

d 
fl a

ts
,

st
ac

ke
d 

to
w

nh
om

es
, o

r m
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

.

2.
Pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 s

ha
ll 

be
 fi 

re
 ra

te
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

3.
 P

rim
ar

y 
en

tr
an

ce
s f

or
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
un

its
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

“a
t g

ra
de

” o
r o

th
er

w
is

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nt

 w
ith

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 g

ui
de

lin
es

 a
s 

ou
tli

ne
d 

in
 th

e 
in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

4.
Ro

of
 m

ay
 b

e 
fl a

t 
or

 p
itc

he
d.

 F
la

t 
ro

of
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 w

ith
 a

 p
ar

ap
et

 p
er

 c
od

e
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. P

itc
he

d 
ro

of
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 t

o 
sh

ed
 w

at
er

 t
o 

th
e 

fr
on

t 
or

 b
ac

k 
of

th
e 

bu
ild

in
g 

w
ith

 p
itc

he
s 

in
 .

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

em
ed

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
Re

vi
ew

 C
om

m
itt

ee
.

2.
Ba

lc
on

ie
s 

or
 p

or
ch

es
 a

re
 s

ha
ll 

be
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d.

3.
A

ll 
m

ul
ti-

 fa
m

ily
 u

ni
ts

 w
ill

 re
qu

ire
 re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

pa
ge

 1
2)

.

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 M
ul

ti
-F

am
ily

 - 
Su

rf
ac

e 
Pa

rk
in

g
Lo

t T
yp

e:
 M

ul
ti

-F
am

ily
 - 

A
lle

y 
A

cc
es

s

Page 104 of 366



11

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

A
m

en
ity

 an
d 

Cl
ub

Th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 sh

al
l h

av
e 

a 
co

m
m

un
ity

 c
en

te
r /

 c
lu

b 
to

 se
rv

e 
al

l r
es

id
en

ts
.  T

he
 c

lu
b 

ca
n 

fe
at

ur
e 

am
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 a
 c

om
m

un
ity

 p
oo

l, 
pl

ay
gr

ou
nd

, t
en

ni
s 

co
ur

ts
, e

xe
rc

is
e 

gy
m

.  
A

dd
iti

on
al

ly
, 

ot
he

r 
fe

at
ur

ed
 a

m
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 p
oc

ke
t 

pa
rk

s,
 g

re
en

w
ay

 c
on

ne
ct

io
ns

, 
to

t 
lo

ts
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

. T
he

 C
lu

bh
ou

se
 p

er
m

it 
sh

al
l b

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
pr

io
r t

o 
th

e 
25

1s
t b

ui
ld

in
g 

pe
rm

it.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
b.

Th
er

e 
is

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d.

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
15

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
5’

 (1
0’

 m
in

. b
et

w
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

gs
)

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

45
’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
Bu

ild
in

g 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

as
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
pl

az
as

 fo
r g

at
he

rin
gs

.

5.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

6.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f c
ur

b 
to

 th
e 

rig
ht

 o
f w

ay
 li

ne
 b

ut
 m

ay
al

so
 in

cl
ud

e 
an

 a
re

a 
al

on
g 

th
e 

ed
ge

 o
f a

 p
ub

lic
 s

pa
ce

. T
he

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e

m
in

im
um

 5
’ s

id
ew

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s 

al
on

g 
bu

ild
in

g 
fr

on
ts

.

7.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

8.
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
ar

ea
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
lo

ca
te

d 
to

w
ar

ds
 t

he
 s

id
es

 o
r 

re
ar

 o
f 

bu
ild

in
gs

.
W

he
re

 s
ite

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 o

r 
ot

he
r 

lim
iti

ng
 c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s 

re
su

lt 
in

 a
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

fr
on

tin
g 

a
up

on
 a

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
re

a,
 a

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 s
ha

ll 
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f c
ur

b 
to

 th
e

ou
te

r e
dg

e 
of

 th
e 

si
de

w
al

k 
in

 a
 s

im
ila

r m
an

ne
r t

o 
th

at
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

al
on

g 
a 

st
re

et
.

9.
M

ul
ti-

pu
rp

os
e 

tr
ai

ls
, o

ut
do

or
 s

ea
tin

g 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

sp
ac

es
, i

.e
. d

oc
ks

, v
ie

w
in

g 
ar

ea
s,

 e
tc

.
m

ay
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
al

on
g 

th
e 

w
at

er
fr

on
t.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Co

m
m

un
ity

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 s

ho
ul

d 
ha

ve
 a

 p
ro

m
in

en
t 

lo
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

be
 a

dj
ac

en
t 

to
 p

ub
lic

sp
ac

es
 w

he
ne

ve
r p

os
si

bl
e,

 s
ur

fa
ce

 p
ar

ki
ng

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

off
  t

o 
th

e 
si

de
s 

or
 re

ar
 

of
 th

e 
bu

ild
in

g.
 

2.
M

ax
im

um
 h

ei
gh

t 
lim

it 
sh

al
l 

be
 T

hr
ee

 (
3)

 s
to

rie
s.

 C
up

ol
as

, 
be

ll 
to

w
er

s 
an

d 
an

ci
lla

ry
ro

of
to

p 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

ar
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 to
 b

e 
ta

lle
r.

3.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

4.
Ro

of
 p

itc
he

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 in

 c
on

gr
ue

nc
e 

w
ith

 t
he

 d
es

ire
d 

ch
ar

ac
te

r 
an

d 
st

yl
e 

of
th

e 
bu

ild
in

g.
 R

oo
f p

itc
he

s 
w

ill
 t

yp
ic

al
ly

 r
an

ge
 b

et
w

ee
n 

3:
12

 a
nd

 1
0:

12
 o

r 
m

ay
 b

e 
fl a

t
w

ith
 a

 p
ar

ap
et

.

5.
Pr

im
ar

y 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

fo
r a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 “a
t g

ra
de

” o
r o

th
er

w
is

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nt

w
ith

 a
cc

es
si

bi
lit

y 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

by
 th

e 
A

m
er

ic
an

s 
w

ith
 D

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
A

ct
.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

em
ed

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
Re

vi
ew

 C
om

m
itt

ee
.

2.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 c
om

m
un

ity
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 w
ill

 r
eq

ui
re

 r
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

 p
ag

e 
12

).

Page 105 of 366



12

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 A
re

a

Th
e 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l h

av
e 

a 
ba

se
 zo

ni
ng

 d
is

tr
ic

t o
f B

-2
. T

hi
s a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
as

 a
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

re
ta

il 
sh

op
pi

ng
 c

en
te

r 
to

 s
er

ve
 t

he
 n

ee
ds

 o
f S

te
ep

le
ch

as
e 

an
d 

th
e 

su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

.  O
ffi  

ce
 a

nd
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l u
se

s o
n 

up
pe

r s
to

rie
s w

ill
 b

e 
al

lo
w

ab
le

 
in

 th
is

 d
is

tr
ic

t. 
 T

hi
s 

ar
ea

 w
ill

 ra
ng

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
+

/-
5 

ac
re

s 
up

 to
 +

/-
8 

ac
re

s.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
6,

00
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
b.

Th
e 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 s
ha

ll 
be

 5
0’

 
c.

Th
e 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t d

ep
th

 s
ha

ll 
no

t b
e 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d.

d.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t c
ov

er
ag

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
75

%
e.

Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

75
%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
20

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
10

’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
20

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

80
’

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Th

e 
B-

2 
di

st
ric

t p
ro

vi
de

s 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 fo

r s
m

al
l-s

ca
le

 c
om

m
er

ci
al

 u
se

s 
off

 e
rin

g
pr

im
ar

ily
 c

on
ve

ni
en

ce
 s

ho
pp

in
g 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r a

dj
ac

en
t r

es
id

en
tia

l a
re

as
. P

ro
xi

m
ity

 
to

 re
si

de
nc

es
 re

qu
ire

s 
th

at
 c

om
m

er
ci

al
 o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
re

 lo
w

 in
te

ns
ity

, u
no

bt
ru

si
ve

 a
nd

 
co

nd
uc

te
d 

at
 a

 s
ca

le
 a

nd
 d

en
si

ty
 c

om
pa

tib
le

 w
ith

 th
e 

su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

. 
Th

er
e 

is
 a

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
lo

w
 d

em
an

d 
on

 p
ub

lic
 s

er
vi

ce
s,

 tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
ut

ili
tie

s.

2.
A

 m
ax

im
um

 h
ei

gh
t 

of
 8

0’
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
si

gn
at

ed
 f

or
 t

hi
s 

di
st

ric
t 

to
 a

llo
w

 o
ffi  

ce
s 

an
d

re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

ni
ts

 in
 u

pp
er

 s
to

rie
s.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

. 

2.
Th

e 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

re
a 

w
ill

 r
eq

ui
re

 r
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

pa
ge

 1
2)

.

Page 106 of 366



13

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

U
til

iti
es

 an
d 

St
or

m
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

PU
B

LI
C 

U
TI

LI
TI

ES
 A

N
D

 IN
FR

A
ST

RU
C

TU
RE

Re
qu

ire
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 s
ha

ll 
be

 m
ad

e 
as

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
oc

cu
rs

 w
ith

in
 e

ac
h 

tr
ac

t.  
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 w
ill

 b
e 

de
si

gn
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 it
 w

ill
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
e 

th
e 

en
tir

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 a
t 

to
ta

l b
ui

ld
-o

ut
.  A

t t
he

 ti
m

e 
of

 P
la

n 
Su

bm
itt

al
, t

he
 d

ev
el

op
er

 w
ill

 m
ee

t w
ith

 To
w

n 
St

aff
  t

o 
de

te
rm

in
e 

cr
iti

ca
l a

re
as

 (i
f a

ny
) f

or
 p

ha
se

d 
ut

ili
ty

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 a
s 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

cc
ur

s.

SA
N

IT
A

RY
 S

EW
ER

Pe
r 

th
e 

To
w

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 e
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

st
aff

 , 
th

e 
To

w
n 

ha
s 

ad
eq

ua
te

 c
ap

ac
ity

 t
o 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

e 
th

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

sa
ni

ta
ry

 s
ew

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

th
is

 p
ro

je
ct

.  
Th

e 
es

tim
at

ed
 

w
as

te
 w

at
er

 p
ea

k 
fl o

w
 fo

r t
he

 S
ou

th
 t

ra
ct

 is
 5

88
,3

88
 g

al
lo

ns
 p

er
 d

ay
 a

nd
 N

or
th

 t
ra

ct
 is

 
90

6,
12

5 
ga

llo
ns

 p
er

 d
ay

 (s
ee

 su
m

m
ar

y 
at

 ri
gh

t a
nd

 d
et

ai
l i

n 
A

pp
en

di
x)

.  I
t i

s a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 to
 

de
ve

lo
p 

th
e 

So
ut

h 
tr

ac
t fi

 r
st

 in
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
15

 p
ha

se
s o

f c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n.
  T

he
 S

ou
th

 tr
ac

t 
w

ill
 c

on
ne

ct
 to

 a
n 

ex
is

tin
g 

pu
bl

ic
 s

an
ita

ry
 s

ew
er

 m
an

ho
le

 th
at

 is
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 in
iti

al
 p

ha
se

 
of

 th
e 

Sa
m

’s 
Br

an
ch

 In
te

rc
ep

to
r. 

 T
he

 T
ow

n 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 w

ith
 th

e 
de

si
gn

 a
nd

 e
xt

en
si

on
 

of
 th

e 
Sa

m
’s 

Br
an

ch
 In

te
rc

ep
to

r -
Ph

as
e 

2 
in

 c
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t p
ha

si
ng

 
of

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e.
  S

ew
er

 m
ai

n 
ex

te
ns

io
ns

 a
nd

 s
er

vi
ce

 c
on

ne
ct

io
ns

 t
o 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

se
w

er
 

sy
st

em
s 

m
us

t 
be

 a
pp

ro
ve

d,
 p

rio
r t

o 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n,
 b

y 
th

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
an

d 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

ge
ne

ra
l g

ui
de

lin
es

 a
nd

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 T
ow

n.
  I

t i
s 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

po
lic

y 
to

 u
til

iz
e 

gr
av

ity
 s

ew
er

 e
xt

en
si

on
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 s
ew

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 s

er
ve

 th
e 

N
or

th
 &

 
So

ut
h 

tr
ac

ts
.  

A
llo

ca
tio

ns
 fo

r s
ew

er
 m

us
t b

e 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
to

w
n 

co
un

ci
l. 

 E
st

im
at

ed
 fl 

ow
 

sh
ow

n 
he

re
 is

 fo
r i

nf
or

m
at

io
na

l p
ur

po
se

s 
on

ly
.

W
AT

ER
Pu

bl
ic

 w
at

er
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

si
te

 v
ia

 a
 s

er
ie

s 
of

 8
-in

ch
 a

nd
 1

2-
in

ch
 w

at
er

 m
ai

ns
.  

A
 1

2-
in

ch
 w

at
er

 m
ai

n 
is

 p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

Co
ve

re
d 

Br
id

ge
 R

oa
d 

ju
st

 w
es

t o
f t

he
 su

bj
ec

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d 
w

ill
 b

e 
ex

te
nd

ed
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
fr

on
ta

ge
 a

t t
he

 ti
m

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 ro
ad

 w
id

en
in

g.
  I

n 
ad

di
tio

n,
 a

n 
8-

in
ch

 m
ai

n 
ex

is
ts

 in
 O

’N
ei

l S
tr

ee
t a

lo
ng

 th
e 

ea
st

er
n 

bo
un

da
ry

.  C
on

ne
ct

io
ns

 
to

 th
e 

Co
ve

re
d 

Br
id

ge
 R

oa
d 

12
-in

ch
 m

ai
n 

an
d 

8-
in

ch
 m

ai
n 

on
 O

’N
ei

l S
tr

ee
t w

ill
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

an
d 

ex
te

nd
ed

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

ys
te

m
 o

f i
nn

er
-c

on
ne

ct
ed

 m
ai

ns
.  

Th
is

 le
ve

l o
f i

nn
er

-c
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

 s
ha

ll 
pr

ov
id

e 
fo

r 
ad

eq
ua

te
 d

om
es

tic
 w

at
er

 u
se

 a
nd

 fi 
re

 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n.

ST
O

RM
W

AT
ER

 R
U

N
O

FF
 A

N
D

 N
IT

RO
G

EN
 C

O
N

TR
O

LS
St

or
m

 s
ew

er
 a

cc
es

si
bi

lit
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

tr
ac

t 
sh

al
l 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

vi
a 

dr
ai

na
ge

 s
w

al
es

 a
nd

 
st

or
m

w
at

er
 p

ip
es

 t
ha

t 
ru

n 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 t
ra

ct
.  

Th
e 

dr
ai

na
ge

 s
w

al
es

 a
nd

 s
to

rm
w

at
er

 
pi

pe
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 f
or

 t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s 
of

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
st

or
m

 fl
 o

w
s 

fr
om

 v
ar

io
us

 p
ha

se
s 

to
 e

ve
nt

ua
lly

 d
is

ch
ar

ge
 i

nt
o 

th
e 

re
sp

ec
tiv

e 
tr

ib
ut

ar
ie

s 
of

 S
am

’s 
Br

an
ch

 a
nd

/o
r 

th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.  
N

itr
og

en
 c

on
tr

ol
 w

et
 p

on
ds

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 B

M
P 

de
vi

ce
s 

m
ay

 b
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

w
ith

 
th

is
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

 T
he

 d
ev

el
op

er
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

th
at

 it
 c

om
pl

ie
s 

w
ith

 a
ll 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

ni
tr

og
en

 a
nd

 s
to

rm
w

at
er

 r
un

off
  c

on
tr

ol
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 a
s 

id
en

tifi
 e

d 
in

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
or

di
na

nc
e 

an
d 

St
at

e 
St

or
m

w
at

er
 M

an
ua

l. 
 D

ev
ic

es
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
 m

ea
su

re
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

a 
va

rie
ty

 o
f d

ev
ic

es
 a

nd
 im

po
un

dm
en

ts
.  

Th
es

e 
m

ay
 b

e 
ph

ys
ic

al
ly

 lo
ca

te
d 

ou
ts

id
e 

of
 th

e 
ph

as
e 

so
 lo

ng
 a

s 
th

e 
ab

ov
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 a
re

 m
et

 a
s 

ea
ch

 tr
ac

t i
s 

de
ve

lo
pe

d.

St
ee
pl
ec
ha

se
Sa
ni
ta
ry

Se
w
er

Pr
el
im

in
ar
y
Ev
al
ua

tio
n

M
cA
da
m
s

13
Fe
b
15

Es
tim

at
e
of

to
ta
lp
ea
k
w
as
te
w
at
er

flo
w
fo
rS

te
ep

le
ch
as
e
So
ut
h
(P
ha

se
s1

14
):

Pe
ak
in
g

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
tT

yp
e

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
ts

Be
dr
oo

m
s

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Fa
ct
or

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(6
5
70

)
41

1
4

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
10

2,
75

0
71

0.
15

9
2.
5

25
6,
87

5
17

8
0.
39

7
Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(5
0
55

/6
0
65

)
10

0
3.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
25

,0
00

17
0.
03

9
2.
5

62
,5
00

43
0.
09

7
To
w
nh

om
e

30
9

2.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
77

,2
50

54
0.
11

9
2.
5

19
3,
12

5
13

4
0.
29

9
Ap

ar
tm

en
t

0
2.
0

24
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
0

0.
00

0
2.
5

0
0.
00

0
Co

m
m
er
ci
al
/R

et
ai
l

75
,0
00

s f
0.
13

ga
l/d

ay
sf

9,
75

0
7

0.
01

5
2.
5

24
,3
75

17
0.
03

8
82

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

21
4,
75

0
14

9
0.
33

2
53

6,
87

5
37

3
0.
83

0

Es
tim

at
e
of

to
ta
lp
ea
k
w
as
te
w
at
er

flo
w
fo
rS

te
ep

le
ch
as
e
N
or
th

(P
ha

se
s1

5
34

):

Pe
ak
in
g

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
tT

yp
e

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
ts

Be
dr
oo

m
s

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Fa
ct
or

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(6
5
70

/7
0
75

)
33

0
4

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
82

,5
00

57
0.
12

8
2.
5

20
6,
25

0
14

3
0.
31

9
Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(5
0
55

/6
0
65

)
22

5
3.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
56

,2
50

39
0.
08

7
2.
5

14
0,
62

5
98

0.
21

7
Am

en
ity

/C
lu
bh

ou
se

8,
50

0
s f

0.
13

ga
l/d

ay
sf

1,
10

5
1

0.
00

2
2.
5

2,
76

3
2

0.
00

4
To
w
nh

om
e

43
5

2.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
10

8,
75

0
76

0.
16

8
2.
5

27
1,
87

5
18

9
0.
42

0
Ap

ar
tm

en
t

38
0

2
24

0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
91

,2
00

63
0.
14

1
2.
5

22
8,
00

0
15

8
0.
35

3
1
37

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

33
9
80

5
23

6
0
52

6
84

9
51

3
59

0
1
31

4

W
W

Fl
ow

Ra
te

pe
rU

ni
t

Av
er
ag
e
W
W

Fl
ow

W
W

Fl
ow

Ra
te

pe
rU

ni
t

Av
er
ag
e
W
W

Fl
ow

Pe
ak

W
W

Fl
ow

Pe
ak

W
W

Fl
ow

1,
37

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

33
9,
80

5
23

6
0.
52

6
84

9,
51

3
59

0
1.
31

4

To
ta
ls

2,
19

0
un

its
55

4,
55

5
gp
d

Page 107 of 366



14

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r (
an

d 
an

y s
ub

se
qu

en
t H

om
eo

w
ne

r’s
 a

nd
/o

r P
ro

pe
rt

y O
w

ne
r’s

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
ns

) 
sh

al
l 

en
su

re
 a

 w
id

e 
va

rie
ty

 o
f 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

pr
od

uc
ts

 a
re

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

.  P
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

fi r
st

 si
te

 p
la

n 
su

bm
itt

al
, d

ev
el

op
er

 sh
al

l e
st

ab
lis

h 
an

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (A
RC

) t
ha

t r
ev

ie
w

s 
an

d 
ap

pr
ov

es
 a

ll 
pr

op
os

ed
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
e 

an
d 

si
te

 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

e 
an

d 
si

te
 fu

rn
is

hi
ng

s 
fo

r 
qu

al
ity

, c
om

pa
tib

ili
ty

 a
nd

 c
on

si
st

en
cy

.  
Th

is
 e

nt
ity

 
sh

al
l s

ub
se

qu
en

tly
 re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
ll 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t r

eq
ue

st
s 

pr
io

r t
o 

th
e 

su
bm

itt
al

 
to

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 fo
r 

an
y 

bu
ild

in
g 

pe
rm

it.
  T

he
 A

RC
 s

ha
ll 

al
so

 e
st

ab
lis

h,
 e

nf
or

ce
, 

m
od

ify
 a

nd
 g

ra
nt

 c
on

fo
rm

an
ce

 w
ith

 th
e 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

si
on

s 
in

di
ca

te
d 

be
lo

w
.  

It 
sh

al
l a

ls
o 

en
fo

rc
e 

an
y 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

’s 
ad

op
te

d 
re

st
ric

tiv
e 

co
ve

na
nt

s.
 

B
A

SI
C 

PA
LE

TT
E 

FO
R 

RE
SI

D
EN

TI
A

L 
U

SE
S

•
Pr

im
ar

y 
Bu

ild
in

gs
:  

Br
ic

k,
 m

od
ul

ar
 b

ric
k;

 V
in

yl
 s

id
in

g;
 H

ar
di

-p
la

nk
; b

at
te

n 
bo

ar
d

si
di

ng
, p

re
-c

as
t m

at
er

ia
ls

, W
oo

d;
 S

im
ul

at
ed

 w
oo

d;
 S

to
ne

, a
nd

 S
im

ul
at

ed
 s

to
ne

.

•
Ro

of
 E

le
m

en
ts

:  
A

sp
ha

lt 
Sh

in
gl

es
; M

et
al

 R
oo

fs
, S

im
ul

at
ed

 ti
le

 (d
es

ig
n 

an
d 

co
lo

r m
ay

va
ry

). 
 F

la
t o

r m
em

br
an

e 
ro

of
s 

sh
al

l b
e 

pr
oh

ib
ite

d 
(e

xc
ep

t f
or

 m
ix

ed
-u

se
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

).

•
Co

lu
m

ns
:  

W
oo

d,
 B

ric
k,

 P
re

-c
as

t; 
Fi

be
rg

la
ss

; S
im

ul
at

ed
 s

to
ne

; S
te

el
; a

nd
 a

lu
m

in
um

.

•
Co

lo
rs

:  
A

 v
ar

ie
ty

 o
f c

ol
or

s 
m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 s

o 
lo

ng
 a

s 
th

ey
 a

re
co

m
pl

im
en

ta
ry

.  
W

hi
le

 a
cc

en
ts

 a
nd

 tr
im

 c
ol

or
s 

m
ay

 v
ar

y.
  A

 m
ax

im
um

of
 tw

o 
pr

im
ar

y 
co

lo
rs

 m
ay

 b
e 

us
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

fa
ça

de
.  

G
ar

ag
es

 a
nd

ac
ce

ss
or

y 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 s
ha

ll 
m

at
ch

 th
e 

pr
im

ar
y 

re
si

de
nc

e.

•
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ac

ce
nt

s:
  S

im
ul

at
ed

 S
to

ne
, T

ile
, P

re
-c

as
e;

 W
oo

d,
 E

IF
S;

 B
ric

k
pa

tt
er

ns
 a

nd
 a

ne
nt

 b
ric

k;
 q

uo
in

s;
 a

nd
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 m
as

on
ry

.

• 
G

ar
ag

es
 a

nd
 P

ar
ki

ng
:  

A
 m

ax
im

um
 fo

ur
 c

ar
s 

ca
n 

be
 g

ar
ag

ed
 o

n 
an

y 
si

ng
le

fa
m

ily
 lo

t. 
 A

 m
in

im
um

 o
f t

w
o 

pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

fo
r e

ac
h 

un
it

(v
ia

 a
 g

ar
ag

e,
 in

 a
 d

riv
ew

ay
, o

n 
a 

pr
iv

at
e 

st
re

et
 o

r i
n 

an
 o

ff -
st

re
et

 s
pa

ce
)

• 
Po

rc
he

s a
nd

 S
to

op
s:

  P
or

ch
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

lo
ca

te
d 

at
 th

e 
fr

on
t, 

si
de

, o
r r

ea
r o

f
th

e 
ho

us
e.

  F
ro

nt
 p

or
ch

es
 o

r s
to

op
s 

sh
al

l b
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 o

f fi
 v

e 
(5

’) 
fe

et
 in

de
pt

h 
an

d 
pr

ov
id

e 
ad

eq
ua

te
 s

et
ba

ck
 fr

om
 th

e 
lo

t l
in

es
 a

nd
 p

ub
lic

 s
tr

ee
ts

.

•
M

ec
ha

ni
ca

l E
qu

ip
m

en
t: 

 G
ro

un
d 

le
ve

l m
ec

ha
ni

ca
l e

qu
ip

m
en

t s
ha

ll 
be

lo
ca

te
d 

at
 th

e 
si

de
 o

r r
ea

r o
f t

he
 lo

t a
nd

 s
cr

ee
ne

d 
fr

om
 v

ie
w

 w
ith

 p
la

nt
in

gs
or

 a
 w

al
l o

f t
he

 s
am

e 
or

 c
om

pa
tib

le
 m

at
er

ia
ls

 to
 th

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
’ e

xt
er

io
r.

• 
Fe

nc
in

g 
in

 P
er

im
et

er
 Y

ar
d:

 T
he

 A
RC

 s
ha

ll 
re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
ll 

fe
nc

in
g 

st
yl

es
,

m
at

er
ia

ls
, a

nd
 h

ei
gh

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pe

rim
et

er
 B

uff
 e

r (
Ty

pe
 C

) a
lo

ng
 e

xi
st

in
g 

pu
bl

ic
st

re
et

s.
   

Th
e 

in
te

nt
 is

 to
 c

re
at

e 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

 in
 p

ro
du

ct
, s

ty
le

 a
nd

 a
pp

ea
ra

nc
e.

•
El

ev
at

io
ns

: A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 e

le
va

tio
ns

 w
ill

 h
av

e 
va

rie
ty

 to
 e

ns
ur

e
ad

ja
ce

nt
 u

ni
ts

 h
av

e 
di

ff e
re

nt
 fa

ca
de

s.
 T

he
 in

te
nt

 is
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
e

ho
m

es
 a

re
 n

ot
 “c

oo
ki

e-
cu

tt
er

” a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 d

iv
er

si
ty

.

Ph
as

in
g

O
V

ER
A

LL
 P

H
A

SI
N

G
Sc

he
du

le
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ul
tim

at
e 

ph
as

in
g 

of
 p

la
ns

, p
er

m
its

 a
nd

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

pe
nd

en
t o

n 
m

ar
ke

t f
or

ce
s 

an
d 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r i

nf
ra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
.  

In
iti

al
 p

ha
se

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 e

xt
en

si
on

s 
of

 p
ub

lic
 s

tr
ee

ts
, w

at
er

 a
nd

 
sa

ni
ta

ry
 s

ew
er

 s
ys

te
m

s.
  

A
re

as
 a

lo
ng

 e
xi

st
in

g 
Co

ve
re

d 
Br

id
ge

 R
oa

d 
an

d 
O

’N
ea

l S
tr

ee
t 

w
ill

 li
ke

ly
 b

e 
th

e 
fi r

st
 t

o 
be

 d
ev

el
op

ed
.  

H
ow

ev
er

, s
m

al
le

r 
ph

as
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

cr
ea

te
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

st
aff

 . 
 T

he
 r

ef
er

en
ce

d 
ph

as
e 

nu
m

be
r 

on
 t

he
 P

ha
si

ng
 P

la
n 

do
es

 n
ot

 
ne

ce
ss

ar
ily

 re
pr

es
en

t 
th

e 
ex

ac
t 

se
qu

en
ce

 o
f d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

 A
lth

ou
gh

 t
he

 C
lu

bh
ou

se
 is

 
sh

ow
n 

in
 p

ha
se

 1
5,

 th
e 

pe
rm

it 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
fo

r c
lu

bh
ou

se
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

su
bm

itt
ed

 
pr

io
r 

to
 t

he
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
25

1st
 r

es
id

en
tia

l  
  

bu
ild

in
g 

pe
rm

it.
 U

nl
es

s 
sp

ec
ifi 

ca
lly

 
st

at
ed

 h
er

ei
n 

an
d 

w
ith

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 T
ow

n 
St

aff
 , 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
re

ta
in

s 
th

e 
rig

ht
 t

o 
re

co
nfi

 g
ur

e 
th

e 
ph

as
es

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
m

ar
ke

t f
or

ce
s 

an
d 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 n

ee
ds

.

A
M

EN
D

M
EN

TS
 T

O
 T

H
E 

A
PP

RO
V

ED
 M

A
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

A
s 

lo
ng

 a
s 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r o
w

ns
 re

al
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
M

as
te

r P
la

n 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t, 
on

ly
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r o
r p

er
so

nn
el

 a
ut

ho
riz

ed
 in

 w
rit

in
g 

by
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
r s

ha
ll 

ha
ve

 th
e 

rig
ht

 
to

 a
m

en
d 

th
e 

pl
an

.

PO
TE

N
TI

A
L 

SC
H

O
O

L 
SI

TE
Th

e 
m

as
te

r 
pl

an
 id

en
tifi

 e
s 

a 
po

te
nt

ia
l s

ch
oo

l s
ite

 lo
ca

te
d 

on
 C

ity
 R

oa
d 

fr
on

ta
ge

 o
f t

he
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t. 

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
w

ill
 e

nt
er

ta
in

 r
eq

ue
st

s 
fr

om
 t

he
 s

ch
oo

l d
is

tr
ic

t 
fo

r 
up

 t
o 

tw
o 

(2
) y

ea
rs

 fr
om

 t
he

 d
at

e 
of

 p
la

n 
ad

op
tio

n 
by

 T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l. 
If 

th
e 

si
te

 is
 d

on
at

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
sc

ho
ol

 d
is

tr
ic

t t
he

 d
ev

el
op

er
 w

ou
ld

 e
xp

ec
t a

 c
re

di
t a

pp
lie

d 
to

 a
ny

 im
pa

ct
 fe

es
 e

qu
al

 
to

 th
e 

va
lu

e 
of

 th
e 

la
nd

 p
lu

s 
an

y 
lo

st
 re

ve
nu

e.

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
N

A
M

E 
CH

A
N

G
E

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
re

se
rv

es
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 t

he
 n

am
e 

of
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

pr
io

r 
to

  
re

co
rd

in
g 

th
e 

fi r
st

 p
la

t a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 th
is

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.

Page 108 of 366



15

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5
A

PP
EN

D
IX

 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

CO
V

ER
  

SH
EE

T 
0

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S 
SH

EE
TS

 1
-3

M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 

SH
EE

TS
 4

, 4
A

, 4
B,

 4
C

PH
A

SI
N

G
 P

LA
N

 
SH

EE
T 

5

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 P
LA

N
 

SH
EE

T 
6

V
EH

IC
U

LA
R 

A
N

D
 P

ED
ES

TR
IA

N
 P

LA
N

 
SH

EE
T 

7

ST
RE

ET
 W

A
IV

ER
 R

EQ
U

ES
TS

 
SH

EE
T 

8

Page 109 of 366



Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, North Carolina 27520

c/o Wakefield Development Company

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at 
Re

vie
w

10
.01

.20
14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

Galaxy NC, LLC 2n
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

11
.10

.20
14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

0

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

SB KT CO
VE

R

. .

C2015JDAVIS  ARCHITECTS  EXPRESSLY  RESERVES  ITS  COMMON  LAW  COPYRIGHT  AND  OTHER  PROPERTY  RIGHTS  IN  THESE  PLANS.  THESE  PLANS  ARE  NOT  TO  BE  REPRODUCED,  CHANGED  OR  COPIED  IN  ANY  FORM  OR  MANNER  WHATSOEVER,  NOR  ARE  THEY  TO  BE  ASSIGNED  TO  ANY  THIRD  PARTY  WITHOUT  FIRST  OBTAINING  THE  EXPRESSED  WRITTEN  PERMISSION  AND  CONSENT  OF  JDAVIS  ARCHITECTS,  PLLC

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

Pl
at

 R
ev

ie
w

 (M
aj

or
 S

ub
di

vi
si

on
)

Vi
cin

ity
 M

ap
Sh

ee
t In

de
x

Pr
oje

ct 
Te

am
No

tes
C

O
V

ER
  

0
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

PL
A

N
  

1-
3

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S 
PL

A
N

  
2-

3
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

PL
A

N
  

3-
3

M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
  

4
PH

A
SI

N
G

 P
LA

N
  

5
R

EC
R

EA
TI

O
N

 &
 O

PE
N

 S
PA

C
E 

PL
A

N
  

6
V

EH
IC

U
LA

R
 &

 P
ED

ES
TR

IA
N

 C
IR

C
U

LA
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N
  

7
ST

R
EE

T 
W

A
IV

ER
 R

EQ
U

ES
TS

  
8

1s
t S

ub
m

itt
al

: O
ct

ob
er

 0
1,

 2
01

4
2n

d 
Su

bm
itt

al
: O

ct
ob

er
 2

4,
 2

01
4

3r
d 

Su
bm

itt
al

: N
ov

em
be

r 1
0,

 2
01

4
4t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
01

5
5t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: J

an
ua

ry
 1

4,
 2

01
5

6t
h 

Su
bm

itt
al

: J
an

ua
ry

 2
0,

 2
01

5
7t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: F

eb
ru

ar
y 

13
, 2

01
5

8t
h 

Su
bm

itt
al

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

11
62

 C
ov

er
ed

 B
ri

dg
e 

Ro
ad

C
la

yt
on

, J
oh

ns
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

52
0

PS
D 

20
14

-1
28

 &
 P

DD
 20

14
-1

27

O
W

N
ER

:
N

an
cy

 C
re

w
s E

ar
p 

&
M

ar
y 

Ea
rp

 W
or

le
y

72
30

 N
C

 4
2 

Ea
st

Se
lm

a,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

57
6

91
9-

96
5-

57
93

 &
 9

19
-9

15
-1

51
5

na
nc

ye
ar

p@
be

lls
ou

th
.n

et
w

in
kw

or
le

y@
gm

ai
l.c

om

D
EV

EL
O

PE
R:

G
al

ax
y 

N
C

, L
LC

c/
o 

W
ak

ef
ie

ld
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

om
pa

ny
31

00
 S

m
ok

et
re

e 
C

ou
rt

, S
ui

te
 2

10
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
4

91
9-

55
6-

43
10

91
9-

55
6-

06
90

 (f
ax

)
ke

m
@

w
ak

ed
ev

.c
om

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

TS
:

PI
N 

NU
MB

ER
(S

):
16

69
00

-3
8-

49
97

DE
ED

: BO
OK

 03
89

7, 
PA

GE
 07

35
SI

TE
 A

RE
:

27
,48

8,9
74

 S
F/

63
1.0

6 A
C(

AS
SE

SS
ED

 A
CR

EA
GE

); 
27

,48
8,1

02
 S

F/
63

1.0
4 A

C 
(C

AL
C.

 A
CR

EA
GE

)
ZO

NI
NG

(S
):

R-
8, 

R-
10

, N
EI

GH
BO

RH
OO

D 
BU

SI
NE

SS
  (

B-
2)

HO
RI

ZO
NT

AL
 A

ND
 V

ER
TI

CA
L D

AT
UM

:
NA

D 
83

 F
 &

 N
AV

D 
88

 F

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 be

lo
w.

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
JD

av
is

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s, 

PL
LC

51
0 

G
le

nw
oo

d 
Av

en
ue

, S
ui

te
 2

01
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
3

91
9-

83
5-

15
00

91
9-

83
5-

15
10

 (f
ax

)
ke

nt
@

jd
av

is
ar

ch
ite

ct
s.c

om

en
gi

ne
er

Th
e 

Jo
hn

 R
. M

cA
da

m
s C

o,
 IN

C
29

05
 M

er
id

ia
n 

Pa
rk

w
ay

D
ur

ha
m

, N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

27
71

3
91

9-
36

1-
50

00
M

oo
re

@
M

cA
da

m
sC

o.
co

m
0

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

00
'

20
00

'
10

00
'

20
00

'

su
rv

ey
or

Th
e 

Jo
hn

 R
. M

cA
da

m
s C

o,
 IN

C
29

05
 M

er
id

ia
n 

Pa
rk

w
ay

D
ur

ha
m

, N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

27
71

3
91

9-
36

1-
50

00
Fr

ed
er

ic
k@

M
cA

da
m

sC
o.

co
m

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

BROOKHILL
 DRIVE

CO
VE

RE
D 

BR
ID

GE

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
Je

rr
y 

Tu
rn

er
 &

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s, 

IN
C

90
5 

Jo
ne

s F
ra

nk
lin

 R
oa

d
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
6

91
9-

85
1-

71
50

91
9-

85
1-

75
47

 (f
ax

)
w

ho
od

@
je

rr
yt

ur
ne

ra
ss

oc
.c

om

tr
af

fic
 e

ng
in

ee
r

D
av

en
po

rt
30

5 
W

es
t F

or
th

 S
tr

ee
t, 

Su
ite

 2
A

W
in

st
on

-S
al

em
, N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

10
1

33
6-

74
4-

16
36

33
6-

45
8-

93
77

 (f
ax

)

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l
Sp

an
gl

er
 E

nv
ir

on
m

en
ta

l, 
IN

C
43

38
 B

la
nd

 R
oa

d
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
9

91
9-

87
5-

42
88

91
9-

54
6-

07
57

 (f
ax

)

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 110 of 366



Page 111 of 366



Page 112 of 366



Page 113 of 366



OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

4

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

SI
TE

 D
AT

A:

SI
TE

 A
DD

RE
SS

: 
11

62
 C

OV
ER

ED
 B

RI
DG

E 
RO

AD
, C

LA
YT

ON
, J

OH
NS

TO
N 

CO
UN

TY
, N

C 
27

52
0

TO
W

N 
LIM

IT
 O

R 
ET

J:
W

IT
HI

N 
TO

W
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
, T

OW
N 

LIM
IT

AC
RE

AG
E:

27
,48

8,9
74

 S
F/

63
1.0

6 A
C 

(A
SS

ES
SE

D)
; 2

7,4
88

,10
2 S

F/
63

1.0
4 A

C 
(C

AL
C.

 A
RE

A)
NC

 P
IN

 N
UM

BE
R:

06
69

00
-3

8-
49

97
PA

RC
EL

 ID
/T

AG
:

05
H0

20
09

TA
X 

UN
IQ

UE
 ID

:
38

69
84

6
OW

NE
RS

:
NA

NC
Y 

CR
EW

S 
EA

RP
 &

 M
AR

Y 
EA

RP
 W

OR
LE

Y
OW

NE
RS

' A
DD

RE
SS

:
72

30
 N

C 
42

 E
AS

T,
 S

EL
MA

, N
C 

27
57

6
DE

ED
 B

OO
K:

BO
OK

 03
89

7, 
PA

GE
 07

35
ZO

NI
NG

(S
):

R-
8, 

R-
10

, N
B 

(B
-2

)
OV

ER
LA

Y 
DI

ST
RI

CT
:

W
AT

ER
SH

ED
 P

RO
TE

CT
IO

N 
OV

ER
LA

Y 
DI

ST
RI

CT
W

AT
ER

SH
ED

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N 

OV
ER

LA
Y:

YE
S 

(S
OU

TH
EA

ST
 P

OR
TI

ON
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 O

NL
Y)

RE
SO

UR
CE

 C
ON

SE
RV

AT
IO

N 
AR

EA
:

0 A
C

AN
NE

XA
TI

ON
 N

UM
BE

R:
N/

A
FE

MA
:

FI
RM

 P
AN

EL
 - 

37
20

17
60

00
J; 

EF
FE

CT
IV

E 
DA

TE
 - 

12
/02

/20
05

FL
OO

D 
PL

AI
N 

EX
IS

TS
 W

IT
HI

N 
TH

IS
 S

IT
E

EX
IS

TI
NG

 U
SE

:
VA

CA
NT

EX
IS

TI
NG

 D
EN

SI
TY

:
0 D

U 
/ A

C
PR

OP
OS

ED
 M

AX
IM

UM
 D

.U
:

2,2
00

PR
OP

OS
ED

 C
OM

ME
RC

IA
L M

AX
IM

UM
 S

F:
75

,00
0 S

F
PR

OP
OS

ED
 D

EN
SI

TY
:

3.4
9 D

U 
/ A

C
PR

OP
OS

ED
 U

SE
:

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L A

ND
 C

OM
ME

RC
IA

L
EL

EC
TR

IC
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

W
AT

ER
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

SE
W

ER
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

EX
IS

TI
NG

 IM
PE

RV
IO

US
 A

RE
A:

0 S
F 

/ 0
 A

C 
/ 0

 %
PR

OP
OS

ED
 IM

PE
RV

IO
US

 A
RE

A:
19

,24
2,2

81
 S

F 
/ 4

41
.74

 A
C 

/ 7
0%

OV
ER

AL
L M

AX
IM

UM
 IM

PE
RV

IO
US

 A
RE

A:
70

%

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 60

 F
EE

T 
& 

MI
NI

MU
M 

OF
 40

FE
ET

 A
PA

RT
.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

TR
EE

S 
(A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

NO
TE

S:

1.
TH

E 
IN

TE
RN

AL
 S

TR
EE

T 
SY

ST
EM

 A
S

DE
PI

CT
ED

 IS
 C

ON
CE

PT
UA

L O
NL

Y 
TO

SH
OW

 G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ES

IG
N 

AN
D

CO
NN

EC
TI

VI
TY

, A
ND

 T
HA

T 
AC

TU
AL

AL
IG

NM
EN

T 
MA

Y 
CH

AN
GE

 D
UR

IN
G 

FI
NA

L
PL

AT
 D

ES
IG

N.
 T

HE
 E

XC
EP

TI
ON

 IS
MO

DI
FI

CA
TI

ON
 O

F 
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
S

TO
 E

XT
ER

NA
L R

OA
DW

AY
 N

ET
W

OR
KS

 A
ND

MA
JO

R 
EN

TR
AN

CE
S 

TO
 T

HE
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T,
 W

HI
CH

 C
ON

ST
IT

UT
E 

A
MA

JO
R 

MO
DI

FI
CA

TI
ON

 A
ND

 M
US

T 
BE

AP
PR

OV
ED

 B
Y 

TH
E 

TO
W

N 
CO

UN
CI

L.

Page 114 of 366



10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C
MATCHLIN

E SHEET 4-B

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-A

4A

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- S
OU

TH

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- S
OU

TH

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 115 of 366



EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C
MATCHLIN

E SHEET 4-B

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-A

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-C

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-B

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

4B

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

20
0'

10
0'

0
20

0'
40

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
W

ES
T

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
W

ES
T

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

Page 116 of 366



OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-C

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-B

4C

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

20
0'

10
0'

0
20

0'
40

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
EA

ST

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
EA

ST

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 117 of 366



FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

19

22
2528

33

2

7

1

3

9

13

4

5

11

10

12

6

14

8

17
21

16

23

20

24
26

27

31
29

30

34

32 FU
TU

RE

35

15

18

5

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

NO
TE

S:

TH
E 

CL
UB

HO
US

E 
PE

RM
IT

 S
HA

LL
 B

E
RE

QU
IR

ED
 P

RI
OR

 T
O 

TH
E 

25
1S

T
BU

ILD
IN

G 
PE

RM
IT

.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 118 of 366



TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
BY

 O
TH

ER
S 

- P
HA

SE
 II

- C
ON

NE
CT

 T
O 

MT
ST

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

TO
T

TO
T

TO
T

PO
CK

ET

PO
CK

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OP
EN

PL
AY

FI
EL

DS

*

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y+/
- 4

00
'

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

C2015

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

RE
CR

EA
TI

ON
 &

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE
 P

LA
N

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
GR

EE
NW

AY
 - 

PH
AS

E 
II

BY
 O

TH
ER

S

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

 G
RE

EN
W

AY

DO
UB

LE
 S

ID
EW

AL
K

SI
DE

W
AL

K 
AN

D 
GR

EE
NW

AY

NO
TE

S:

AL
L A

CT
IV

E 
RE

CR
EA

TI
ON

 S
IT

ES
/P

AR
KS

 M
US

T
RE

CE
IV

E 
SE

PA
RA

TE
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

 A
PP

RO
VA

L.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

6

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT RE
CR

EA
TI

ON
 &

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE
 P

LA
N

.

Page 119 of 366



*

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

*3

CL
UB

HO
US

E

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
TO

 P
RI

VA
TE

ST
RE

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 -

PH
AS

E 
II -

 C
ON

NE
CT

TO
 M

TS
T

OL
D 

RO
AD

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T.
PO

SS
IB

LE
 R

EU
SE

 A
S

PR
IV

AT
E 

RO
AD

PR
OP

OS
ED

RE
AL

IG
NM

EN
T

BY
 N

CD
OT

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

C2015

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

W
AI

VE
R 

RE
QU

ES
TS

:

1.
AL

L I
NT

ER
NA

L S
TR

EE
TS

 W
ILL

 H
AV

E 
SI

DE
W

AL
K

ON
 A

T 
LE

AS
T 

ON
E 

SI
DE

 T
O 

PR
OV

ID
E 

A
NE

TW
OR

K 
OF

 P
ED

ES
TR

IA
N 

AC
CE

SS
TH

RO
UG

HO
UT

 T
HE

 S
IT

E 
AN

D 
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

TO
 T

HE
 P

RI
VA

TE
 IN

TE
RN

AL
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

 T
HA

T
W

ILL
 C

ON
NE

CT
 T

O 
TH

E 
FU

TU
RE

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 E

XT
EN

SI
ON

.

2.
TH

IS
 P

RO
PO

SA
L R

EQ
UE

ST
S 

TH
AT

 IN
 A

LL
ST

RE
ET

 S
EC

TI
ON

S,
 S

TA
ND

AR
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

GU
TT

ER
 C

AN
 B

E 
IN

TE
RC

HA
NG

ED
 W

IT
H 

TO
W

N
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 V
AL

LE
Y 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R 

OR
RO

LL
ED

 C
UR

B 
AN

D 
GU

TT
ER

.

*3
PR

OP
OS

ED
 R

ES
ID

EN
TI

AL
 S

TR
EE

T 
W

IT
H

CA
L-

DE
-S

AC
 E

XC
EE

DS
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
MA

XI
MU

M 
LE

NG
TH

.  R
EQ

UE
ST

 A
PP

RO
VA

L O
F

1,0
00

 LF
 C

AL
-D

E-
SA

C.

4. 
TH

IS
 P

RO
PO

SA
L R

EQ
UE

ST
S 

TH
AT

 A
LL

PL
AN

TE
R 

ST
RI

PS
 B

E 
IN

CR
EA

SE
D 

TO
 6'

 W
ID

E
AN

D 
TH

AT
 T

RE
E 

SP
EC

IE
S 

AR
E 

TO
 B

E
AP

PR
OV

ED
 B

Y 
TH

E 
PL

AN
NI

NG
 D

IR
EC

TO
R.

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

RE
FE

R 
SH

EE
T 

8 O
F 

8 F
OR

 S
TR

EE
T

W
AI

VE
R 

RE
QU

ES
TS

VE
HI

CU
LA

R 
& 

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
CI

RC
UL

AT
IO

N 
PL

AN

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 D
EV

EL
OP

ER

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T 

(N
CD

OT
)

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

(N
CD

OT
)

BR
OO

KH
ILL

 D
RI

VE
 (E

XI
ST

IN
G 

NC
DO

T)

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OV

ER
ED

 B
RI

DG
E 

RO
AD

 (N
CD

OT
)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

UB
LIC

)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L C

OL
LE

CT
OR

 S
TR

EE
T 

(P
UB

LIC
)

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
- P

HA
SE

 II
BY

 O
TH

ER
S

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

RI
VA

TE
)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

LY
 M

AI
NT

AI
NE

D
GR

EE
NW

AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 N
CD

OT

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L M

AI
N 

EN
TR

AN
CE

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
MU

ST
 B

E 
PL

AC
ED

 A
MA

XI
MU

M 
OF

 60
 F

EE
T 

AP
AR

T

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
(A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

NO
TE

:

TH
E 

IN
TE

RN
AL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SY
ST

EM
 A

S 
DE

PI
CT

ED
 IS

CO
NC

EP
TU

AL
 O

NL
Y 

TO
 S

HO
W

 G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ES

IG
N 

AN
D

CO
NN

EC
TI

VI
TY

, A
ND

 T
HA

T 
AC

TU
AL

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T 
MA

Y
CH

AN
GE

 D
UR

IN
G 

FI
NA

L P
LA

T 
DE

SI
GN

. T
HE

 E
XC

EP
TI

ON
 IS

MO
DI

FI
CA

TI
ON

 O
F 

CO
NN

EC
TI

ON
 P

OI
NT

S 
TO

 E
XT

ER
NA

L
RO

AD
W

AY
 N

ET
W

OR
KS

 A
ND

 M
AJ

OR
 E

NT
RA

NC
ES

 T
O 

TH
E

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T,

 W
HI

CH
 C

ON
ST

IT
UT

E 
A 

MA
JO

R
MO

DI
FI

CA
TI

ON
 A

ND
 M

US
T 

BE
 A

PP
RO

VE
D 

BY
 T

HE
 T

OW
N

CO
UN

CI
L.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

7

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT VE
HI

CU
LA

R 
& 

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN

CI
RC

UL
AT

IO
N 

PL
AN

.

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

Page 120 of 366



CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

5'

BUILDING FACE

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5.5
'

GR
EE

NW
AY

EA
SE

ME
NT

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE54
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-E

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

15
.5'

6.5
'

POND SIDE ROW

ROW

2.5
'

DI
TC

H

CENTER LINE

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

6' 
MI

NI
MU

M
3:1

 M
AX

 C
UT

OR
 F

ILL

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

CO
MM

ON
 A

RE
A

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5'

VA
RI

AB
LE

 W
ID

TH
GR

EE
NW

AY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

CENTER LINE51
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

CENTER LINE70
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
45

' E
-E

ROW

10
.5'

PA
RA

LL
EL

 P
AR

KI
NG

ROW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
6.5

'
6.5

'
10

.5'
PA

RA
LL

EL
 P

AR
KI

NG
6'

SI
DE

W
AL

K

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

6'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

10
'

20
' E

-E

10
'

ROW

ROW

DI
TC

H
DI

TC
H 20
'

20
'

5'
SH

OU
LD

ER
5'

SH
OU

LD
ER

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

6.5
' M

IN
IM

UM

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

82
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

ROW

17
'

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

2.5
'

CENTER LINE

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

ROW

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

CENTER LINE50
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

13
.5'

27
' B

-B

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
13

.5'
6.5

'

ROW

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'
2'

2.5
'

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
6.5

'

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

CENTER LINE20
'

EA
SE

ME
NT

 O
R 

CO
MM

ON
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y

8'
8'

16
' E

-E

1
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

 (N
CD

OT
)

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

2
EA

RP
 P

ON
D 

RO
AD

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

3
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

6
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

I"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

NO
TE

S:

1.
IN

 A
LL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SE
CT

IO
NS

, S
TA

ND
AR

D 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
CA

N 
BE

 IN
TE

RC
HA

NG
ED

 W
IT

H 
TO

W
N 

OF
CL

AY
TO

N 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 V

AL
LE

Y 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
OR

 R
OL

LE
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R.

2.
TH

E 
UL

TI
MA

TE
 S

EC
TI

ON
 F

OR
 A

LL
 N

CD
OT

 R
OA

DS
 O

N 
TH

E 
PE

RI
ME

TE
R 

OF
 T

HE
 P

RO
JE

CT
 W

ILL
 B

E
DE

TE
RM

IN
ED

 B
AS

ED
 O

N 
TI

A,
 N

CD
OT

, A
ND

 T
OW

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 R
EC

OM
ME

ND
AT

IO
NS

.

3.
DE

VE
LO

PE
R 

TO
 P

RO
VI

DE
 10

' M
UL

TI
PU

RP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L I

N 
LIE

U 
OF

 S
ID

EW
AL

KS
 O

N 
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

AN
D 

N.
ON

EI
L S

TR
EE

T

5
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

" -
 LO

W
 D

EN
SI

TY
 O

PT
IO

N
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

4
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L M
AI

N 
EN

TR
AN

CE
 A

LT
ER

NA
TE

 "C
"

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

7
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

II"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

8
AL

LE
Y

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
9

NO
TE

S
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A 

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 40

 F
EE

T 
ON

 C
EN

TE
R 

OR
 50

 F
EE

T 
AP

AR
T.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
 (A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

8

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT ST
RE

ET
 W

AI
VE

R 
RE

QU
ES

TS

. .

Page 121 of 366



 

Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development 
Clayton, NC 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS
 Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co.

Project Number: 14-425 
11/6/2014 

This report is printed on recycled paper with 30% 
post-consumer content. 

All paper is FSC Certified. The entire document, 
including binding, is 100% recyclable. 

Page 122 of 366



Page 123 of 366



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
November 6, 2014 

Executive Summary 

The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. The site plan is shown in Figure 1. This study analyzes two phases for the 
property’s development. Phase 1 is located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 
is located north of Covered Bridge Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O'Neil Street. 

Phase 1 development assumed 498 single family dwelling units and 320 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road and one (1) access 
point on O’Neil Street.  

Full Build development (including Phase 1) was assumed to have a total of 1,118 
single family dwelling units, 643 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units 
and 25,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2019. 

It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  

DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3
5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5
8. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 6
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 7
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 8
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road

Page 124 of 366



According to the site plan there are an additional five (5) access points along state 
maintained roads, one (1) on Covered Bridge Road and four (4) on Brookhill Drive. 
These roads are designed into a network of residential streets that have other outlets to 
the main corridor. Since the majority of this development is residential and is the 
primary generator of traffic, it was assumed that the percentage of traffic would be low 
at these access points. Therefore, the study intersections were narrowed down to the 
major access points on the state maintained roads.  

The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  

• 2014 Existing Conditions
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary)
• 2019 Future No Build Conditions
• 2019 Full Build-Out Conditions
• 2019 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary)

NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to ascertain the elements 
to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). Information regarding the 
property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 

Page 125 of 366



Phase 1 - Discussion of Results 

The following section discusses 2017 Phase 1 level of service for each intersection. 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. No improvements are recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 

In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. No improvements are 
recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

This intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks during 
Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound right turn 
lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  In order 
to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM 
peak and LOS C in the PM peak. 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak.  

Page 126 of 366



This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 

• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 9.7 seconds and the PM 
delay by 125.6 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues. 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 

In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  

As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 

• Signalize the intersection
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 200 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 200 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 

Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1.  

Page 127 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,3

50
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~1
,2

60
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

200'10
0'

200'

100'

100'
10

0'

10
0'

~1
,1

80
' 10

0'

100'

~2
,1

80
'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
9

P
H

A
S

E
1 

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil Street

City Road

Shotwell Road

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

Page 128 of 366



Phase 1 Level of Service Summary 

Table A presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 

Table A - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 
Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (18.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1 

C (17.4) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.3) 
SB Approach 

C (21.8) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

C (15.7) 
NB Approach 

B (13.9) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.0) 
EB Approach 

D (27.1) 
EB Approach 

C (17.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 B (12.6) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (40.5) 
WB Approach 

F (266.0) 
WB Approach 

C (23.5) 
Signalized 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 
Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (18.4) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1 

C (21.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
SB Approach 

D (31.6) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

C (20.2) 
NB Approach 

C (16.9) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (104.1) 
EB Approach 

F (254.7) 
EB Approach 

F (129.1) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 B (14.5) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (50.9) 
WB Approach 

F (426.5) 
WB Approach 

B (16.4) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 129 of 366



Full Build Discussion of Results 

The following section discusses 2019 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 

In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak 
and LOS F in the PM. The LOS E/F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized 
intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In 
addition, site traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including 
signals, which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 

• Signalize the intersection
• Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 400 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of

100 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a southbound full storage for left turn and through-right turn lanes

With these improvements, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 

Page 130 of 366



Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic, LOS E is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak with the 
improvements in place from Phase 1. It is recommended to signalize this intersection in 
order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 

With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and 
PM peaks. 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 6 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS D in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. A LOS E is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 7 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 8 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS A in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Page 131 of 366



Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the recommended improvements in place from 
Phase 1, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in 
the PM peak. 

Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build. 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street – South Leg 
Looking North 

Page 132 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,3

50
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

~5
00

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~6
75

'

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

200'10
0'

200'

100'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

10
0'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5 Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

40
0'

15
0'

100'

FULL

100'

10
0'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

FULL

Page 133 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

8

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

~380'~1,820'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~200'~760'

~1,050'

Page 134 of 366



Full Build Level of Service Summary 

Table B presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 

Table B - Level of Service Summary – Full Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2019 Future 
No Build  2019 Full Build 2019 Full Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at 
City Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (13.1) 
SB Approach 

F (50.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 1 

E (42.5) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (44.5) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 3 

C (17.5) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (19.0) 
EB Approach 

E (37.9) 
EB Approach 

 B (12.9) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site 
Access 4 

B (13.1) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 5 

B (14.7) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 6 

D (31.1) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 7 

C (15.7) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 8 

B (10.5) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 9 

B (11.2) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 10 

B (11.6) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 11 

B (10.3) 
WB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (50.5) 
WB Approach 

D (44.5) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 135 of 366



Table B - Level of Service Summary – Full Build Conditions cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2019 Future 
No Build  2019 Full Build 2019 Full Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at 
City Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.4) 
NB Approach 

F (61.5) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 1 

F (66.7) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.6) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (41.1) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 3 

D (33.8) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (139.1) 
EB Approach 

F (406.3) 
EB Approach 

 B (18.5) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site 
Access 4 

C (15.1) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 5 

C (17.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 6 

E (48.5) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 7 

C (17.4) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 8 

A (9.3) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 9 

B (11.7) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 10 

B (12.5) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 11 

B (10.9) 
WB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (64.7) 
WB Approach 

C (21.7) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 136 of 366



Summary and Conclusion 

DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  

The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  

This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 

Phase 1 development assumed 498 single family dwelling units and 320 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road and one (1) access 
point on O’Neil Street.  

Full Build development (including Phase 1) was assumed to have a total of 1,118 
single family dwelling units, 643 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units 
and 25,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2019. 

Table C on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase. Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 and Figure 14 for Phase 1 and Full 
Build, respectively.  

In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  

Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 

Page 137 of 366



Table C - Recommended Improvement Summary 
Intersection Phase 1 Full Build 

Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill 

Drive/ Site Access 2 
No improvements 

• Signalize intersection
• Provide eastbound left turn lane

of 400 feet of storage with
appropriate taper

• Provide westbound left turn lane
of 150 feet of storage with
appropriate taper

• Provide a northbound left turn
lane of full storage and a
through-right turn lane of 100
feet of storage with appropriate
taper

• Provide a southbound full
storage for left turn and through-
right turn lanes

Covered Bridge 
Road at Site 

Access 3 

• Provide eastbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide westbound left turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide separate northbound
right turn lane of 100 feet of
storage with appropriate taper

No additional improvements 

Covered Bridge 
Road at O’Neil 

Street 

• Provide northbound left turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide southbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide eastbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Realignment as depicted in
site plan

• Signalize intersection

Covered Bridge 
Road at Shotwell 

Road 

• Signalize intersection
• Provide northbound left turn

lane of 200 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide southbound right turn
lane of 200 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Restripe westbound lane to
provide right lane with 100 feet
of storage and appropriate
taper

No additional improvements 

*All other intersections require no improvements

Page 138 of 366



Page 139 of 366



Page 140 of 366



Page 141 of 366



Page 142 of 366



Page 143 of 366



Page 144 of 366



Page 145 of 366



Page 146 of 366



Page 147 of 366



Page 148 of 366



Page 149 of 366



Page 150 of 366



Page 151 of 366



Page 152 of 366



 

Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development 
Clayton, NC 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS
 Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co.

Project Number: 14-425 
Original: 11/6/2014 
Revised: 2/27/2015 

This report is printed on recycled paper with 30% 
post-consumer content. 

All paper is FSC Certified. The entire document, 
including binding, is 100% recyclable. 

Page 153 of 366



Page 154 of 366



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development. Phase 1 is 
located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 is located north of Covered Bridge 
Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the southwest corner of Covered Bridge 
Road and O'Neil Street. 
 
In November 2014, a transportation impact analysis (TIA) was submitted to the Town of 
Clayton and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). Since the 
submittal, the site plan has been updated with revised access points and land uses. 
This TIA has been updated to reflect the latest site plan.  
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 
 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

Page 155 of 366



5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
8. O’Neil Street at Site Access 6  
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
15. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
16. City Road at Site Access 7 
17. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 

 
The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  
 

• 2014 Existing Conditions 
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions  
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 
• 2025 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2025 Full Build-Out Conditions  
• 2025 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 

 
Town of Clayton and NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to 
ascertain the elements to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). 
Information regarding the property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 
 

 

Page 156 of 366



Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results 
 
As discussed in the introduction, Phase 1 considers build out of property located south 
of Covered Bridge Road. As currently planned, Phase 1 development assumes 511 
single family dwelling units and 312 townhome dwelling units. The following section 
discusses 2017 Phase 1 Build level of service for each intersection. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peaks. The LOS E condition is typical for 
minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and 
limited to the peak periods and SimTraffic model does not indicate any queuing issues. 
Therefore, no improvements are recommended. 
  
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
This intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM 
peak during Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 125 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peaks.  
 

Page 157 of 366



This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 11.5 seconds and the PM 
delay by 138.3 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues.  
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  
 
As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Signalize the intersection 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 250 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 225 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
A in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1 in the report. 
  

Page 158 of 366



Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary 
 
Table A presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table A - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (19.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (17.0) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.4) 
SB Approach 

C (24.7) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

B (14.8) 
NB Approach 

B (13.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.6) 
EB Approach 

D (30.2) 
EB Approach 

C (18.7) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (12.5)  

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (41.8) 
WB Approach 

F (275.3) 
WB Approach 

C (23.3) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (20.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (20.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

E (36.8) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

C (18.6) 
NB Approach 

C (16.1) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (120.4) 
EB Approach 

F (292.7) 
EB Approach 

F (154.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (54.3) 
WB Approach 

F (452.2) 
WB Approach 

B (14.9) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 159 of 366



Full Build Discussion of Results 
 
Full Build considers the development located north of Covered Bridge Road and the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street. Full Build, including 
Phase 1, development assumes to have a total of 1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 
townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 square feet of retail. 
This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2025. 
 
The following section discusses 2025 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 
During the review of the TIA, the Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested that the 
following intersections: Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street, be analyzed as a 
roundabout for the future full build-out conditions. The roundabout analyses were 
analyzed with SIDRA, reports are in the appendix. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. The traffic simulation does not indicate any queuing issues at this 
intersection. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was tested at the intersection for future conditions. During 
the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS 
F in the AM and PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is expected to 
operate at LOS E in the AM and PM peaks. The roundabout is not expected to fail after 
zero (0) years in the AM and PM peak. The NCDOT Guidelines dictate that “the design 
of a roundabout should be based on projected traffic 20 years after completion of 
construction.” Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to have 
sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and 
PM peaks. The LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. 
The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site 
traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, 
which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 

Page 160 of 366



expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 
 

• Signalize the intersection  
• Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 425 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of 

100 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a southbound left turn lane of 150 feet storage for left turn lane 

 
With this improvement, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was analyzed for this intersection. During the 2025 future 
build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks but it is expected to fail in four 
(4) years in the AM peak and two (2) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a 
roundabout is not anticipated to have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. The LOS E 
and F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are 
expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site traffic will have 
the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, which will serve as a 
relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no additional improvements are 
recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic and the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. It is recommended to signalize 
this intersection in order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 
 
With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak 
and LOS C in the PM peak. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, this intersection was analyzed as a roundabout in future conditions. 
During the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peaks. This roundabout is expected to 
fail after two (2) years in the AM peak and to exceed the desired level of saturation 
before the first year in the PM peak. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 

Page 161 of 366



expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. This 
roundabout is expected to operate for twenty (20) years for the AM peak but fail in nine 
(9) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to 
have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
With these improvements in place, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 6 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
  
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 

Page 162 of 366



Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic and the 
recommended improvements in place from Phase 1, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS A in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in 
the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. A LOS E/F is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build in the report.  
 
 

Page 163 of 366



Level of Service Summary 
 
Table B presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table B - Level of Service Summary 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (14.1) 
SB Approach 

F (80.3) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (64.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.2) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (46.6) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

E (40.1) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (24.5) 
EB Approach 

F (94.9) 
EB Approach 

B (13.7) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.5) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
B (12.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (20.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (18.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (11.5) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (117.6) 
WB Approach 

D (48.3) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.2) 

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

E (36.8) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 164 of 366



Table B - Level of Service Summary cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

F (165.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (107.4) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (13.7) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (42.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

F (88.6) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (317.6) 
EB Approach 

F (692.7) 
EB Approach 

C (20.6) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
C (17.7) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

E (37.7) 
NB Approach 

D (35.0) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
C (16.0) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (21.3) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (19.0) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (10.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.8) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.6) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (165.0) 
WB Approach 

C (26.7) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.8)  

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.3) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

F (59.4) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 165 of 366



Left-over Access 
 
As requested by NCDOT, an analysis was conducted for full build conditions with a left-
over condition (left in, right in and right out) at Site Access 1, Site Access 3 and Site 
Access 5. The left turning movements at Site Access 1, 3 and 5 were redirected to the 
Brookhill Drive access point as shown in Figure 15 in the report. Figure 16 illustrates the 
full build volumes for this condition in the report. The resulting level of service is 
discussed below for intersections that experienced a change in level of service. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept in place, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to conditions without the left-
over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor street left turns. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
With the left-over condition in place at Site Accesses 1, 3, and 5, additional traffic was 
routed to this signalized intersection. With improvements previously recommended in 
place, this intersection is anticipated to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
To accommodate the additional volumes, it is recommended to extend the southbound 
left turn lane to 175 feet of storage with appropriate taper. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With the left-over condition in place, a single exiting lane can be 
provided. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With improvements previously recommended in place, this intersection 
is anticipated to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
All remaining study intersections’ level of service and improvements remained the same 
as the full access condition. 
  
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 17 for Full Build with the left-over condition.  
 

Page 166 of 366



Level of Service Summary 
 
Table C presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table C - Level of Service Summary – Left-Over Access Conditions 

Intersections 

Full Build with Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1 

C (24.1) 
SB Approach 

C (21.0) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

 D (55.0) 
Signalized 

D (52.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5 

B (10.6) 
NB Approach 

B (12.5) 
NB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

  

Page 167 of 366



Summary and Conclusion  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  
 
This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
The Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested roundabout analyses be conducted for the 
intersections of Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street. The analysis found that a 
roundabout was anticipated to operate at an unacceptable level of service in full build 
conditions, and/or the roundabout was anticipated to fail within the 20 year design 
timeframe. 
 
In addition, NCDOT requested that Site Accesses 1, 3 and 5 be analyzed with a left-
over condition. Analysis results show that acceptable level of service is anticipated at 
the study intersections with the recommended improvements in place. 
  
Table D on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase.  
 
In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  
 
Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 
  
 

Page 168 of 366



Table D –  Recommended Improvement Summary 

 

No Build Phase 1 Full Build 

2014 
(0 Lots) 

2015 
(250 Lots) 

2016 
(500 
Lots) 

2017 
(823 Lots) 

2018 
(1,075 Lots) 

2019 
(1,325 Lots) 

2020 
(1,575 Lots + Retail) 

2021 
(1,825 Lots) 

2022 
(2,075 
Lots) 

2023-
2025 

(2,200 
Lots) 

Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 
     

Provide SBL turn lane 150 feet 
storage and appropriate taper 
(175 feet in left-over condition) 

• Provide EBL turn lane 
with 425 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 150 feet of storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NB through-right 
turn lane with 150 feet 
storage and appropriate 
taper 

Signalize 
intersection   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 3  

• Provide EBR turn lane with 125 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane with 100 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide NB through-right turn 
lane with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

Covered Bridge Road 
at O’Neil Street 

(Note: Although turn 
lanes are currently 

needed, they will be 
provided during 

realignment) 

  

• Realign intersection 
per site plan 

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide SBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

Signalize 
intersection      

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 5       

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Shotwell Road 

Signalize 
intersection 

• Provide NBR turn lane with 250 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide SBL turn lane with 225 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBR turn lane with 
100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

 

Page 169 of 366



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 3 
Figure 1 – Site Plan ..................................................................................................... 5 
Figure 2A – Site Location Map .................................................................................... 6 
Figure 2B – Vicinity Map .............................................................................................. 7 

2.0 Existing Conditions ........................................................................................................... 8 
2.1 Inventory ................................................................................................................ 8 
2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................ 8 
Figure 3 – Existing Lane Geometry ............................................................................. 9 
Figure 4 – 2014 Existing Traffic Volumes .................................................................. 10 

3.0 Approved Developments and Committed Improvements ............................................. 11 
3.1 Approved Developments ...................................................................................... 11 
3.2 Committed Improvements .................................................................................... 11 

4.0 Methodology .................................................................................................................... 11 
4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards ....................................................................... 11 

5.0 Capacity Analysis ............................................................................................................ 12 
5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria ..................................................................... 12 

6.0 Existing Conditions ......................................................................................................... 13 
6.1 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 13 

7.0 Phase 1 Build Conditions ................................................................................................ 14 
7.1 Trip Generation .................................................................................................... 14 
7.2 Trip Distribution .................................................................................................... 14 
7.3 2017 Future No Build Traffic ................................................................................ 14 
7.4 2017 Phase 1 Future Build Traffic ....................................................................... 15 
Figure 5 – Phase 1 Residential Trip Distribution ........................................................ 16 
Figure 6 – 2017 Future No Build Volumes ................................................................. 17 
Figure 7 – Phase 1 Build Residential Site Trips ......................................................... 18 
Figure 8 – 2017 Phase 1 Build Volumes .................................................................... 19 
7.5 Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results.................................................................... 20 
7.6 Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary ............................................................ 22 
Figure 9 – Phase 1 Build Recommended Improvements ........................................... 23 

8.0 Full Build Conditions ....................................................................................................... 24 
8.1 Trip Generation .................................................................................................... 24 
8.2 Residential Trip Distribution ................................................................................. 25 
8.3 Retail Trip Distribution .......................................................................................... 25 
8.4 2025 Future No Build Traffic ................................................................................ 25 
8.5 2025 Full Build Traffic .......................................................................................... 25 
Figure 10 – 2025 Future No Build Volumes ............................................................... 26 
Figure 11A – Full Build Residential Trip Distribution .................................................. 27 
Figure 11B – Full Build Retail Trip Distribution .......................................................... 28 

Page 170 of 366



Figure 11C – Full Build Pass-by Trip Distribution ...................................................... 29 
Figure 12A – Full Build Residential Site Trips ............................................................ 30 
Figure 12B – Full Build Retail Site Trips .................................................................... 31 
Figure 12C – Full Build Pass-by Site Trips ................................................................ 32 
Figure 13 – 2025 Full Build Volumes ......................................................................... 33 
8.6 Full Build Discussion of Results ........................................................................... 34 
8.7 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 38 
Figure 14 – Full Build Recommended Improvements ................................................ 40 
8.8 Left-over Access .................................................................................................. 41 
8.9 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 42 
Figure 15 – Rerouted Volumes .................................................................................. 43 
Figure 16 – 2025 Left-Over Condition- Full Build Volumes ........................................ 44 
Figure 17 – Left-Over Condition - Full Build Recommended Improvements .............. 45 

9.0 Summary and Conclusion ............................................................................................... 46 
Appendix ................................................................................................................................. 48 

Level of Service Analysis ....................................................................................... 49 
Trip Generation ...................................................................................................... 67 
Traffic Volume Data ............................................................................................... 68 
Supporting Documentation ..................................................................................... 69 

Page 171 of 366



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. The site plan is shown in Figure 1. This study analyzes two phases for the 
property’s development. Phase 1 is located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 
is located north of Covered Bridge Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O'Neil Street. 
 
In November 2014, a transportation impact analysis (TIA) was submitted to the Town of 
Clayton and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). Since the 
submittal, the site plan has been updated with revised access points and land uses. 
This TIA has been updated to reflect the latest site plan.  
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 
 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

Page 172 of 366



5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
8. O’Neil Street at Site Access 6  
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
15. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
16. City Road at Site Access 7 
17. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 

 
The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  
 

• 2014 Existing Conditions 
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions  
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 
• 2025 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2025 Full Build-Out Conditions  
• 2025 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 

 
Town of Clayton and NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to 
ascertain the elements to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). 
Information regarding the property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 
 

Page 173 of 366



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

 
S

IT
E

 P
LA

N
 

  

Page 174 of 366



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 2

A 
S

IT
E

 L
O

C
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
P

 

  S
IT

E
 IN

D
IC

A
TO

R
 

  

Page 175 of 366



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 2

B 
V

IC
IN

IT
Y 

M
A

P 
S

TU
D

Y 
IN

TE
R

S
E

C
TI

O
N

S
 

E
XI

S
TI

N
G

 
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 

   
   

   
   

   

 

1.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 C

ity
 R

oa
d 

2.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 S

ite
 

A
cc

es
s 

1 
3.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e/

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

2 
4.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ite

 
A

cc
es

s 
3 

5.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 O

’N
ei

l 
S

tre
et

 
6.

 
O

’N
ei

l S
tre

et
 a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

4 
7.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ite

 
A

cc
es

s 
5 

8.
 

O
’N

ei
l a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

6 
9.

 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

9 
10

. 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

10
 

11
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
11

 
12

. 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

12
 

13
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
13

 
14

. 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ho

tw
el

l 
R

oa
d 

15
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
14

 
16

. 
C

ity
 R

oa
d 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
7 

17
. 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

8 

Page 176 of 366



2.0 Existing Conditions 
 
2.1 Inventory 
 
A field investigation was conducted by DAVENPORT staff to determine the existing 
roadway conditions in the study area. Table 2.1 presents a summary of this review.  
Figure 3 illustrates the existing lane geometry. 

 
Table 2.1 - Street Inventory 

Facility 
Name Route # Typical Cross 

Section 
Pavement 

Width 
Speed 
Limit Maintained By 

City Road SR 1709 2-lane undivided Approx. 20’ 55 MPH NCDOT 

Brookhill 
Drive SR 2620 2-lane undivided Approx. 22’ 35 MPH NCDOT 

O’Neil Street SR 1708 2-lane undivided Approx. 20’ 45 MPH  NCDOT 

Covered 
Bridge Road SR 1700 2-lane undivided  Approx. 24’ 

Not Posted 
Assumed  
40 MPH 

NCDOT 

Smith Drive SR 1768 2-lane undivided  Approx. 20’ 25 MPH NCDOT 

Shotwell 
Road SR 1553 2-lane undivided Approx. 22' 45 MPH NCDOT 

 
2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
Existing traffic volumes for this project were collected by DAVENPORT staff.  Table 2.2 
below contains the dates these counts were conducted. Traffic volumes were balanced 
between the study intersections. School was in session at the time of traffic counts. 
Figure 4 shows existing AM and PM peak hour volumes. More information can be found 
in the Traffic Volume Data section of the appendix.   
 

Table 2.2 - Traffic Volume Data 

Count Location: Date Taken: By: 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 10/21/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Page 177 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~3
,2

00
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~3
,3

00
'

Smith Drive

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

35

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

25

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

55

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
3

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 L
A

N
E

 
G

E
O

M
E

T
R

Y

O'Neil Street

City Road

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

45

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

55

Shotwell Road

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

45

Page 178 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

32
 / 

11

31
8 

/ 1
88

10 / 38
152 / 290

69 / 29
279 / 2

1 
/ 1

8
29

9 
/ 1

93

8 
/ 4

8
83

 / 
28

7

17 / 17

48 / 18

94
 / 

29
3

6 
/ 1

1

266 / 285
297 / 203

202 / 
3 / 8

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

32
8 

/ 1
92

17
 / 

17

8 
/ 1

3
70

 / 
31

6
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
19 / 6
18 / 7

15 / 18
0 / 15
4 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 4

 
E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 T

R
A

FF
IC

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

94
262

315

City Road

8

Page 179 of 366



3.0 Approved Developments and Committed Improvements 

3.1 Approved Developments 

Approved developments are developments that have been recently approved in the 
area, but not yet constructed. Per Town of Clayton, there is one approved 
developments to be considered in this analysis. The Ashcroft Development is a 150 
single family unit development located off of O’Neil Street and Sam’s Branch Greenway. 
A TIA has not been provided to include the distribution of trips; therefore, an assumption 
of distribution has been analyzed based on existing traffic patterns and engineering 
judgment. A distribution and site trip figures can be found in the Appendix. These trips 
are expected to be in place in build conditions of this development. 

3.2 Committed Improvements 

Committed Improvements are improvements that are planned by NCDOT, a local 
municipality, or a developer in the area, but not yet constructed.  Per NCDOT, there are 
no committed developments in the study area. 

4.0 Methodology 

4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards 

In general, the analysis for this project was conducted utilizing commonly accepted 
NCDOT standards.  The following table contains a summary of the base assumptions: 

Table 4.1 - Assumptions 

Peak Hour Factor 0.90 

Background Traffic  Annual Growth Rate 2.0% per year for all roadways 

Base Signal Timing/Phasing N/A 

Analysis Software Synchro/SimTraffic Version 8.0 
Sidra Intersection 6 

Lane widths 12-feet 

Truck percentages 2% background traffic 

Page 180 of 366



5.0 Capacity Analysis 
 
5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria 
 
The Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) utilizes a term 
“level of service” to measure how traffic operates in intersections and on roadway 
segments.  There are currently six levels of service ranging from A to F.  Level of 
service “A” represents the best conditions and Level of Service “F” represents the worst.  
Synchro Traffic Modeling software was used to determine the level of service for studied 
intersections.  Note for unsignalized intersection analysis, the level of service noted is 
for the worst approach of the intersection.  This is typically the left turn movement for 
the side street approach, due to the number of opposing movements. Sidra Intersection 
software was used to determine the level of service for roundabouts. All worksheet 
reports from the analyses can be found in the Appendix.   
 

 

Table 5.1  – Highway Capacity Manual 

Levels of Service and Control Delay Criteria 

Signalized Intersection Unsignalized Intersection 

Level of Service Control Delay Per 
vehicle (sec) Level of Service Delay Range 

(sec) 

A ≤ 10 A ≤ 10 

B > 10 and ≤ 20 B > 10 and ≤ 15 

C > 20 and ≤ 35 C > 15 and ≤ 25 

D > 35 and ≤ 55 D > 25 and ≤ 35 

E > 55 and ≤ 80 E > 35 and ≤ 50 

F > 80 F > 50 

Page 181 of 366



6.0 Existing Conditions 
 
In order to measure the impact of this project and identify any pre-existing capacity 
problems, an analysis was conducted for the existing conditions for all the study 
intersections. It should be noted that the intersections of Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil 
Street and Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road currently experience LOS F in the 
PM peaks. In addition, the existing volumes at these intersections indicate that the 
MUTCD Peak Hour Volumes, Warrant 4, is satisfied.  
 
Table 6.1 summarizes the existing level of service results. 
 
6.1 Level of Service Summary 

 
Table 6.1 - Level of Service Summary 

Intersection 2014 AM Existing 2014 PM Existing 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.6)  
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest 

delay 

Page 182 of 366



7.0 Phase 1 Build Conditions  
 
As discussed in the introduction, Phase 1 considers build out of property located south 
of Covered Bridge Road. As currently planned, Phase 1 development assumes 511 
single family dwelling units and 312 townhome dwelling units. 
 
7.1 Trip Generation 
 
Trips for this development were projected using TripGen 2013 software, based on the 
9th edition of ITE Trip Generation Manual. Table 7.1 contains the results. 
 

Table 7.11 - ITE Trip Generation – Phase 1 
Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development Clayton, NC 

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
24 Hour 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak 
Hour Two-

Way 

Land Use 
ITE 

Land 
Code 

Size Volume Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Phase 1 
Single Family 

Homes 210 511  Dwelling 
Units 4,710 92 275 287 169 

Townhomes/ 
Condos 230 312  Dwelling 

Units 1,731 22 106 103 50 

Total Trips 6,441 114 381 390 219 
 
 
7.2 Trip Distribution 
 
Site trips for this proposed development were distributed based on the existing traffic 
patterns and engineering judgment. The Phase 1 trip distribution model is shown in 
Figure 5 and the directional distributions for the site trips are as follows: 
 

• 55% to/from the south on Shotwell Road 
• 25% to/from the north on Covered Bridge Road 
• 10% to/from the north on Shotwell Road 
• 5% to/from the south on City Road  
• 5% to/from the north on O’Neil Street 

 
7.3 2017 Future No Build Traffic 
 
The 2017 future no build traffic volumes were computed by applying a 2.0% 
compounded annual growth rate to the 2014 existing traffic volumes. Figure 6 shows 
the 2017 future no build traffic volumes for AM and PM peaks.   
 

Page 183 of 366



7.4 2017 Phase 1 Future Build Traffic 
 
The 2017 Phase 1 traffic volumes were obtained by summing 2017 future no build 
volumes, Phase 1 site trips due to the proposed project. Phase 1 Build residential site 
trips are shown in Figure 7. The resulting build volume totals for AM and PM peaks are 
shown in Figure 8. More information can be found in the Traffic Volume Data section of 
the appendix. 

 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road – West Leg 
Looking East 

Page 184 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

2%
25

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

3%
 O

U
T

65
%

 O
U

T

3% IN

65
%

 IN
28

%
 IN

 
30

%
 IN

10
%

 IN
28

%
 O

U
T

30% O

10% O

13
%

 IN
10

%
 IN

3%
 O

U
T

20
%

 O
U

T
28

%
 IN

10
%

 O
U

T

3% IN

5% OU

20% IN
5% IN

28% OU

13% O

10
%

55% IN

10% IN

55
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

58
%

 IN
10

%
 IN

10% O

58
%

 O
U

T

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil Street

City Road

FI
G

U
R

E
5

P
H

A
S

E
 1

 
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

T
R

IP
 

D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

5%
55

%
5%

Site Access 3

Site Access 2OUT

OUT

UT

UT

UT

Shotwell Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

UT

2%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

2% IN
3% IN

5% IN
3% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

2% IN
3% IN

2%
 O

U
T

3% OUT

Page 185 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

38
 / 

14

33
7 

/ 2
00

12 / 45
161 / 308

73 / 31
296 / 2

1 
/ 1

9
32

2 
/ 2

08

8 
/ 5

1
90

 / 
30

9

18 / 18

51 / 19

10
0 

/ 3
11

8 
/ 1

6

285 / 312
315 / 215

223 / 
7 / 11

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

35
2 

/ 2
07

18
 / 

18

8 
/ 1

4
76

 / 
34

0
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
20 / 6
19 / 7

16 / 19
0 / 16
4 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 6

 
20

17
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 N

O
 

B
U

IL
D

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

2
278

340

City Road

9

Page 186 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

38
 / 

22

21
0 

/ 1
20

11 / 39
0 / 0

63 / 21
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

10
7 

/ 6
1

11
 / 

39

0 
/ 0

32
 / 

10
9

34
 / 

11
7

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

76
 / 

44

11
 / 

7

6 / 20
23 / 78

19 / 11
3 / 12

38 / 2
0 / 0
114 / 

11
 / 

39
15

 / 
51

38
 / 

22
32

 / 
10

9
50 / 2

107 / 

Covered Bridge Road

Smith Drive

0 
/ 0

24
8 

/ 1
42

11
 / 

7

0 
/ 0

74
 / 

25
4

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

3 / 12
0 / 0
0 / 0

22
1 

/ 1
27

66
 / 

22
6

11
 / 

39

38 / 22

0 / 0

0 
/ 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 7

 
P

H
A

S
E

 1
 B

U
IL

D
 -

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L 
S

IT
E

 
T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
l

be
w

ith
ou

t
lia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

5

1

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

2

66

8

61

City Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4 19
 / 

11

8 
/ 4

11 / 7
6 / 20

3 / 12
2 / 8

2

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

0 / 0
11 / 7

2 / 8
3 / 12

0 
/ 0

8 
/ 4

Page 187 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

76
 / 

36

54
7 

/ 3
20

23 / 84
161 / 308

136 / 5
296 / 2

1 
/ 1

9
43

3 
/ 2

73
11

 / 
39

8 
/ 5

1
12

6 
/ 4

22
34

 / 
11

7

18 / 18
4 / 4

51 / 19

18
0 

/ 3
59

19
 / 

23

295 / 336
342 / 297

246 / 3
10 / 23

38 / 2
4 / 4
114 / 

33
8 

/ 2
70

15
 / 

51

15
0 

/ 3
53

32
 / 

10
9

50 / 2

107 / 

Covered Bridge Road

Smith Drive

2 
/ 2

60
0 

/ 3
49

29
 / 

25

8 
/ 1

4
15

0 
/ 5

94
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
24 / 10
19 / 7

19 / 31
4 / 20
4 / 0

59
4 

/ 3
54

16
4 

/ 5
86

11
 / 

39

38 / 22

4 / 4

4 
/ 4

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 8

 
20

17
 P

H
A

S
E

 1
 B

U
IL

D
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
l

be
w

ith
ou

t
lia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

527
278

355
3

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

2

66

8

61

City Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4 19
 / 

11

8 
/ 4

308 / 339
6 / 20

237 / 367
2 / 8

2

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

4 / 4
50 / 35

2 / 8
23 / 47

4 
/ 4

8 
/ 4

Page 188 of 366



7.5 Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results 
 
The following section discusses 2017 Phase 1 Build level of service for each 
intersection. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peaks. The LOS E condition is typical for 
minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and 
limited to the peak periods and SimTraffic model does not indicate any queuing issues. 
Therefore, no improvements are recommended. 
  
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
This intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM 
peak during Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 125 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peaks.  
 
This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 

Page 189 of 366



 
• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 11.5 seconds and the PM 
delay by 138.3 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues.  
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  
 
As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Signalize the intersection 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 250 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 225 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
A in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1. 
  

Page 190 of 366



7.6 Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 7.2 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 7.2 - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (19.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (17.0) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.4) 
SB Approach 

C (24.7) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

B (14.8) 
NB Approach 

B (13.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.6) 
EB Approach 

D (30.2) 
EB Approach 

C (18.7) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (12.5)  

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (41.8) 
WB Approach 

F (275.3) 
WB Approach 

C (23.3) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (20.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (20.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

E (36.8) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

C (18.6) 
NB Approach 

C (16.1) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (120.4) 
EB Approach 

F (292.7) 
EB Approach 

F (154.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (54.3) 
WB Approach 

F (452.2) 
WB Approach 

B (14.9) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 191 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~1
,2

60
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

250'10
0'

225'

100'

100'
10

0'

12
5'

~8
50

' 10
0'

100'

~2
,1

80
'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
9

P
H

A
S

E
1 

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil Street

City Road

Shotwell Road

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Page 192 of 366



8.0 Full Build Conditions  
 
Full Build considers the development located north of Covered Bridge Road and the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street. Full Build, including 
Phase 1, development assumes to have a total of 1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 
townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 square feet of retail. 
This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2025. 
 
8.1 Trip Generation 
 
Trips for this development were projected using TripGen 2013 software, based on the 
9th edition of ITE Trip Generation Manual. Table 8.1 contains the results. 
 

Table 8.1 - ITE Trip Generation – Full Build 
Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development Clayton, NC 

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
24 Hour 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak 
Hour Two-

Way 

Land Use 
ITE 

Land 
Code 

Size Volume Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Full Build 

Apartments 220 344 Dwelling 
Units 2,208 34 138 134 72 

Single Family 
Homes 210 1227 Dwelling 

Units 10,544 217 651 632 371 

Townhomes/ 
Condos 230 629 Dwelling 

Units 3,186 38 187 182 90 

Shopping 
Center 820 75 Th.Sq.Ft. 

GLA 5,633 81 50 237 257 

Total Unadjusted Trips 21,571 370 1,026 1,185 790 
PM Internal Capture: 5% Residential and Retail 

Trips -104 0 0 -52 -52 

34% PM Pass-by Reduction for Retail -922 0 0 -73 -77 
Total Reduction -1,026 0 0 -125 -129 

Total Adjusted Trips 20,545 370 1,026 1,060 661 
 
Mixed-Use developments of this type are designed to combine a number of uses into 
one site, allowing people to live, work and shop in the same area and without 
dependence on a vehicle.   This proposed development meets the criteria as defined in 
the ITE Trip Generation Handbook for a “multi-use” development.  Therefore, the trips 
for this development were reduced using the method prescribed in Chapter 7 of the ITE 
handbook.  The internal capture rate for this site was calculated and a reduction of 5% 
was applied to daily and PM peak hour trips for residential and retail land uses. The 
worksheets for the internal capture are shown in the supporting document of the 
Appendix. 

Page 193 of 366



 
Developments of this type generate “pass-by” trips. The ITE Trip Generation Manual 
defines “pass-by” trips as trips that are generated by the development, but are already 
on the adjacent roadway. These trips are not new trips, but are a part of the existing 
background traffic on adjacent roadways. A 34% pass-by reduction was applied to the 
PM peak for the retail land use per NCDOT standards.  
 
8.2 Residential Trip Distribution 
 
Site trips for this proposed development were distributed based on the existing traffic 
patterns and engineering judgment. The directional distributions for the residential site 
trips are the same as Phase 1 Build.  
 
8.3 Retail Trip Distribution 
 
This distribution for the retail site trips were estimated based on existing traffic pattern 
and engineering judgment. The retail distribution is as follows: 
 

• 30% to/from the north on Covered Bridge Road 
• 25% to/from the south on O’Neil Street 
• 25% to/from the south on Shotwell Road 
• 10% to/from the south on Shotwell Road  
• 5% to/from the south on City Road 
• 3% to/from the north on Smith Drive 
• 2% to/from the north on Brookhill Drive 

 
The pass-by trip distribution has 35% of pass-by trips were assumed to originate from 
the west on Covered Bridge Road, 65 % from the east on Covered Bridge Road. 
 
The Full Build residential, retail and pass-by distribution for site trips is shown in Figure 
11A, 11B and 11C, respectively. 
 
8.4 2025 Future No Build Traffic 
 
The 2025 background volumes were obtained by applying a 2.0% compounded annual 
growth rate to the 2014 existing traffic volumes. Figure 10 shows the 2025 future no 
build traffic volumes for AM and PM peaks. 
 
8.5 2025 Full Build Traffic 
 
Full build-out traffic volumes were obtained as the sum of 2025 future no build volumes 
and site trips due to Full Build. Full Build residential site trips, retail site trips and pass-
by trips are shown in Figures 12A, 12B and 12C, respectively. The resulting build 
volume totals for AM and PM peaks are shown in Figure 13. More information can be 
found in the Traffic Volume Data section of the appendix. 

Page 194 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

44
 / 

16

39
5 

/ 2
34

14 / 52
189 / 361

86 / 36
347 / 3

1 
/ 2

2
37

6 
/ 2

43

10
 / 

60
10

5 
/ 3

62

21 / 21

60 / 22

11
7 

/ 3
64

9 
/ 1

8

334 / 364
369 / 252

260 / 
8 / 13

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

41
2 

/ 2
42

21
 / 

21

10
 / 

16
88

 / 
39

8
1 

/ 4

7 / 1
24 / 7
22 / 9

19 / 22
0 / 19
5 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

0 
20

25
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 N

O
 

B
U

IL
D

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

66
326

397

City Road

2

Page 195 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

B
rid

ge

Smith Drive

2%

25
%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

3%
 O

U
T

65
%

 O
U

T

2%
 IN

1%
 IN

 +
16

%
 O

U
T

1%
 IN

63
%

 O
U

T

3%
 IN

18
%

 IN
 

20% IN
3% IN

10
%

10% IN

55
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

3% OUT

3% OUT

2% OUT

15
%

 IN

39% OUT

15% OUT

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

2%
 IN

23
%

 IN
 

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

A
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

T
R

IP
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

5%
55

%
5%

Site Access 1

Site Access 3

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

Site Access 2

3% IN

65
%

 IN
63

%
 IN

1% OUT

16
%

 IN
  +

 1
%

 O
U

T
8%

 IN

8% OUT

2% OUT

3%
 O

U
T

20
%

 O
U

T

2%
 O

U
T

3%
 O

U
T

13
%

 IN
18

%
 O

U
T

2% IN
3% IN

3% IN
3% OUT

3% IN
3% OUT

13% OUT

3% OUT

Shotwell Road55% IN

39
%

IN
3%

 IN
3%

 IN
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

2% IN
3% IN

2%
 O

U
T

3% OUT

Site Access 5

23
%

 O
U

T

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

3% IN + 
3% OUT

3% IN + 
3% OUT

2%
 IN

2% OUT

Page 196 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Bro
D

Smith Drive

2%
25

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

2% 
23% 

Shotwell Road

10
%

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

3% IN
30% IN

2% IN
28% IN5% IN

13% IN
10% IN

5% IN

5% IN

3%
 O

U
T

2%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

13
%

 O
U

T

5%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

10% OUT 28% OUT 30% OUT 33% O

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

ookhill
Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

A
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L 
T

R
IP

 D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N

5%
55

%
5%

9%
 O

U
T

2%
 O

U
T

9% IN

2% IN

2%
 O

U
T

23% OUT

IN
IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

N
43% IN

43% OUT

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

3%
 O

U
T

7%
 O

U
T

3% IN

7% IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

OUT

33% IN

Page 197 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

B
rid

ge

Smith Drive

2%

30
%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

5%
 O

U
T

35
%

 O
U

T
38

%
O

U
T

43
%

 O
U

T
23

%
 O

U
T

20% IN

10
%

10% IN

25
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

2% IN

25
%

 IN

3%

2%

3% IN

3%
 O

U
T

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

10% IN

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

B
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
T

A
IL

T
R

IP
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

 

5%
25

%
25

%

Site Access 1

Site Access 3

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

Site Access 2

5% IN

35
%

 IN
43

%
 IN

38
%

IN
5%

 IN

2% OUT

20
%

 O
U

T

20
%

 O
U

T
15

%
 IN

23
%

IN

25% IN
20% IN

25% OUT

15% OUT

Shotwell Road
25% IN

Site Access 5

23
%

 IN

5% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

10% IN

10% OUT

10
%

 O
U

T

5% IN

5%
 O

U
T

5% IN

5% OUT

23% OUT

25% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

5% IN

5% OUT

Page 198 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Smith Drive

2%
30

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

30% 

Shotwell Road

10
%

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

2% IN2% OUT

2%IN 2%IN 2% IN

3%

2%IN

2% OUT

2%

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

Brookhill
Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

B
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
 

R
E

T
A

IL
T

R
IP

 D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

5%
25

%
25

%30% OUT

IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

2% OUT 2% OUT

2% IN

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

2% OUT

2% IN

Page 199 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

2%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

C
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
T

A
IL

P
A

S
S

-B
Y

 T
R

IP
 

D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

35
%

65
%

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

-5
%

 IN
5%

 IN

20
%

 IN
-2

0%
 IN

 
45

%
 IN

-4
5%

 IN

10
%

 IN
-1

0%
 IN

 
20% OUT

10% OUT

5% OUT

Site Access 545% OUT

20% OUT

20
%

 IN
-2

0%
 IN

 

Page 200 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2A
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

S
IT

E
 

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

63
4 

/ 3
13

29
 / 

14

0 
/ 0

18
8 

/ 5
82

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

9 / 27
0 / 0
0 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

29 / 14
9 / 27

9 / 27
6 / 18

98
 / 

48

53
7 

/ 2
65

29 / 90
0 / 0

159 / 493
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

61
5 

/ 3
03

3 
/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
18

2 
/ 5

64
6 

/ 1
8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

10 / 5
0 / 0
20 / 10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

11
3 

/ 3
49

56
 / 

14
8

23
 / 

72
146 / 72

0 / 0
381 / 188

20 / 10
0 / 0
78 / 38

43
 / 

13
4

15
9 

/ 8
6

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

19
5 

/ 9
6

29
 / 

14

29 / 14
9 / 27

9 / 27
58 / 179

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
52

 / 
16

1
9 

/ 2
7

9 
/ 2

7
17

6 
/ 8

7
38

 / 
11

6

20 / 10
0 / 0

29 / 14

29 / 14
0 / 0
127 / 63

16

0 / 0
29 / 14

6 / 18
9 / 27

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

Page 201 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2A
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

S
IT

E
 

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

38 / 41
0 / 0

38 / 41
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

88
 / 

43

0 / 0
420 / 207

0 / 0

6 / 18
124 / 385
26 / 81

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 / 0
273 / 135

6 / 18
81 / 251

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

12
7 

/ 6
3

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 / 0
98 / 48

0 / 0

38 / 116
29 / 90
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

66
 / 

20
6

0 
/ 0

22
4 

/ 1
11

0 
/ 0

0 / 0

0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

68
 / 

34

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

29
 / 

14322 / 159
0 / 0

20 / 63
95 / 296
9 / 27

0 / 0

11

293 / 144
0 / 0

87 / 269
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0

29
 / 

14

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

14 / 45
0 / 0
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

66 / 206
6 / 18

224 / 111
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 202 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2B
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
T

A
IL

 
S

IT
E

 T
R

IP
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

2 
/ 5

18
 / 

63
3 

/ 9

0 
/ 0

28
 / 

57
0 

/ 0

2 / 5
0 / 0
0 / 0

4 / 8
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

13 / 45
0 / 0

20 / 41
0 / 0

5 
/ 1

8

13
 / 

45

8 / 16
0 / 0

20 / 41
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

22
 / 

77
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

35
 / 

71
0 

/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

31
 / 

62
4 

/ 8
0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
3 / 9

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

68
0 

/ 0
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

10
 / 

36

3 
/ 9

5 / 18
4 / 8

8 / 16
16 / 33

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

12
 / 

41
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

38
12

 / 
25

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
8 / 27

16

0 / 0
3 / 9

0 / 0
4 / 8

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 203 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2B
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
T

A
IL

 
S

IT
E

 T
R

IP
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

3 / 9
8 / 16

4 / 8
16 / 33

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3

0 / 0
1 / 4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

41

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

38

13 / 45

12 / 41

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 02 / 3

0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

2 / 3
0 / 0

1 / 4
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 00
0

0
0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 204 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2C
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
P

A
S

S
-B

Y
 

S
IT

E
 T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

4
0 

/ 4
0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 4
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

15
0 

/ 1
5

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

7
0 

/ 7

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 8
0 / 0
0 / 15

16

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 205 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2C
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
P

A
S

S
-B

Y
 

S
IT

E
 T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ -

33
0 

/ 3
3

0 
/ -

15
0 

/ 1
5

0 / 15

0 / 35

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 00 / 0

0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 206 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

3 
20

25
 F

U
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
FU

T
U

R
E

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

4 
/ 7

10
64

 / 
61

8
53

 / 
44

10
 / 

16
30

4 
/ 1

03
7

1 
/ 4

9 / 6
28 / 11
22 / 9

32 / 57
4 / 23
5 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

389 / 445
9 / 27

301 / 482
6 / 18

14
7 

/ 8
2

94
5 

/ 5
44

51 / 158
189 / 361

265 / 900
347 / 326

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

4 
/ 4

10
73

 / 
64

5
3 

/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
33

2 
/ 1

05
6

6 
/ 1

8

4 / 4
4 / 4

29 / 14

10 / 5
4 / 4
20 / 10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

12
3 

/ 4
09

19
6 

/ 5
72

27
 / 

84
167 / 93

2 / 3
441 / 210

20 / 14
1 / 4
81 / 47

44
 / 

15
6

55
8 

/ 4
01

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

32
6 

/ 5
00

41
 / 

41

298 / 433
21 / 48

355 / 411
447 / 468

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
44

5 
/ 4

56
9 

/ 4
2

9 
/ 2

7
32

5 
/ 5

05
50

 / 
14

8

20 / 10
4 / 4

29 / 14

29 / 22
4 / 4
135 / 105

16

4 / 4
78 / 55

6 / 18
37 / 76

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

Page 207 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

3 
20

25
 F

U
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
FU

T
U

R
E

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

388 / 436
8 / 16

314 / 463
16 / 33

8 
/ 8

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

88
 / 

43

4 / 4
503 / 254

8 / 8

6 / 18
136 / 471
26 / 81

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 / 4
380 / 206

6 / 18
117 / 361

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

13
1 

/ 6
7

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
205 / 119

4 / 4

42 / 120
65 / 200
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

44
7 

/ 4
42

20
 / 

74

35
4 

/ 4
83

19
 / 

53

13 / 60

12 / 76

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

68
 / 

34

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14417 / 218
4 / 4

20 / 63
119 / 394
9 / 27

4 / 4

11

396 / 211
4 / 4

119 / 375
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14

15
17

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
115 / 79

4 / 4

14 / 45
44 / 118
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

797 / 875
6 / 18

620 / 931
4 / 4

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 208 of 366



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 34 

8.6 Full Build Discussion of Results 
 
The following section discusses 2025 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 
During the review of the TIA, the Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested that the 
following intersections: Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street, be analyzed as a 
roundabout for the future full build-out conditions. The roundabout analyses were 
analyzed with SIDRA, reports are in the appendix. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. The traffic simulation does not indicate any queuing issues at this 
intersection. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was tested at the intersection for future conditions. During 
the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS 
F in the AM and PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is expected to 
operate at LOS E in the AM and PM peaks. The roundabout is not expected to fail after 
zero (0) years in the AM and PM peak. The NCDOT Guidelines dictate that “the design 
of a roundabout should be based on projected traffic 20 years after completion of 
construction.” Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to have 
sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and 
PM peaks. The LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. 
The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site 
traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, 
which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 
 

 Signalize the intersection  
 Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 425 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
 Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper 

Page 209 of 366



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 35 

 Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of 
100 feet of storage with appropriate taper 

 Provide a southbound left turn lane of 150 feet storage for left turn lane 
 
With this improvement, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 

Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was analyzed for this intersection. During the 2025 future 
build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks but it is expected to fail in four 
(4) years in the AM peak and two (2) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a 
roundabout is not anticipated to have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. The LOS E 
and F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are 
expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site traffic will have 
the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, which will serve as a 
relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no additional improvements are 
recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic and the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. It is recommended to signalize 
this intersection in order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 
 
With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak 
and LOS C in the PM peak. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, this intersection was analyzed as a roundabout in future conditions. 
During the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peaks. This roundabout is expected to 
fail after two (2) years in the AM peak and to exceed the desired level of saturation 
before the first year in the PM peak. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. This 
roundabout is expected to operate for twenty (20) years for the AM peak but fail in nine 
(9) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to 
have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
 

Page 210 of 366



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 36 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

 Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
 Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
With these improvements in place, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 6 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
  
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 

Page 211 of 366



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 37 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic and the 
recommended improvements in place from Phase 1, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS A in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in 
the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. A LOS E/F is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build.  
 
 

Page 212 of 366



8.7  Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 8.2 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 8.2 - Level of Service Summary 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (14.1) 
SB Approach 

F (80.3) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (64.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.2) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (46.6) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

E (40.1) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (24.5) 
EB Approach 

F (94.9) 
EB Approach 

B (13.7) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.5) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
B (12.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (20.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (18.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (11.5) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (117.6) 
WB Approach 

D (48.3) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.2) 

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

E (36.8) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 213 of 366



 

Table 8.2 - Level of Service Summary cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

F (165.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (107.4) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (13.7) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (42.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

F (88.6) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (317.6) 
EB Approach 

F (692.7) 
EB Approach 

C (20.6) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
C (17.7) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

E (37.7) 
NB Approach 

D (35.0) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
C (16.0) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (21.3) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (19.0) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (10.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.8) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.6) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (165.0) 
WB Approach 

C (26.7) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.8)  

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.3) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

F (59.4) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 214 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

10
0'

225'

100'

~3
90

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~4
60

'

150'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

250'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

12
5'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~790'

42
5'

15
0'

150'

100'
10

0'

FULL

10
0'

10
0'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

~450'

Page 215 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

~300'~525'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~830'~1000'

~1,650'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

~500'

Page 216 of 366



8.8  Left-over Access 
 
As requested by NCDOT, an analysis was conducted for full build conditions with a left-
over condition (left in, right in and right out) at Site Access 1, Site Access 3 and Site 
Access 5. The left turning movements at Site Access 1, 3 and 5 were redirected to the 
Brookhill Drive access point as shown in Figure 15. Figure 16 illustrates the full build 
volumes for this condition. The resulting level of service is discussed below for 
intersections that experienced a change in level of service. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept in place, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to conditions without the left-
over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor street left turns. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
With the left-over condition in place at Site Accesses 1, 3, and 5, additional traffic was 
routed to this signalized intersection. With improvements previously recommended in 
place, this intersection is anticipated to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
To accommodate the additional volumes, it is recommended to extend the southbound 
left turn lane to 175 feet of storage with appropriate taper. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With the left-over condition in place, a single exiting lane can be 
provided. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With improvements previously recommended in place, this intersection 
is anticipated to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
All remaining study intersections’ level of service and improvements remained the same 
as the full access condition. 
  
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 17 for Full Build with the left-over condition.  
 

Page 217 of 366



8.9 Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 8.3 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 8.3 - Level of Service Summary – Left-Over Access Conditions 

Intersections 

Full Build with Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1 

C (24.1) 
SB Approach 

C (21.0) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

 D (55.0) 
Signalized 

D (52.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5 

B (10.6) 
NB Approach 

B (12.5) 
NB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 218 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

5 
R

E
R

E
O

U
T

E
D

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

-4 / -4
-4 / -4

0 / 0

0 / 0
-4 / -4
-20 / -10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

-4
 / 

-4
0 

/ 0
24 / 14

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
167 / 191

0 
/ 0

-1
47

 / 
-1

81
0 

/ 0
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

-1
2 

/ -
76

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10
0 

/ 0

-20 / -10
-4 / -4

0 / 0

0 / 0
-4 / -4
-135 / -105

16

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 219 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

5 
R

E
R

E
O

U
T

E
D

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

4 
/ 4

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0

-12 / -76

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 00 / 0

0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 220 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

6 
20

25
 L

E
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 -
FU

LL
 

B
U

IL
D

 F
U

T
U

R
E

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

4 
/ 7

10
64

 / 
61

8
53

 / 
44

10
 / 

16
30

4 
/ 1

03
7

1 
/ 4

9 / 6
28 / 11
22 / 9

32 / 57
4 / 23
5 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

389 / 445
9 / 27

301 / 482
6 / 18

14
7 

/ 8
2

94
5 

/ 5
44

51 / 158
189 / 361

265 / 900
347 / 326

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

4 
/ 4

10
93

 / 
65

5
3 

/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
33

2 
/ 1

05
6

6 
/ 1

8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

10 / 5
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

12
3 

/ 4
09

19
2 

/ 5
68

27
 / 

84
191 / 107

2 / 3
441 / 210

20 / 14
1 / 4
248 / 238

44
 / 

15
6

41
1 

/ 2
20

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

32
6 

/ 5
00

41
 / 

41

298 / 433
21 / 48

355 / 411
447 / 468

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
43

3 
/ 3

80
9 

/ 4
2

9 
/ 2

7
34

5 
/ 5

15
50

 / 
14

8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

29 / 22
0 / 0
0 / 0

16

4 / 4
78 / 55

6 / 18
37 / 76

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

Page 221 of 366



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

6 
20

25
 L

E
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 -
FU

LL
 

B
U

IL
D

 F
U

T
U

R
E

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

388 / 436
8 / 16

314 / 463
16 / 33

8 
/ 8

4 
/ 4

40
 / 

20

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

92
 / 

47

4 / 4
503 / 254

8 / 8

6 / 18
136 / 471
26 / 81

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 / 4
380 / 206

6 / 18
117 / 361

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

13
1 

/ 6
7

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
205 / 119

4 / 4

42 / 120
65 / 200
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

44
7 

/ 4
42

20
 / 

74

35
4 

/ 4
83

19
 / 

53

13 / 60

0 / 0

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

68
 / 

34

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14417 / 218
4 / 4

20 / 63
119 / 394
9 / 27

4 / 4

11

396 / 211
4 / 4

119 / 375
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14

15
17

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
115 / 79

4 / 4

14 / 45
44 / 118
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

797 / 875
6 / 18

620 / 931
4 / 4

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 222 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

10
0'

225'

100'

10
0'

~3
90

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~4
60

'

175'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

10
0'

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
17

LE
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

250'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

12
5'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~790'

42
5'

15
0'

150'

10
0'

FULL

10
0'

10
0'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

~450'

Page 223 of 366



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

~300'~525'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
17

LE
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~830'~1000'

~1,650'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

~500'

Page 224 of 366



9.0 Summary and Conclusion  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  
 
This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
The Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested roundabout analyses be conducted for the 
intersections of Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street. The analysis found that a 
roundabout was anticipated to operate at an unacceptable level of service in full build 
conditions, and/or the roundabout was anticipated to fail within the 20 year design 
timeframe. 
 
In addition, NCDOT requested that Site Accesses 1, 3 and 5 be analyzed with a left-
over condition. Analysis results show that acceptable level of service is anticipated at 
the study intersections with the recommended improvements in place. 
  
Table 9.1 on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase. Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1. Improvements are 
illustrated in Figure 14 and 17 for Full Build and Full Build with left-over conditions, 
respectively.  
 
In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  
 
Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 
  

Page 225 of 366



Table 9.1 –  Recommended Improvement Summary 

 

No Build Phase 1 Full Build 

2014 
(0 Lots) 

2015 
(250 Lots) 

2016 
(500 
Lots) 

2017 
(823 Lots) 

2018 
(1,075 Lots) 

2019 
(1,325 Lots) 

2020 
(1,575 Lots + Retail) 

2021 
(1,825 Lots) 

2022 
(2,075 
Lots) 

2023-
2025 

(2,200 
Lots) 

Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 
     

Provide SBL turn lane 150 feet 
storage and appropriate taper 
(175 feet in left-over condition) 

• Provide EBL turn lane 
with 425 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 150 feet of storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NB through-right 
turn lane with 150 feet 
storage and appropriate 
taper 

Signalize 
intersection   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 3  

• Provide EBR turn lane with 125 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane with 100 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide NB through-right turn 
lane with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

Covered Bridge Road 
at O’Neil Street 

(Note: Although turn 
lanes are currently 

needed, they will be 
provided during 

realignment) 

  

• Realign intersection 
per site plan 

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide SBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

Signalize 
intersection      

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 5       

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Shotwell Road 

Signalize 
intersection 

• Provide NBR turn lane with 250 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide SBL turn lane with 225 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBR turn lane with 
100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

 

Page 226 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
SUBDIVISION APPLICATION 

EVALUATION FORM 

Application Number: PSD 2014-128 

The Town Council shall decide the matter of Subdivision Application Number PSD 2014-
128 by motion and vote on each of the following four findings of fact. Any motion to find 
against the application must be supported by statement of specific reasons or conclusions 
reached in support of the motion. 

Finding One of Four: 

Circle One 

A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 
the subdivision, if approved, will meet all required specifications and will 
conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance. (Applicant meets the 
criteria for approval). 

B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 
the subdivision, if approved, will meet all required specifications and will 
conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance: (Applicant meets the 
criteria for approval upon acceptance of the noted conditions.) 

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 
the subdivision, if approved, will not meet all required specifications and/or will 
not conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance for the following stated 
reasons: (Applicant fails to meet the criteria for approval.) 

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 227 of 366



Finding Two of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not be detrimental to the use or orderly 
development of other properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the 
character of existing standards for development of properties in the surrounding 
area. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not be detrimental to the use or orderly 
development of other properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the 
character of existing standards for development of properties in the surrounding 
area upon compliance with the following stated conditions: (Applicant meets the 
criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance of the noted conditions.)  

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, will be detrimental to the use or orderly development of other 
properties in the surrounding area and/or will violate the character of existing 
standards for development of properties in the surrounding area for the following 
stated reasons: (Applicant fails to meet the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

Page 228 of 366



Finding Three of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will provide for the distribution of traffic in a 
manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and will not materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will provide for the distribution of traffic in a 
manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and will not materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare upon compliance with the following stated conditions: (Applicant 
meets the criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance of the noted 
conditions.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will not provide for the distribution of traffic 
in a manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
not provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and/or will materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare for the following reasons. (Applicant fails to meet the criteria for 
approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 229 of 366



Finding Four of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not adversely affect the general plans for the 
orderly growth and development of the town and is consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for 
approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not adversely affect the general plans for the 
orderly growth and development of the town and is consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council upon compliance with the following stated 
conditions: (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance 
of the noted conditions.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will adversely affect the general plans for the orderly 
growth and development of the town and/or is not consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council for the following stated reasons: (Applicant 
fails to meet the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 230 of 366



Once all findings have been decided one of the two following motions must be made: 
 
 
Motion to Approve: Based upon satisfactory compliance with the above four stated 
findings and fully contingent upon acceptance and compliance with all conditions as 
previously noted herein and with full incorporation of all statements and agreements 
entered into the record by the testimony of the applicant and applicant’s representative I 
move to approve Subdivision Application # _2014-128  
 
 
 
 
OR 
 
 
 
Motion to Deny: Based upon failure to meet all of the above four stated findings and for 
reasons stated therein, I move to deny Subdivision Application #   2014-128. 
 

Page 231 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
MOTION GRANTING SUBDIVISION APPROVALS 

SHORT FORM 

Motion: 

Based on the substantial and competent evidence and testimony presented to the Town 
Council on this matter, the Council finds and concludes that Subdivision Application PSD 
2014-128, Steeplechase Planned Development, (subject to the conditions recommended by 
the Planning Board and Planning Staff and with full incorporation of all statements and 
agreements entered into the record by the testimony of the applicant and applicant’s 
representatives): 

(1) That the subdivision meets all required specifications of the Town Unified 
Development Ordinance; 

(2) That the subdivision will not be detrimental to the use or orderly development of other 
properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the character of existing 
standards for development of properties in the surrounding area; 

(3) That the subdivision design will provide for the distribution of traffic in a manner that 
will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will provide for the 
unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, and will not materially 
endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the general welfare; and 

(4) That the subdivision will not adversely affect the general plans for the orderly growth 
and development of the town and is consistent with the planning policies adopted by 
the Town Council. 

Duly adopted by the Clayton Town Council this 20th  day of April, 2015. 

Page 232 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 6a Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Sewer Bid Process – Sam’s Branch Phase 2 

DESCRIPTION: Mr. Tim Simpson will present an overview and timeline of the 
process for Sewer Bids at Sam’s Branch Phase 2. 

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

4-20-15 None – Informational None 
only  

Page 233 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 6b Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Rezoning – 15-05-02-RZ – Riverwood Athletic Club - Ravens Ridge 
8C 

DESCRIPTION: Mr. DeYoung will present a report regarding request for 
rezoning of this 8.2 acre property which is adjacent to the 
original Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C (formerly known as the 
House Tract), east of an adjacent to the Neuse River, south of 
and adjacent to the existing Riverwood Athletic Club and 
north of Covered Bridge Road.  The applicant is requesting 
approval to rezone the property from R-E to R-8.   

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

4-20-15 Set Public Hearing Staff Report 
for May 4, 2015 Maps 

Application 
Consistency & 
Reasonableness 
Statement 

Page 234 of 366



Planning Board  
March 23, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: 15-08-02-RZ 
Project Name: Riverwood Athletic Club, Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C Rezoning 

NC PIN / Tag #: 176000-73-7987 / 16I03028G 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: NA 
Applicant:  DC Adams Engineering Inc  
Owner: FSC IV LLC 

Neighborhood Meeting:  March 12, 2015 
Public Noticing: 

• sign posted March 19, 2015
• letters mailed TBD, 2015
• newspaper ad TBD, 2015

PROJECT LOCATION:   This property includes 8.2 acres adjacent to the original Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C, 
(formerly known as the House Tract), east of and adjacent to the Neuse River, south of and adjacent to the 
existing Riverwood Athletic Club, and north of Covered Bridge Rd. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting approval to rezone the property from R-E to R-8. The property has 
recently been, or is currently in process of, annexation into the Town of Clayton. 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 8.2 acres  

Present Zoning:  Residential-Estate (R-E) 

Proposed Zoning: Residential-8 (R-8) 

Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 

North:   Zoning: R-8 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-1545 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 235 of 366



Existing Use: Single Family Residential (Riverwood Athletic Club Subdivision) 

South:  Zoning: R-E 
Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

East: Zoning: R-E 
Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

West: Zoning: R-10 and R-E (across the Neuse River) 
Existing Use: Neuse River, with Residential/Agriculture beyond 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting approval for rezoning of the subject property from Residential Estate (R-E) to 
Residential-8 (R-8).   

This rezoning is contingent upon an annexation of this property into the Town of Clayton. It represents the 
continued expansion of the Riverwood Athletic Club (RWAC) subdivision, and will be part of the Raven’s Ridge 
subdivision, Phase 8C. A master plan modification (to expand the boundaries of RWAC to include the subject 
property) and subdivision plat (to modify the existing Phase 8C and expand it to include the subject property) 
(both under project # 15-08-01-SUB) are also occurring concurrently with the annexation and rezoning.  

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
This property is compatible with surrounding land uses, as it will be the continued expansion of the RWAC. 

Access/Streets:  
The property is accessed through the RWAC subdivision. 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
This rezoning is consistent with the 2008 Strategic Growth Plan; see Goal 2.5. 

CONSIDERATIONS: 

• The applicant is requesting a rezoning from R-E to R-8. This is concurrent with master plan modification
and annexation to the Riverwood Athletic Club (RWAC).

• Rezonings are decided by the Town Council. The Planning Board shall make a recommendation to the
Town Council.

• When adopting or rejecting the rezoning, the Town Council shall approve a statement describing
whether its action is consistent with an adopted plans and policies of the town and explaining why the
board considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Page 236 of 366



Staff is recommending approval of the rezoning. 

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1) Aerial Map
2) Existing and Proposed Zoning Map
3) Proposed Land Use Map
4) Table 2.1 – allowed uses
5) Application
6) Neighborhood Meeting Materials (if available)
7) Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness

Page 237 of 366



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

BRO
O

KHILL DR 

LOOP RD 

SMITH DR 

SARAZEN DR  

C
LA

IR
E D

R

PEARSON PL 

PAYTON DR 

HAYWOOD LN

ALAN LN  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-08-01-SUB and 15-08-02-RZ RWAC Raven's Ridge 8C
Subdivision and Rezoning from R-E to R-8

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: DC Adams Engineering, Inc.
Property Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.)
Parcel ID Number: 176000-73-7987
Tag #: 16I03028G

03/14/2015

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

LOOP RD 

BR
OOKHILL

 D
R  

SARAZEN DR 

C
LAIR

E
 D

R
 

0 2,5001,250 Feet

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 2,5001,250
Feet

±

Subject parcel

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\REZONING\Rezoning\2015\15-08-02-RZ - RWAC - Raven's Ridge 8C Rezoning - House Tract\Maps\Staff Rpt Map 15-08-02-RZ - Aerial.mxd

Developed since 
last imagery

Page 238 of 366



R-E
R-10

R-8

B-1

MCCARTHY DR 

SARAZEN DR  

HAYWOOD LN

COVERED BRIDGE RD  

MICHAEL WAY

HARDAWAY PT 

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-08-01-SUB and 15-08-02-RZ RWAC Raven's Ridge 8C
Subdivision and Rezoning from R-E to R-8

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: DC Adams Engineering, Inc.
Property Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.)
Parcel ID Number: 176000-73-7987
Tag #: 16I03028G

3/14/2015

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

LOOP RD 

BR
OOKHILL

 D
R  

SARAZEN DR 

C
LAIR

E
 D

R
 

0 4,0002,000 Feet

R-E
R-10

R-8

B-1

MCCARTHY DR 

SARAZEN DR  

HAYWOOD LN

COVERED BRIDGE RD  

MICHAEL WAY

HARDAWAY PT 

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Zoning MapCurrent Zoning Map

0 1,000500
Feet

0 1,000500
Feet

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\REZONING\Rezoning\2015\15-08-02-RZ - RWAC - Raven's Ridge 8C Rezoning - House Tract\Maps\Staff Rpt Map 15-08-02-RZ - Existing and Proposed Zoning.mxd

Legend
Subject parcel

R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Page 239 of 366



Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)
15-08-01-SUB and 15-08-02-RZ RWAC Raven's Ridge 8C
Subdivision and Rezoning from R-E to R-8

Produced by: TOC Planning

03/14/2015

COVERED BRID
GE RD  

BR
O

O
KH

ILL D
R

 

SARAZEN DR 

0 3,4001,700 Feet

COVERED BRIDGE RD  

BROOKHILL D
R  

LOOP RD 

MANTLE DR  

SARAZEN DR  

C
LAIR

E
 D

R

FALLS DR

BOSWELL LN 
PAYTON DR 

SMITH DR FONTANA DR

MCCARTHY DR PEARSON PL 

NELSON LN 

HAYWOOD LN  

KATIE DR 

KI
M

BE
R

LY
 L

N
 

DEBBAR DR  

MICHAEL WAY 

ST
AN

S
B

U
R

Y 
LN

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)

0 2,0001,000
Feet

Legend
Subject parcel

PROPOSED LAND USE
CBD
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL
MULTI-FAMILY
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL
OFFICE INSTITUTIONAL
OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION
PUBLIC
RESIDENTIAL-INFILL
RESIDENTIAL-LIGHT
RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM
SMALL AREA PLAN

Applicant: DC Adams Engineering, Inc.
Property Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.)
Parcel ID Number: 176000-73-7987
Tag #: 16I03028G

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\REZONING\Rezoning\2015\15-08-02-RZ - RWAC - Raven's Ridge 8C Rezoning - House Tract\Maps\Staff Rpt Map 15-08-02-RZ - FLUM.mxd

N
euse R

iver

Page 240 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Table 2-1 Use Regulations 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Residential Uses 

Adult Care Home (2-6 Adults) P P P P §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (7-12 Adults) S S S S C S S S §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (13+ Adults) C S S S §155.301(A) 

Alley Loaded House P P P §155.301(B) 

Apartments S S S S S S S S §155.301(C) 

Boarding House C P P §155.301(D) 

Child Care Home C C C C C §155.301(E) 

Manufactured Home P §155.301(F) 

Manufactured Home Park S §155.301(G) 

Nursing Home (Congregate Living Facility) C C P S P §155.301(H) 

Two family House S S S S §155.301(I) 

Townhouse S S S S S S S S §155.301(J) 

Security/Caretaker Quarters C C §155.301(K) 

Single Family House P P P P §155.301(L) 

Upper-story Residence S S S S S P P P P §155.301(M) 

Zero Lot Line House P P P §155.301(N) 

Public and Civic Uses 

Assembly, Not For Profit S P P §155.302(A) 

Cemetery P P §155.302(B)

Church or Place of Worship C C C C C C C §155.302(C)

College or University P §155.302(D)

Day Care (Supervision for 3-8 ) C C C C C §155.302(E)

Day Care (Supervision for 9+) C C C C C P P C P §155.302(E)

Government Service S S S S P P P P P P P §155.302(F)

Hospital or Medical Center P P §155.302(G)

School (Elementary or Secondary) S S S S S §155.302(H)

School (Technical, Trade or Business) S S S S P P P P P §155.302(I)

Recreational Uses 

Entertainment, Indoor  C C C P P §155.303(A) 

Entertainment, Outdoor C P §155.303(B) 

Fitness Center C C C P P §155.303(C) 

Golf Course P P P P §155.303(D) 

Gun Range S S S S S §155.303(E) 

Park, Active S S S S S S S S S S S §155.303(F) 

Park, Passive C C C C P P C C C C C §155.303(G) 

Stable, Private P §155.303(H) 

Agricultural Uses 

Agriculture, Livestock C C §155.304(A) 

Agriculture, Sales and Service P C §155.304(B) 

Nursery P P P C P §155.304(C) 

Commercial Uses 

Adult Oriented Business S S §155.305(A) 

Bed and Breakfast P P P P P §155.305(B) 

Car Wash/Auto Detailing C C P P §155.305(C) 

Contractor Office C C P P P §155.305(D) 

Contractor Storage Yard C C P §155.305(E) 

Convenience Store with Gas Sales C C P P P §155.305(F) 

Creative Studio P P P P P §155.305(G) 

Financial Institution P P P P P §155.305(H) 

Funeral Home C P P P P P §155.305(I) 

Hotel/Motel S S S P §155.305(J) 

Kennel C C §155.305(K) 

Laundry Services C C P P §155.305(L) 

Lounge, Cocktail S S S S §155.305(M) 

Microbrewery P P P P §155.305(N) 

Page 241 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Newspaper Publisher P P P §155.305(O) 

Office, General P P P P P P §155.305(P) 

Office, Medical P P P P P P §155.305(Q) 

Outdoor Seating/Sidewalk Cafe C P C C §155.305(R) 

Pawn Shop C P §155.305(S) 

Radio or Television Studio P P P §155.305(T) 

Restaurant, Drive-Through  C C C §155.305(U) 

Restaurant, General C P P P C §155.305(V) 

Retail Sales, General P P §155.305(W) 

Retail Sales, Neighborhood P P P §155.305(X) 

Self-storage Facility C P P §155.305(Y) 

Service, General P P §155.305(Z) 

Service, Neighborhood P P P §155.305(AA) 

Tattoo Parlor S §155.305(BB) 

Towing Service and Storage C C C §155.305(CC) 

Vehicle Repair or Service S P P §155.305(DD) 

Vehicle Sales and Rental P P P §155.305(EE) 

Veterinary Clinic C C C P §155.305(FF) 

Video Sweepstakes Operations S §155.305(GG) 

Industrial Uses 

Building Supplies, Wholesale C P P §155.306(A) 

Crematorium P P §155.306(B) 

Gas and Fuel, Wholesale P P §155.306(C) 

Laboratory, Research P P P P §155.306(D) 

Manufacturing, Limited P P §155.306(E) 

Manufacturing, General C P §155.306(F) 

Manufacturing, Heavy P §155.306(G) 

Research and Development P P P P §155.306(H) 

Warehouse, Freight Movement C P P §155.306(I) 

Utilities 

Recycling Center P P §155.307(A) 

Renewable Energy Facility S C P §155.307(B) 

Telecommunication Facility S S S S S S S S S S S §155.307(C) 

Utility, Minor P P P P P P P P P P P §155.307(D) 

Utility, Major P P §155.307(E) 

Waste Service C P §155.307(F) 

Key: 

P – Permitted 

C – Conditional Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Board of Adjustment (BOA) ( § 155.710) 

S – Special Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Town Council (TC) ) ( § 155.711) 

 (Ord. 2005-11-02, passed 11-21-05; Am. Ord. 2007-05-02, passed 5-7-07; Am. Ord. 2009-06-06, 
passed 6-1-09; Am. Ord. 2009-08-03, passed 8-3-09; Am. Ord 2014-12-02, passed 12-1-14) 

Page 242 of 366

http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710
http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710


Page 243 of 366



Page 244 of 366



Page 245 of 366



Page 246 of 366



Page 247 of 366



Page 248 of 366



Page 249 of 366



Page 250 of 366



 
* * *  DISCLAIMER  * * *

Johnston County assumes no legal responsibility for the information represented here.

Scale:   1:4144    -    1 in. = 345.33 feet

(The scale is only accurate when printed landscape on a 11 x 17 size sheet with no page scaling.)
Johnston County GIS

February 25, 2015

Result 1

id: 16I03027
Tag: 16I03027

Tax Unique Id: 4272163
NCPin: 176000-93-4951

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC RANCH LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1: 3131 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27527-

Book: 04538
Page: 0617

Market Value: 454350
Assessed Acreage: 84.28

Calc. Acreage: 84.08
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2014-12-19

Result 2

id: 16I03028
Tag: 16I03028

Tax Unique Id: 4268744
NCPin: 176000-82-1830

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: HOUSE, MAVIS C
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 2873 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-0000
Site Address 1: 2873 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27527-

Book: 00705
Page: 0629

Market Value: 444620
Assessed Acreage: 68.94

Calc. Acreage: 68.88
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 1970-01-01

Result 3

id: 05H02009
Tag: 05H02009

Tax Unique Id: 4265643
NCPin: 166900-38-4997

Mapsheet No: 1669
Owner Name 1: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP JR

IRREVOCABLE TRUST
Owner Name 2: EARP, NANCY CREWS

EXECUTOR
Mail Address 1: 7230 NC HWY 42 E
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: SELMA, NC 27576-6005
Site Address 1: 1162 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 03897
Page: 0735

Market Value: 2189860
Assessed Acreage: 631.06

Calc. Acreage: 631.04
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2010-07-12

Result 4

id: 05H01010I
Tag: 05H01010I

Tax Unique Id: 4231712
NCPin: 176000-64-9005

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: OBRIEN, ANGELLA J
Owner Name 2: OBRIEN, DAVID MICHAEL
Mail Address 1: 8307 CAZAVINI CT
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: RALEIGH, NC 27613-4467
Site Address 1: 151 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 04356
Page: 0783

Market Value: 376900
Assessed Acreage: 1.88

Calc. Acreage: 1.76
Sales Price: 365000

Sale Date: 2013-09-18

Result 5

id: 05H01010J
Tag: 05H01010J

Tax Unique Id: 4215648
NCPin: 176000-64-9107

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: SAMMONS, DAVID H JR
Owner Name 2: SAMMONS, RENE D
Mail Address 1: 147 MICHAEL WAY
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-0000
Site Address 1: 147 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 03113
Page: 0040

Market Value: 384520
Assessed Acreage: 1.73

Calc. Acreage: 1.69
Sales Price: 412000

Sale Date: 2006-05-02

Result 6

id: 05H01010K
Tag: 05H01010K

Tax Unique Id: 4223545
NCPin: 176000-64-8382

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: HARRIS, JONATHAN DAVID
Owner Name 2: HARRIS, ANGELA NICOLE
Mail Address 1: 143 MICHAEL WAY
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-5507
Site Address 1: 143 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 04199
Page: 0815

Market Value: 513060
Assessed Acreage: 2.27

Calc. Acreage: 2.39
Sales Price: 417000

Sale Date: 2012-11-02

Page 251 of 366



Result 7

id: 16I02056C
Tag: 16I02056C

Tax Unique Id: 4272092
NCPin: 176000-74-4387

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC RANCH LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04538
Page: 0617

Market Value: 100
Assessed Acreage: 2.55

Calc. Acreage: 2.54
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2014-12-19

Result 8

id: 16I02055K
Tag: 16I02055K

Tax Unique Id: 4272124
NCPin: 176000-74-6353

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC IV LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04404
Page: 0287

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.17

Calc. Acreage: 0.17
Sales Price: 3000000

Sale Date: 2014-01-17

Result 9

id: 16I02055J
Tag: 16I02055J

Tax Unique Id: 4272121
NCPin: 176000-74-7209

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RMS INVESTMENTS LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04547
Page: 0906

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.16

Calc. Acreage: 0.16
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-16

Result 10

id: 16I02055I
Tag: 16I02055I

Tax Unique Id: 4272116
NCPin: 176000-74-7268

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RMS INVESTMENTS LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04547
Page: 0906

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-16

Result 11

id: 16I02055H
Tag: 16I02055H

Tax Unique Id: 4272114
NCPin: 176000-74-8227

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0342

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 12

id: 16I02055G
Tag: 16I02055G

Tax Unique Id: 4272112
NCPin: 176000-74-8288

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 13

id: 16I02055F
Tag: 16I02055F

Tax Unique Id: 4272107
NCPin: 176000-74-9239

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 14

id: 16I02055E
Tag: 16I02055E

Tax Unique Id: 4272104
NCPin: 176000-74-9380

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 15

id: 16I02055D
Tag: 16I02055D

Tax Unique Id: 4272102
NCPin: 176000-84-0331

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 16

id: 16I02055C
Tag: 16I02055C

Tax Unique Id: 4272099
NCPin: 176000-84-0391

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 17

id: 16I02008R
Tag: 16I02008R

Tax Unique Id: 4236525
NCPin: 176000-95-5856

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RIVERWOOD ATHLETIC CLUB
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DRIVE
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-0000
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 02581
Page: 0094

Market Value: 150
Assessed Acreage: 3.8

Calc. Acreage: 3.916
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2003-11-04

 
* * *  DISCLAIMER  * * *

Johnston County assumes no legal responsibility for the information represented here.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 252 of 366

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 253 of 366



 

PPAB 2574608v1 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

15-08-02-RZ Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C Rezoning 
 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 
  
Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 
 
The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically:  

- Objective 2.5 – More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes 
 
Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically (insert specifics to case) 

The rezoning of this parcel is consistent and compatible with surrounding uses and zoning 

and is in an appropriate location for expansion of the Riverwood Athletic Club master 

planned residential community 

_____________________________________________________________________________, 

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

Page 254 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: 6c Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: Major Subdivision/Preliminary Plat – 15-08-01-SUB -  Ravens Ridge 
8C 

DESCRIPTION: Mr. DeYoung will present a report regarding request for 
preliminary subdivision plat approval for the major 
subdivision of Ravens Ridge Phase 8C to allow 33 single 
family detached residential units, within Town Limits.  
Request includes modification to the overall Riverwood 
Athletic Club boundaries to include an additional 8.2 acres 
(pending annexation) 

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

4-20-15 Set Public Hearing Staff Report 
for May 4, 2015 Maps 

Application 

Page 255 of 366



Page 1 of 5 

Planning Board 
March 23, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: 15-08-01-SUB 
Project Name: RWAC Raven’s Ridge 8C 
Master Plan: Riverwood Athletic Club (RWAC) 

NC PIN / Tag #: 176000-73-7987 / 16I03028G 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: NA 
Applicant:  DC Adams Engineering Inc  
Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.) 

Neighborhood Meeting:  March 12, 2015 
Public Noticing: 

 sign posted March 19, 2015

 letters mailed TBD, 2015

 newspaper ad TBD, 2015

PROJECT LOCATION:   This property includes the original Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C, plus an additional 8.2 acres 
of land (formerly known as the House Tract), east of and adjacent to the Neuse River, south of and adjacent to 
the existing Riverwood Athletic Club, and north of Covered Bridge Rd. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting preliminary subdivision plat approval for the major subdivision of 
Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C in the Riverwood Athletic Club (RWAC) Planned Development to allow 33 single family 
detached residential units, within Town Limits. The request includes a modification to the overall RWAC 
boundaries to include an additional 8.2 acres (pending annexation). 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 12.57 acres  

Present Zoning:  Residential-Estate (R-E) and Residential-8 (R-8) 

Proposed Zoning: Residential-8 (R-8) (see 15-08-02-RZ) 

Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 256 of 366



Page 2 of 5 

DEVELOPMENT DATA: 

Proposed Uses: Single Family detached residential units 

Buildings: 33 single family detached residential units  

Number of Stories: Maximum height of 35 feet 

Impervious Surface: Maximum 55% impervious per lot and 55% per entire development 

Required Parking: 2 spaces per unit 

Proposed Parking: 2 spaces per unit 

Fire Protection: The Town of Clayton Fire Department will provide fire protection.  

Access/Streets:  Access via the Riverwood Athletic Club subdivision 

Water/Sewer Provider: Town of Clayton 

Electric Provider: Duke Energy 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 

North:  Zoning: R-8 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential (Riverwood Athletic Club Subdivision) 

South:  Zoning: R-E 
Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

East: Zoning: R-E 
Existing Use: Vacant/Agricultural 

West: Zoning: R-10 and R-E (across the Neuse River) 
Existing Use: Neuse River, with Residential/Agriculture beyond 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting preliminary subdivision plat approval for Phase 8C as depicted on the Riverwood 
Athletic Club (RWAC) Master Plan, which is under concurrent review. The plat includes an additional piece of 
land, approximately 8 acres, which represents an expansion of the RWAC boundaries. Approval of this 
preliminary subdivision plat is also subject to approval of a concurrent rezoning (15-08-02-RZ) and annexation of 
the additional 8 acres.  

The applicant is requesting approval for a total of 33 lots single family detached residential units, which will be 
of a style similar to the surrounding residential neighborhood. 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 

Page 257 of 366



Page 3 of 5 

The request is consistent with the Strategic Growth Plan, specifically Objective 2.5 – More Housing 
Opportunities – Beyond Starter Homes. 

Consistency with Master Plan 
If the RWAC Master Plan amendment is approved as proposed, the request will be consistent with the Master 
Plan. 

Consistency with the Unified Development Code 
The proposed development is consistent with and meets the applicable requirements of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC).  Individual lot development specifications including building placement, driveway 
placement, landscaping, etc. will be required to meet all Town standards and be consistent with the provisions 
of the approved Master Plan.  

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
The proposed development is consistent with the density and patterns of the RWAC Planned Development, and 
represents a continued expansion of the RWAC community. 

Recreation and Open Space 
Recreation and open space requirements have been met by the overall RWAC Planned Development. 

Environmental  
Resource conservation areas (stream buffers, 100-year flood zones) shall be preserved by a binding legal 
instrument recorded with the deed as each phase is platted. Riparian buffers not considered “stream buffers” by 
the UDC will meet all state preservation requirements. 

Signs 
No signage is requested as part of this request.  

Access/Streets  
Access will be provided via the existing RWAC subdivision. 

Multi-Modal Access 
No sidewalks are provided in this subdivision. The proposed bike/multi-purpose 10 foot paved pathway will 
connect to the existing greenway along the Neuse River, and will run along the southern side of the subdivision. 
Access will be provided via a 30’ access easement at the end of the cul-de-sac. 

Garbage / Recycling 
Roll out containers will be utilized. 

Architecture/Design 
These density and layout of the lots is similar to existing development in the RWAC subdivision. 

Waivers/Deviations/Variances from Code Requirements 
None. 

Page 258 of 366



Page 4 of 5 

CONSIDERATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting Preliminary Subdivision Plat approval for Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C.

 This approval is subject to approval of an annexation, rezoning 15-08-02-RZ, and master plan.

 Preliminary Subdivision Plats (major subdivisions) are decided by the Town Council. The Planning Board
shall make a recommendation to the Town Council.

FINDINGS: 

The applicant has addressed the Major Subdivision Approval Criteria outlined in UDC Section 155.706.  The 
applicant’s Findings of Fact are incorporated into the record as an attachment to the Staff Report. 

CONDITIONS: 

If approved, staff recommends the following conditions be applied to the approval of the preliminary subdivision 
plan: 

1. Following Board approvals, three copies of the final Preliminary Subdivision Plan meeting the
requirements of the Conditions of Approval shall be submitted to Planning Department for final
approval.

2. The final plat and subsequent development of the site shall be consistent with the specifications of the
approved Preliminary Subdivision Plan. Modifications may require additional approvals pursuant to
Section 155.706 of the Unified Development Code.

3. The proposed 10’ wide multi-use/greenway will be constructed and tied into the existing Neuse River
greenway prior to the Certificate of Occupancy being issued for the first dwelling unit.

4. All development fees shall be paid prior to final plat recordation, except that Capacity fees shall be paid
prior to issuance of building permits.

5. Resource Conservation Areas (RCAs) as defined by Section 155.500 of the Unified Development
Code (UDC) shall be identified on the final plats as being permanently set aside, and shall be
protected in perpetuity by a binding legal instrument recorded with the deed which includes clear
restriction on the use of the resource conservation area, as described in Section 155.500(F) of the
UDC.

6. RCAs shall be protected with orange fencing during the construction of adjacent parcels. Fencing
shall be installed prior to any clearing and/or grading.

7. An updated wastewater allocation request must be approved by the Town Manager.

Planning Board Recommendation:  

Page 259 of 366



Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1) Aerial Map
2) Existing and Proposed Zoning Map
3) Subdivision Findings of Fact
4) Preliminary Subdivision Plat
5) Application
6) Neighborhood Meeting Materials (if available)
7) Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness

Page 260 of 366



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

BRO
O

KHILL DR 

LOOP RD 

SMITH DR 

SARAZEN DR  

C
LA

IR
E D

R

PEARSON PL 

PAYTON DR 

HAYWOOD LN

ALAN LN  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-08-01-SUB and 15-08-02-RZ RWAC Raven's Ridge 8C
Subdivision and Rezoning from R-E to R-8

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: DC Adams Engineering, Inc.
Property Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.)
Parcel ID Number: 176000-73-7987
Tag #: 16I03028G

03/14/2015

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

LOOP RD 

BR
OOKHILL

 D
R  

SARAZEN DR 

C
LAIR

E
 D

R
 

0 2,5001,250 Feet

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 2,5001,250
Feet

±

Subject parcel

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\REZONING\Rezoning\2015\15-08-02-RZ - RWAC - Raven's Ridge 8C Rezoning - House Tract\Maps\Staff Rpt Map 15-08-02-RZ - Aerial.mxd

Developed since 
last imagery

Page 261 of 366



R-E
R-10

R-8

B-1

MCCARTHY DR 

SARAZEN DR  

HAYWOOD LN

COVERED BRIDGE RD  

MICHAEL WAY

HARDAWAY PT 

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-08-01-SUB and 15-08-02-RZ RWAC Raven's Ridge 8C
Subdivision and Rezoning from R-E to R-8

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: DC Adams Engineering, Inc.
Property Owner: FSC IV LLC (Fred Smith Co.)
Parcel ID Number: 176000-73-7987
Tag #: 16I03028G

3/14/2015

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

LOOP RD 

BR
OOKHILL

 D
R  

SARAZEN DR 

C
LAIR

E
 D

R
 

0 4,0002,000 Feet

R-E
R-10

R-8

B-1

MCCARTHY DR 

SARAZEN DR  

HAYWOOD LN

COVERED BRIDGE RD  

MICHAEL WAY

HARDAWAY PT 

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Zoning MapCurrent Zoning Map

0 1,000500
Feet

0 1,000500
Feet

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\REZONING\Rezoning\2015\15-08-02-RZ - RWAC - Raven's Ridge 8C Rezoning - House Tract\Maps\Staff Rpt Map 15-08-02-RZ - Existing and Proposed Zoning.mxd

Legend
Subject parcel

R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Page 262 of 366



Page 263 of 366



Page 264 of 366



PROJECT

RIVERWOOD ATHLETIC CLUB (CURRENT) 587.72 ACS 73.47 ACS 127.85 ACS

RIVERWOOD RANCH 266.94 ACS 33.37 ACS 55.46 ACS

RIVERWOOD ATHLETIC CLUB (ADDITION) 8.2 ACS 1.03 ACS 0.33 ACS

SUMMARY 862.86 ACS 107.86 ACS 183.64 ACS

TOTAL OPEN SPACE 

PROVIDED
TOTAL AREA

OPEN SPACE 

REQUIRED

**NOTE** THE 12.5% OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENT HAS BEEN COMPLETELY FULLFILLED UNDER CURRENT 
RIVERWOOD ON THE NEUSE MASTER PLAN APPROVAL.  ALL OPEN SPACE SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS IN 

EXCESS OF THE TOWN'S STANDARDS.

Page 265 of 366

DCAdams
DA PE SEAL

DCAdams
NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION

DCAdams
Revised



TOTAL ACREAGE OF PHASES 8C‐1/8C‐2: 11.27 ACS

MAX. IMPERVIOUS AREA (55%): 6.20 ACS

ACS SF ACS SF
8C‐1/8C‐2 1.07 46409 0.43 18659 40%

ACS SF ACS SF
8C‐1/8C‐2 5.46 237838 0.36 15610 7%

ACS SF ACS SF
8C‐1/8C‐2 27 4.74 206675 2.61 113671 55%

ROW 1.07 ACS 0.43 ACS
OPEN SPACE 5.46 ACS 0.36 ACS

LOTS 4.74 ACS 2.61 ACS
TOTAL 11.27 ACS 3.40 ACS

MAX. IMPERVIOUS AREA ALLOWED: 6.20 ACS 55%

MAX. IMPERVIOUS AREA PROPOSED: 3.40 ACS 30%

TOTAL AREA IN 

LOTS

MAX. IMPERVIOUS 

AREA (ACS/SF)

MAX. % 

IMPERVIOUS 

PER LOT

IMPERVIOUS AREA IN SUBDIVIDED LOTS

# LOTS

TOTAL  AREA
% OF TOTAL PHASE IN 

IMPERVIOUS

4%

PHASES 8C‐1/8C‐2 TOTALS ‐ PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA

USE TYPE

PHASE 8C‐1/8C‐2 IMPERVIOUS AREA SUMMARY

IMPERVIOUS AREA IN ROW

% OF ROW IN 

IMPERVIOUS

IMPERVIOUS AREA IN OPEN SPACE

3%
23%

TOTAL OPEN SPACE 

AREA

PROPOSED 

IMPERVIOUS AREA 
% OF OPEN 

SPACE IN 

IMPERVIOUS

PHASE

TOTAL ROW AREA
PROPOSED 

IMPERVIOUS AREA 

30%

PHASE

PHASE

PROPOSED 

IMPERVIOUS 

WITHIN USE TYPE

FRONT 

(FT)

SIDE 

(FT)

REAR 

(FT)

STREET SIDE 

(FT)

8C‐1/8C‐2 SINGLE FAMILY 11.27 27 42 6000 55% 20 6 15 10 10 35

MAX. 

BLDG. 

HEIGHT 

(FT)

LOT STANDARDS TABLE

PHASE UNIT TYPE AREA (ACS)
# OF 

UNITS

MIN. LOT 

WIDTH 

(FT)

MIN. LOT 

AREA (SF)

MAX. 

IMPERVIOUS 

AREA PER LOT 

(SF)

SETBACKS
MIN. 

BLDG. 

SEPARATI

ON (FT)

Page 266 of 366

DCAdams
NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION

DCAdams
DA PE SEAL

DCAdams
Revised



Page 267 of 366

DCAdams
NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION

DCAdams
DA PE SEAL

DCAdams
Revised



Page 268 of 366

DCAdams
NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION

DCAdams
DA PE SEAL

DCAdams
Revised



Page 269 of 366



Page 270 of 366



Page 271 of 366



Page 272 of 366



Page 273 of 366



Page 274 of 366



Page 275 of 366



Page 276 of 366



Page 277 of 366



Page 278 of 366



Page 279 of 366



Page 280 of 366



Page 281 of 366



Page 282 of 366



Page 283 of 366



Page 284 of 366



Page 285 of 366



Page 286 of 366



Page 287 of 366



Page 288 of 366



Page 289 of 366



Page 290 of 366



* * *  DISCLAIMER  * * *
Johnston County assumes no legal responsibility for the information represented here.

Scale:   1:4144    -    1 in. = 345.33 feet

(The scale is only accurate when printed landscape on a 11 x 17 size sheet with no page scaling.)
Johnston County GIS

February 25, 2015

Result 1

id: 16I03027
Tag: 16I03027

Tax Unique Id: 4272163
NCPin: 176000-93-4951

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC RANCH LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1: 3131 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27527-

Book: 04538
Page: 0617

Market Value: 454350
Assessed Acreage: 84.28

Calc. Acreage: 84.08
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2014-12-19

Result 2

id: 16I03028
Tag: 16I03028

Tax Unique Id: 4268744
NCPin: 176000-82-1830

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: HOUSE, MAVIS C
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 2873 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-0000
Site Address 1: 2873 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27527-

Book: 00705
Page: 0629

Market Value: 444620
Assessed Acreage: 68.94

Calc. Acreage: 68.88
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 1970-01-01

Result 3

id: 05H02009
Tag: 05H02009

Tax Unique Id: 4265643
NCPin: 166900-38-4997

Mapsheet No: 1669
Owner Name 1: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP JR

IRREVOCABLE TRUST
Owner Name 2: EARP, NANCY CREWS

EXECUTOR
Mail Address 1: 7230 NC HWY 42 E
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: SELMA, NC 27576-6005
Site Address 1: 1162 COVERED BRIDGE RD
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 03897
Page: 0735

Market Value: 2189860
Assessed Acreage: 631.06

Calc. Acreage: 631.04
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2010-07-12

Result 4

id: 05H01010I
Tag: 05H01010I

Tax Unique Id: 4231712
NCPin: 176000-64-9005

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: OBRIEN, ANGELLA J
Owner Name 2: OBRIEN, DAVID MICHAEL
Mail Address 1: 8307 CAZAVINI CT
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: RALEIGH, NC 27613-4467
Site Address 1: 151 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 04356
Page: 0783

Market Value: 376900
Assessed Acreage: 1.88

Calc. Acreage: 1.76
Sales Price: 365000

Sale Date: 2013-09-18

Result 5

id: 05H01010J
Tag: 05H01010J

Tax Unique Id: 4215648
NCPin: 176000-64-9107

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: SAMMONS, DAVID H JR
Owner Name 2: SAMMONS, RENE D
Mail Address 1: 147 MICHAEL WAY
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-0000
Site Address 1: 147 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 03113
Page: 0040

Market Value: 384520
Assessed Acreage: 1.73

Calc. Acreage: 1.69
Sales Price: 412000

Sale Date: 2006-05-02

Result 6

id: 05H01010K
Tag: 05H01010K

Tax Unique Id: 4223545
NCPin: 176000-64-8382

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: HARRIS, JONATHAN DAVID
Owner Name 2: HARRIS, ANGELA NICOLE
Mail Address 1: 143 MICHAEL WAY
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-5507
Site Address 1: 143 MICHAEL WAY
Site Address 2: CLAYTON, NC 27520-

Book: 04199
Page: 0815

Market Value: 513060
Assessed Acreage: 2.27

Calc. Acreage: 2.39
Sales Price: 417000

Sale Date: 2012-11-02

Page 291 of 366



Result 7

id: 16I02056C
Tag: 16I02056C

Tax Unique Id: 4272092
NCPin: 176000-74-4387

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC RANCH LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04538
Page: 0617

Market Value: 100
Assessed Acreage: 2.55

Calc. Acreage: 2.54
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2014-12-19

Result 8

id: 16I02055K
Tag: 16I02055K

Tax Unique Id: 4272124
NCPin: 176000-74-6353

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: FSC IV LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04404
Page: 0287

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.17

Calc. Acreage: 0.17
Sales Price: 3000000

Sale Date: 2014-01-17

Result 9

id: 16I02055J
Tag: 16I02055J

Tax Unique Id: 4272121
NCPin: 176000-74-7209

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RMS INVESTMENTS LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04547
Page: 0906

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.16

Calc. Acreage: 0.16
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-16

Result 10

id: 16I02055I
Tag: 16I02055I

Tax Unique Id: 4272116
NCPin: 176000-74-7268

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RMS INVESTMENTS LLC
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DR
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27527-5500
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04547
Page: 0906

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-16

Result 11

id: 16I02055H
Tag: 16I02055H

Tax Unique Id: 4272114
NCPin: 176000-74-8227

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0342

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 12

id: 16I02055G
Tag: 16I02055G

Tax Unique Id: 4272112
NCPin: 176000-74-8288

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 13

id: 16I02055F
Tag: 16I02055F

Tax Unique Id: 4272107
NCPin: 176000-74-9239

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 14

id: 16I02055E
Tag: 16I02055E

Tax Unique Id: 4272104
NCPin: 176000-74-9380

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 15

id: 16I02055D
Tag: 16I02055D

Tax Unique Id: 4272102
NCPin: 176000-84-0331

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 16

id: 16I02055C
Tag: 16I02055C

Tax Unique Id: 4272099
NCPin: 176000-84-0391

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: CAVINESS & CATES BUILDING

 AND
Owner Name 2: DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
Mail Address 1: 639 EXECUTIVE PL STE 400
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: FAYETTEVILLE, NC 28305-5489
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 04546
Page: 0333

Market Value: 40000
Assessed Acreage: 0.14

Calc. Acreage: 0.14
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2015-01-12

Result 17

id: 16I02008R
Tag: 16I02008R

Tax Unique Id: 4236525
NCPin: 176000-95-5856

Mapsheet No: 1760
Owner Name 1: RIVERWOOD ATHLETIC CLUB
Owner Name 2:  
Mail Address 1: 400 RIVERWOOD DRIVE
Mail Address 2:  
Mail Address 3: CLAYTON, NC 27520-0000
Site Address 1:  
Site Address 2:  

Book: 02581
Page: 0094

Market Value: 150
Assessed Acreage: 3.8

Calc. Acreage: 3.916
Sales Price: 0

Sale Date: 2003-11-04

* * *  DISCLAIMER  * * *
Johnston County assumes no legal responsibility for the information represented here.

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 292 of 366

http://www.tcpdf.org


Page 293 of 366



PPAB 2574608v1

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

15-08-01-SUB Raven’s Ridge Phase 8C Preliminary Subdivision (Major) 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 

Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 

The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically: 
- Objective 2.5 – More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes 

Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically (insert specifics to case) 

The subdivision site plan for this parcel is consistent and compatible with surrounding uses 

and neighborhood design and is in an appropriate expansion of the Riverwood Athletic 

Club master planned residential community 

_____________________________________________________________________________, 

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

Page 294 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 6d    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Rezoning – 14-126-01 – Proctor’s Place 
 
DESCRIPTION: Mr. DeYoung will present a report regarding request for 

rezoning .75+ acres located between apartment building at 
444 West Main Street and commercial building at 510 West 
Main Street, in between Main Street and the railroad tracks. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Set Public Hearing  Staff Report 
    for May 4, 2015   Maps 
         Application 
         Consistency &  
         Reasonableness   
         Statement 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 295 of 366



Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Planning Board  
March 23, 2015 

STAFF REPORT 

 
Application Number:  14-126-01-RZ (Rezoning) 
Project Name: Proctor’s Place east parking lot rezoning 
NC PIN / Tag #: 165916-94-0664 / 05023036B 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: NA 
Applicant:  Calvary Chapel 
Owner: Sherald and Diane Lee 
Neighborhood Meeting:   Held February 16, 2015  
Public Noticing:  

 sign posted March 19, 2015 

 letters mailed TBD, 2015 

 newspaper ad TBD, 2015 
 

 

PROJECT LOCATION:   The property is located at 510 W Main Street between an apartment building at 444 W 
Main Street and a commercial building at 510 W Main Street. 
 

 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting approval to rezone .75± acres located between apartment building at 
444 W Main Street and commercial building at 510 W Main Street, in between Main St and the railroad tracks. 
 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 0.75± acres  

Present Zoning:  Residential-6 (R-6) 

Proposed Zoning:  Business-2 (B-2) 

Existing Use: Vacant 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 
 
North:   Zoning: Residential-10 (R-10) 

Existing Use: Single Family Residential and Railroad Tracks 
 
South:   Zoning: Residential-6 (R-6)  
 Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-1545 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 296 of 366



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
East:  Zoning: Residential-6 (R-6) 
 Existing Use: Apartments 
 
West:  Zoning: Business-2 (B-2) 
 Existing Use: Office Building (Proctor’s Place) 
   

 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 
 
Overview 
The applicant is requesting approval for rezoning of the subject property from Single Family Residential 6 (R-6) 
to Neighborhood Business (B-2).  The site is currently vacant. 
 
The site is on Main Street and B-2 is a compatible zoning for this area. The applicant has indicated that if 
approved, the site would be developed as a parking lot for uses at the associated Proctor’s Place office complex. 
However, all uses permitted in the B-2 zoning district would be permitted if the site is rezoned. For example, the 
following uses are permitted by-right in B-2: Boarding House, Car Wash/Auto Detailing, Bank, Funeral Home, and 
Medical Office. This list represents some of the more intensive uses that may occur in B-2. Proctor’s Place office 
park is adjacent to this parcel, and represents another use (General Office) that is permitted and generally 
occurs in B-2. 
 
Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
This property is currently a vacant lot that is being used as overflow parking for Proctor’s Place (zoned B-2), 
which is located to the site’s west.  The railroad Right-Of-Way (ROW) on the north side of the site provides a 
natural barrier to the residential lots and cemetery that lie on the other side of the ROW. An apartment complex 
is on the east side. The site is bounded on the south by Main St, which means it is a high-visibility site. 
Residences are to the south of the site. Overall, B-2 is compatible with the surrounding uses, particularly since 
the site is on Main St. 

 
The Unified Development Code provides certain protections for residential properties adjacent to commercial 
uses, primarily in the form of buffering. Adjacent properties could expect a minimum six foot visual screening 
from the property if developed as a commercial use. Landscaped buffers (Class B) would be required on all sides 
of the property except the west. (See §155.402(E)). 
 
Access/Streets:   
The property fronts on and is currently accessed from Main St. Access is not a problem.   

 
Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
This rezoning is consistent with Objective 2.1, and while not consistent with the proposed land use map (it is 
shown as residential on the proposed land use map – see attached map), the growth of downtown and existing 
uses and zoning surrounding this property make B-2 an appropriate designation.  
 
 
  
 
 

Page 297 of 366



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

CONSIDERATIONS:  
 

 The applicant is requesting a rezoning from R-6 to B-2. 

 Rezonings are decided by the Town Council. The Planning Board shall make a recommendation to the 
Town Council.  

 When adopting or rejecting the rezoning, the Town Council shall approve a statement describing 
whether its action is consistent with an adopted plans and policies of the Town and explaining why the 
Council considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff is recommending approval of the rezoning. 
 

 

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1) Aerial Map 
2) Existing and Proposed Zoning Map 
3) Proposed Land Use Map 
4) Table 2.1 – allowed uses 
5) Application 
6) Neighborhood Meeting Materials (if available) 
7) Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness 

 
 

Page 298 of 366



MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

FRONT ST  
STALLINGS ST  

FIRST ST  

CHARLE
S S

T  

CIT
Y 

RD  

MULB
ERRY ST  

MOORE ST  

HORNE ST  

ROBERTSON ST  

NEW H
OPE LN

  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

14-126-01-RZ Proctor's Place East Parking Lot
Rezoning from R-6 to B-2

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Calvary Chapel
Property Owner: Sherald and Donald Lee
Parcel ID Number: 165916-94-0664
Tag #: 05023036B

03/14/2015

MAIN ST  

STALLINGS ST  

SECOND ST  

FRONT ST  

HORNE ST  

MOORE ST  

C
IT

Y 
R

D
  

CHARLE
S S

T  

PARK DR  

KI
LG

O
 S

T 
 

WHITAKER ST  

NEW ST  

0 760380 Feet

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 500250
Feet

 ±

Subject parcel

Page 299 of 366



B-3

R-6

B-2

R-10

B-1

R-8

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

STALLINGS ST  

HORNE ST  

FRONT ST  

ROBERTSON S
T  

FIRST ST  

KI
LG

O
 S

T 
 

NEW
 H

OPE LN
  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

14-126-01-RZ Proctor's Place East Parking Lot
Rezoning from R-6 to B-2

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Calvary Chapel
Property Owner: Sherald and Donald Lee
Parcel ID Number: 165916-94-0664
Tag #: 05023036B

3/14/2015

MAIN ST  

STALLINGS ST  

SECOND ST  

FRONT ST  

MOORE ST  

C
IT

Y 
R

D
  

CHARLE
S S

T  HORNE ST  

KI
LG

O
 S

T 
 

PARK DR  0 1,000500 Feet

B-3

R-6

R-10

B-2

B-1

R-8

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

STALLINGS ST  

HORNE ST  

FRONT ST  

FIRST ST  

KI
LG

O
 S

T 
 

ROBERTSON S
T  

CI
TY

 R
D 

 

NEW
 H

OPE LN
  

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Zoning MapCurrent Zoning Map

0 500250
Feet

0 500250
Feet

 

Legend
Subject parcels

R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Page 300 of 366



Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)
14-126-01-RZ Proctor's Place East Parking Lot Rezoning - R-6 to B-2

Produced by: TOC Planning

03/14/2015

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

STALLINGS ST  

FRONT ST  

HORNE ST  

MOORE S
T  

CHARLE
S S

T  

C
IT

Y 
R

D
  

0 1,000500 Feet

CBD

INDUSTRIAL

PUBLIC

RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM
RESIDENTIAL-INFILL

OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION

MULTI-FAMILY

COMMERCIAL

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

FRONT ST  

STALLINGS ST  

MOORE S
T  

CHARLE
S S

T  HORNE ST  

FIRST ST  

O'NEIL 
ST  

WHITAKER ST  

AT
KIN

SON S
T  

ROBERTSON S
T  

KILD
EE S

T  

W
ILLOW

 DR  
PARK DR  

C
IT

Y 
R

D
  

BROOK ST  

BARNES ST  DODD S
T  

FA
YETTEVILL

E S
T  

VIR
GIN

IA ST  

STEWART ST  

RID
GEC

REST 
DR  

MULB
ERRY S

T  

NEW
 H

OPE LN
  HORNE ST  

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)

0 500250
Feet

Legend
Subject parcel

PROPOSED LAND USE
CBD
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL
MULTI-FAMILY
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL
OFFICE INSTITUTIONAL
OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION
PUBLIC
RESIDENTIAL-INFILL
RESIDENTIAL-LIGHT
RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM
SMALL AREA PLAN

Applicant: Calvary Chapel
Property Owner: Sherald and Donald Lee
Parcel ID Number: 165916-94-0664
Tag #: 05023036B

 

Page 301 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Table 2-1 Use Regulations 
 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Residential Uses 

Adult Care Home (2-6 Adults) P P P P        §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (7-12 Adults) S S S S  C S S S   §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (13+ Adults)      C S S S   §155.301(A) 

Alley Loaded House  P P P        §155.301(B) 

Apartments  S S S S S S S S   §155.301(C) 

Boarding House    C  P  P    §155.301(D) 

Child Care Home C C C C C       §155.301(E) 

Manufactured Home P           §155.301(F) 

Manufactured Home Park S           §155.301(G) 

Nursing Home (Congregate Living Facility) C   C  P  S P   §155.301(H) 

Two family House  S S S S       §155.301(I) 

Townhouse  S S S S S S S S   §155.301(J) 

Security/Caretaker Quarters C        C   §155.301(K) 

Single Family House P P P P        §155.301(L) 

Upper-story Residence S S S S S P P P P   §155.301(M) 

Zero Lot Line House  P P P        §155.301(N) 

             

Public and Civic Uses 

Assembly, Not For Profit S     P   P   §155.302(A) 

Cemetery P        P   §155.302(B) 
Church or Place of Worship C C C C  C  C C   §155.302(C) 
College or University      P      §155.302(D) 
Day Care (Supervision for 3-8 ) C C C C C       §155.302(E) 
Day Care (Supervision for 9+) C C C C C P P C P   §155.302(E) 
Government Service S S S S P P P P P P P §155.302(F) 
Hospital or Medical Center      P   P   §155.302(G) 
School (Elementary or Secondary) S S S S  S      §155.302(H) 
School (Technical, Trade or Business) S S S S  P P  P P P §155.302(I) 
Recreational Uses 

Entertainment, Indoor       C C C P P  §155.303(A) 

Entertainment, Outdoor         C P  §155.303(B) 

Fitness Center      C C C P P  §155.303(C) 

Golf Course P P P P        §155.303(D) 

Gun Range       S S S S S §155.303(E) 

Park, Active S S S S S S S S S S S §155.303(F) 

Park, Passive C C C C P P C C C C C §155.303(G) 

Stable, Private P           §155.303(H) 

Agricultural Uses  

Agriculture, Livestock C          C §155.304(A) 

Agriculture, Sales and Service P          C §155.304(B) 

Nursery P     P P C P   §155.304(C) 

Commercial Uses  

Adult Oriented Business         S  S §155.305(A) 

Bed and Breakfast P     P P P P   §155.305(B) 

Car Wash/Auto Detailing      C C P P   §155.305(C) 

Contractor Office      C C  P P P §155.305(D) 

Contractor Storage Yard         C C P §155.305(E) 

Convenience Store with Gas Sales       C C P P P §155.305(F) 

Creative Studio     P P P P P   §155.305(G) 

Financial Institution     P P P P P   §155.305(H) 

Funeral Home    C P P P P P   §155.305(I) 

Hotel/Motel      S S S P   §155.305(J) 

Kennel C       C    §155.305(K) 

Laundry Services       C  C P P §155.305(L) 

Lounge, Cocktail       S  S S S §155.305(M) 

Microbrewery       P  P P P §155.305(N) 

Page 302 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Newspaper Publisher         P P P §155.305(O) 

Office, General     P P P P P P  §155.305(P) 

Office, Medical     P P P P P P  §155.305(Q) 

Outdoor Seating/Sidewalk Cafe      C P C C   §155.305(R) 

Pawn Shop         C P  §155.305(S) 

Radio or Television Studio         P P P §155.305(T) 

Restaurant, Drive-Through         C C C  §155.305(U) 

Restaurant, General      C P P P C  §155.305(V) 

Retail Sales, General       P  P   §155.305(W) 

Retail Sales, Neighborhood       P P P   §155.305(X) 

Self-storage Facility         C P P §155.305(Y) 

Service, General       P  P   §155.305(Z) 

Service, Neighborhood       P P P   §155.305(AA) 

Tattoo Parlor         S   §155.305(BB) 

Towing Service and Storage         C C C §155.305(CC) 

Vehicle Repair or Service         S P P §155.305(DD) 

Vehicle Sales and Rental         P P P §155.305(EE) 

Veterinary Clinic      C C C P   §155.305(FF) 

Video Sweepstakes Operations          S  §155.305(GG) 

Industrial Uses 

Building Supplies, Wholesale         C P P §155.306(A) 

Crematorium          P P §155.306(B) 

Gas and Fuel, Wholesale          P P §155.306(C) 

Laboratory, Research      P   P P P §155.306(D) 

Manufacturing, Limited          P P §155.306(E) 

Manufacturing, General          C P §155.306(F) 

Manufacturing, Heavy           P §155.306(G) 

Research and Development      P   P P P §155.306(H) 

Warehouse, Freight Movement         C P P §155.306(I) 

Utilities 

Recycling Center          P P §155.307(A) 

Renewable Energy Facility S         C P §155.307(B) 

Telecommunication Facility S S S S S S S S S S S §155.307(C) 

Utility, Minor P P P P P P P P P P P §155.307(D) 

Utility, Major          P P §155.307(E) 

Waste Service          C P §155.307(F) 

Key: 

P – Permitted  

C – Conditional Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Board of Adjustment (BOA) ( § 155.710) 

S – Special Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Town Council (TC) ) ( § 155.711) 

 
 (Ord. 2005-11-02, passed 11-21-05; Am. Ord. 2007-05-02, passed 5-7-07; Am. Ord. 2009-06-06, 
passed 6-1-09; Am. Ord. 2009-08-03, passed 8-3-09; Am. Ord 2014-12-02, passed 12-1-14) 

 

Page 303 of 366

http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710
http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710


Page 304 of 366



Page 305 of 366



Page 306 of 366



Page 307 of 366



Page 308 of 366



Page 309 of 366



Page 310 of 366



Page 311 of 366



Page 312 of 366



Page 313 of 366



Page 314 of 366



Page 315 of 366



Page 316 of 366



Page 317 of 366



Page 318 of 366



Page 319 of 366



 

PPAB 2574608v1 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

14-126-01-RZ Proctor’s Place Rezoning East Parking Lot 
 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 
  
Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 
 
The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically:  

- Objective 2.1 – Balanced Development/Investment: Old & New 
 
Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically (insert specifics to case) 

The rezoning of this parcel is consistent and compatible with surrounding uses and zoning 

and is in an appropriate location for business-related uses 

_____________________________________________________________________________, 

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

Page 320 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

Agenda Item: Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 

TITLE: 

6e 

Rezoning – 15-05-01-RZ -  Horne Memorial Church

DESCRIPTION: Mr. DeYoung will present a report regarding request for 
rezoning  of three parcels (.71 acres) located on Church 
Street between Horne and Pages from Residential R-6 to 
Office-Institutional O-I. 

RELATED GOAL: 

ITEM SUMMARY: 

Date: Action: Info. Provided: 

4-20-15 Set Public Hearing Staff Report 
for May 4, 2015 Maps 

Application 
Consistency & 
Reasonableness 
Statement 

Page 321 of 366



Page 1 of 3 

Planning Board 
March 23, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: 15-05-01-RZ 
Project Name: Horne Memorial Rezoning 

NC PIN / Tag #: 166917-02-3423/05015059, 166917-02-2346/05015060, 166917-02-
2480/05015060A 

Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: NA 
Applicant:  True Line Surveying  
Owner: Horne Memorial United Methodist Church 

Neighborhood Meeting:  Held January 21, 2015 
Public Noticing: 

 sign posted March 19,, 2015

 letters mailed TBD, 2015

 newspaper ad TBD, 2015

PROJECT LOCATION:   The property is located 
near Horne, Page, and Church Streets, on the 
same block at Town Hall. See inset map. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting 
approval to rezone three parcels (0.71 acres) 
located on Church Street between  Horne and 
Page from Residential-6 (R-6) to Office-
Institutional (O-I).  

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 0.714 acres 

Present Zoning:  Residential-6 (R-6) 

Proposed Zoning: Office-Institutional 
(O-I) 

Existing Use: Church, church daycare, and church offices. 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-1545 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 322 of 366



Page 2 of 3 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 

North:  Zoning: Office-Institutional (O-I)/Business-1 (B-1) 
Existing Use: Clayton Center/Town of Clayton Library & Event Venue (the Wagner House) 

South:  Zoning: Residential-6 (R-6) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential 

East: Zoning: Residential-6 (R-6) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential, Women’s Club 

West: Zoning: Residential-6 (R-6)/Office-Institutional (O-I) 
Existing Use: Single Family Residential/Clayton Center 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting approval for rezoning of the subject parcels from Residential-6 (R-6) to Office-
Institutional (O-I).  The site is currently used for church and church-related activities. The three parcels occupy 
approximately 0.714 acres, and include the historic Horne Memorial Church, the church daycare, and some 
church-related office space in an existing residential house (the Lassiter House). 

The Horne Memorial Church is an urban church that the town has grown up around. The applicant is looking to 
rezone these parcels in preparation of recombination of the three parcels; the daycare playground (in particular) 
is on a nonconforming lot. Rezoning and recombining the parcels on this block would allow the Church to 
accommodate their future needs for this part of their operations, reduce the non-conformity of the lot, and 
place the church into a more appropriate zoning district. A church is permitted in both the existing and proposed 
zoning district, but staff feels that the O-I district is a better fit for this church and its associated uses, particularly 
given its location immediately adjacent to the Clayton Center. 

Currently allowed uses, either by right or as a conditional use in R-6 (the current zoning on the property), include 
most types of residential uses, Adult Care Home (potentially up to 12 adults), Nursing Home, Boarding House, 
Church, Daycare, School, Park, and Funeral Home. Office-Institutional (O-I) zoning allows for uses that are 
common in office buildings, such as Boarding House, Nursing Home, Daycare, Bed and Breakfast, Funeral Home, 
Financial Institution, General and Medical Offices, and Research Laboratories, among some other less common 
uses. Even though offices are only permitted as primary uses in O-I, they are allowed in R-6 as accessory uses for 
the Church. Self-storage Facilities are not allowed as a primary use in either zoning district. 

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
The site is located on the boundary between office, event-space, and public uses (library) to the north, and the 
historic, downtown single-family residential neighborhood to the south. Further to the north is the business core 
of downtown Clayton. The Church shares the block with Town Hall, which is also an office-type use that hosts 
events at somewhat regular intervals. The Church and Town Hall are very compatible uses to share a block, and 

Page 323 of 366



Page 3 of 3 

serve as an appropriate step-down in intensity between the bustle of the downtown business district to the 
north and the less intensive residential area to the south. 

Access/Streets:  
The property has adequate access, being bounded on three sides by two-way streets. Most parking occurs on-
street or in nearby public parking lots.  

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
This rezoning is consistent with the 2008 Strategic Growth Plan; see Goal 2.1. 

CONSIDERATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting a rezoning from R-6 to O-I.

 Rezonings are decided by the Town Council. The Planning Board shall make a recommendation to the
Town Council.

 When adopting or rejecting the rezoning, the Town Council shall approve a statement describing
whether its action is consistent with adopted plans and/or policies of the Town and explaining why the
Council considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff is recommending approval of the rezoning of these three parcels. 

PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1) Aerial Map
2) Existing and Proposed Zoning Map
3) Proposed Land Use Map
4) Table 2.1 – allowed uses
5) Application
6) Neighborhood Meeting Materials – original
7) Neighborhood Meeting Materials – Planning Dept. response
8) Neighborhood Meeting Materials – applicant-corrected minutes
9) Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness

Page 324 of 366



HORNE ST  

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  FA
YETTEVILL

E ST  

BLANCHE ST  

CHURCH S
T  

O'NEIL 
ST  

PA
GE S

T  

BARBOUR S
T  

FRONT ST  

CLA
Y S

T  

PENNY ST  LO
MBARD S

T  

ELL
IN

GTON S
T  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-05-01-RZ Horne Memorial Rezoning
Rezoning from R-6 to O-I

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: True Line Surveying
Property Owner: Horne Memorial United Methodist Church
Parcel ID Number: 166917-02-3423, 166917-02-2480, 166917-02-2346
Tag #: 05015059, 05015060A, 05015060

03/14/2015

HORNE ST  

MAIN ST  
SECOND ST  

O'NEIL 
ST  

FA
YETTEVILL

E S
T  

CHURCH ST  

BLANCHE ST  

PA
GE S

T  

BARBOUR S
T  

ELL
IN

GTO
N S

T  

FIRST ST  

0 0.0550.0275 Miles

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 500250
Feet

±

Subject parcels

Page 325 of 366



O-I

B-1

R-6

R-8

R-10

B-2

HORNE ST  

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

O'NEIL 
ST  

FA
YETTEVILL

E S
T  

PA
GE S

T  

CHURCH S
T  

BARBOUR S
T  

BLANCHE ST  

FIRST ST  

FRONT ST  

ELL
IN

GTON S
T  

CLA
Y S

T  

PENNY ST  

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

15-05-01-RZ Horne Memorial Rezoning
Rezoning from R-6 to O-I

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: True Line Surveying
Property Owner: Horne Memorial United Methodist Church
Parcel ID Number: 166917-02-3423, 166917-02-2480, 166917-02-2346
Tag #: 05015059, 05015060A, 05015060

3/14/2015

HORNE ST  

MAIN ST  
SECOND ST  

O'NEIL 
ST  

BLANCHE ST  

CHURCH ST  

PA
GE S

T  

BARBOUR S
T  

LO
MBARD ST  PENNY ST  0 0.0550.0275 Miles

O-I

B-1

R-6

R-8

R-10

B-2

HORNE ST  

MAIN ST  

SECOND ST  

O'NEIL 
ST  

FA
YETTEVILL

E S
T  

CHURCH S
T  

PA
GE S

T  

BARBOUR S
T  

BLANCHE ST  

FIRST ST  

FRONT ST  

ELL
IN

GTON S
T  

CLA
Y S

T  

PENNY ST  

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Zoning MapCurrent Zoning Map

0 500250
Feet

0 500250
Feet

Legend
Subject parcels

R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Page 326 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Table 2-1 Use Regulations 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Residential Uses 

Adult Care Home (2-6 Adults) P P P P §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (7-12 Adults) S S S S C S S S §155.301(A) 

Adult Care Home (13+ Adults) C S S S §155.301(A) 

Alley Loaded House P P P §155.301(B) 

Apartments S S S S S S S S §155.301(C) 

Boarding House C P P §155.301(D) 

Child Care Home C C C C C §155.301(E) 

Manufactured Home P §155.301(F) 

Manufactured Home Park S §155.301(G) 

Nursing Home (Congregate Living Facility) C C P S P §155.301(H) 

Two family House S S S S §155.301(I) 

Townhouse S S S S S S S S §155.301(J) 

Security/Caretaker Quarters C C §155.301(K) 

Single Family House P P P P §155.301(L) 

Upper-story Residence S S S S S P P P P §155.301(M) 

Zero Lot Line House P P P §155.301(N) 

Public and Civic Uses 

Assembly, Not For Profit S P P §155.302(A) 

Cemetery P P §155.302(B)

Church or Place of Worship C C C C C C C §155.302(C)

College or University P §155.302(D)

Day Care (Supervision for 3-8 ) C C C C C §155.302(E)

Day Care (Supervision for 9+) C C C C C P P C P §155.302(E)

Government Service S S S S P P P P P P P §155.302(F)

Hospital or Medical Center P P §155.302(G)

School (Elementary or Secondary) S S S S S §155.302(H)

School (Technical, Trade or Business) S S S S P P P P P §155.302(I)

Recreational Uses 

Entertainment, Indoor  C C C P P §155.303(A) 

Entertainment, Outdoor C P §155.303(B) 

Fitness Center C C C P P §155.303(C) 

Golf Course P P P P §155.303(D) 

Gun Range S S S S S §155.303(E) 

Park, Active S S S S S S S S S S S §155.303(F) 

Park, Passive C C C C P P C C C C C §155.303(G) 

Stable, Private P §155.303(H) 

Agricultural Uses 

Agriculture, Livestock C C §155.304(A) 

Agriculture, Sales and Service P C §155.304(B) 

Nursery P P P C P §155.304(C) 

Commercial Uses 

Adult Oriented Business S S §155.305(A) 

Bed and Breakfast P P P P P §155.305(B) 

Car Wash/Auto Detailing C C P P §155.305(C) 

Contractor Office C C P P P §155.305(D) 

Contractor Storage Yard C C P §155.305(E) 

Convenience Store with Gas Sales C C P P P §155.305(F) 

Creative Studio P P P P P §155.305(G) 

Financial Institution P P P P P §155.305(H) 

Funeral Home C P P P P P §155.305(I) 

Hotel/Motel S S S P §155.305(J) 

Kennel C C §155.305(K) 

Laundry Services C C P P §155.305(L) 

Lounge, Cocktail S S S S §155.305(M) 

Microbrewery P P P P §155.305(N) 

Page 327 of 366



Abridged Use Table, created: March 16, 2015 
Town of Clayton, NC 

Use Type 

Zoning Districts 

Specific Use 
Section 

Residential Nonresidential 

R-E R-10 R-8 R-6 O-R O-I B-1 B-2 B-3 I-1 I-2 

Newspaper Publisher P P P §155.305(O) 

Office, General P P P P P P §155.305(P) 

Office, Medical P P P P P P §155.305(Q) 

Outdoor Seating/Sidewalk Cafe C P C C §155.305(R) 

Pawn Shop C P §155.305(S) 

Radio or Television Studio P P P §155.305(T) 

Restaurant, Drive-Through  C C C §155.305(U) 

Restaurant, General C P P P C §155.305(V) 

Retail Sales, General P P §155.305(W) 

Retail Sales, Neighborhood P P P §155.305(X) 

Self-storage Facility C P P §155.305(Y) 

Service, General P P §155.305(Z) 

Service, Neighborhood P P P §155.305(AA) 

Tattoo Parlor S §155.305(BB) 

Towing Service and Storage C C C §155.305(CC) 

Vehicle Repair or Service S P P §155.305(DD) 

Vehicle Sales and Rental P P P §155.305(EE) 

Veterinary Clinic C C C P §155.305(FF) 

Video Sweepstakes Operations S §155.305(GG) 

Industrial Uses 

Building Supplies, Wholesale C P P §155.306(A) 

Crematorium P P §155.306(B) 

Gas and Fuel, Wholesale P P §155.306(C) 

Laboratory, Research P P P P §155.306(D) 

Manufacturing, Limited P P §155.306(E) 

Manufacturing, General C P §155.306(F) 

Manufacturing, Heavy P §155.306(G) 

Research and Development P P P P §155.306(H) 

Warehouse, Freight Movement C P P §155.306(I) 

Utilities 

Recycling Center P P §155.307(A) 

Renewable Energy Facility S C P §155.307(B) 

Telecommunication Facility S S S S S S S S S S S §155.307(C) 

Utility, Minor P P P P P P P P P P P §155.307(D) 

Utility, Major P P §155.307(E) 

Waste Service C P §155.307(F) 

Key: 

P – Permitted 

C – Conditional Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Board of Adjustment (BOA) ( § 155.710) 

S – Special Use permitted in the zoning district only if approved by the Town Council (TC) ) ( § 155.711) 

 (Ord. 2005-11-02, passed 11-21-05; Am. Ord. 2007-05-02, passed 5-7-07; Am. Ord. 2009-06-06, 
passed 6-1-09; Am. Ord. 2009-08-03, passed 8-3-09; Am. Ord 2014-12-02, passed 12-1-14) 

Page 328 of 366

http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710
http://www.amlegal.com/nxt/gateway.dll?f=id$id=Clayton,%20NC%20Code%20of%20Ordinances%3Ar%3A180a$cid=north%20carolina$t=document-frame.htm$an=JD_155.710$3.0#JD_155.710


Page 329 of 366



Page 330 of 366



Page 331 of 366



Page 332 of 366



Page 333 of 366



Page 334 of 366



Page 335 of 366



Page 336 of 366



Page 337 of 366



Page 338 of 366



Page 339 of 366



Page 340 of 366



Page 341 of 366



1

Jay McLeod

From: Jay McLeod
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 12:28 PM
To: Molly Herring (molly@truelinesurveying.com)
Cc: Curk Lane (curk@truelinesurveying.com); David DeYoung; Rebecca Powers; Emily 

Beddingfield
Subject: FW: Horne Memorial, Minutes Insufficient
Attachments: Neighborhood Meeting.pdf

Hi Molly, 
 
The attached, submitted minutes for the neighborhood  meetings for the Horne Memorial rezoning applications (15‐05‐
01‐RZ and 15‐05‐02‐RZ) are insufficient and do not meet the spirit or requirements of the Code. I was at the first 
meeting, and I have two pages of handwritten notes detailing issues raised by residents and neighbors. The two 
sentences in this attachment that describe the meeting hardly do justice to the meeting or the residents and applicants. 
It might even be argued that the submitted minutes intentionally misrepresent the discussions that have taken place. 
These minutes will be submitted as statements of fact to the Planning Board and Town Council, as well as scrutinized by 
the residents that attended these meetings, and must represent to the best of all of our abilities a factual accounting of 
what has transpired. 
 
In addition to sign‐in sheets (which are part of your submission and do meet the requirement), sufficient minutes will 
have a record of what issues were raised, how they were addressed by the applicant, and what (if any) resolution was 
agreed upon. I am also aware that a rendering was presented at the March neighborhood meeting. Any presented or 
discussed materials should also be part of the submitted minutes. 
 
Planning Board agenda packets are going out today. Please resubmit sufficient minutes ASAP. 
 
Thanks, 
Jay McLeod, AICP 
Planner 
Town of Clayton 
111 East Second Street | PO Box 879 | Clayton, NC 27528 
P (919)359-9335  |  F (919)553-1720   
jwmcleod@townofclaytonnc.org 
 
 
From: Molly Herring [mailto:molly@truelinesurveying.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, March 18, 2015 10:22 AM 
To: Jay McLeod 
Subject: RE: Horne Memorial 
 
Neighborhood Meeting  
 
Molly Herring 
True Line Surveying 
205 West Main St. 
Clayton, NC 27520 
919-359-0427 
919-359-0428 Fax 
 

Page 342 of 366



2

From: Jay McLeod [mailto:jwmcleod@townofclaytonnc.org]  
Sent: Monday, March 16, 2015 12:39 PM 
To: 'Molly Herring' 
Subject: RE: Horne Memorial 
 
Hi Molly, 
The schedule for the Horne Memorial rezoning applications is below: 
 
15‐05‐01‐RZ Horne Memorial rezoning 
Rezoning to O‐I for the three parcels owned by Horne Memorial Church, that include the Church, the 
playground/daycare lot behind it, and the office/house on the same block. 
Applicant: Curk Lane, True Line Surveying 
Planning Board will make a recommendation to approve or deny the request, and the request will move on to the 
Town Council March 23rd  workshop and April 6th meeting for decision. 
 
15‐05‐02‐RZ Horne Memorial rezoning  
Rezoning to O‐I for the two parcels owned by Horne Memorial Church, in the residential neighborhood generally 
south of the Church. 
Applicant: Curk Lane, True Line Surveying 
Planning Board will make a recommendation to approve or deny the request, and the request will move on to the Town 
Council March 23rd  workshop and April 6th meeting for decision. 
 
Everything seems to be moving along. Please send over the neighborhood meeting minutes (from both meetings) as 
soon as you all are able. Thanks a bunch. 
 
Please let me know if there’s anything else, 
Jay McLeod 
Ext. 5405 
919‐359‐9335 
 
From: Molly Herring [mailto:molly@truelinesurveying.com]  
Sent: Monday, March 16, 2015 12:03 PM 
To: Jay McLeod 
Subject: Horne Memorial 
 
Hey Jay, 
Are there any other meetings for Horne besides the March 23  planning board meeting? 
 
Thanks, 
 
Molly Herring 
True Line Surveying 
205 West Main St. 
Clayton, NC 27520 
919-359-0427 
919-359-0428 Fax 
 
 

Right-click here to download 
pictures.  To help protect your  
privacy, Outlook prevented 
auto matic downlo ad o f this  
picture from the Internet.

 

This email is free from viruses and malware because avast! Antivirus protection is active. 

Page 343 of 366



Horne Memorial Rezoning I & II: Resubmittal of Neighborhood Meeting Minutes (rec’d 03/18/2015, 
2:40PM) - JM 

 

Horne Memorial UMC 

Neighborhood Meeting Summary 

03-18-2015 

 

Neighborhood meeting held on 01-21-15 was well attended.  Many discussion topics of concern were 

brought up as follows; 

What will happen to existing house – Neighbors want to keep it and the Church is deciding if it can be 

saved, used or needs to be taken down. 

What kind of building will be done on the lots – Neighbors are concerned about parking on the lots and 

how it affects their property, such as lights from headlights, screening required how many spaces.  The 

Church is still trying to decide what can be built on the lots and have no immediate plans. 

Why does the Church need to rezone the properties – Neighbors want to keep the zoning the same and 

the Church wants to rezone because the future use will not be residential in nature but will be a 

combination of uses best described by O/I zoning.  Once the rezoning is complete then the Church will 

know what is an allowed use and what the setbacks and buffer requirements are.   

Discussions also were had on how the Church came about owning the property and why they did not 

see a for sale sign on the lots.  The property was offered for sale and the Church purchased them from 

the owners with the hopes for future use to serve the Church’s needs for the community.   

Concerned with how changing the use of these lots will affect the neighborhood.  Neighbors want it to 

stay as is.  Church is a part of same community and expressed its desire to better serve the community it 

needs to be able to change and grow just like the houses do around them. 

Property value was discussed but a consensus was not determined. 

Needs for the Church to expand were discussed as mix of parking, office use and storage.  

The conclusion from the neighbors is that the lots need to stay as are and let the Church expand 

elsewhere as any parking would not be in keeping with surroundings.  Church would like to stay a part of 

the neighborhood and would like to be able to grow and change as the need arises. 

 

Page 344 of 366



 

PPAB 2574608v1 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

15-05-01-RZ Horne Memorial Church Rezoning I 
 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 
  
Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 
 
The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically:  

- Objective 2.1 – Balanced Development/Investment: Old & New 
 
Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically (insert specifics to case) 

The rezoning and recombination of these three parcels will allow this urban Church to 

continue to meet the needs of their constituents and is consistent with the uses on this block 

(which includes Town Hall) and serves as the border between the more intense uses in 

downtown and the less intense uses in the historic, residential neighborhood to the south of 

Horne Street 

_____________________________________________________________________________, 

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

Page 345 of 366



Page 346 of 366



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

April 15, 2015 

NOTICE 

SUBJECT: Project #15-05-01-RZ, Horne Memorial Church Rezoning I 

Address: 3 parcels located on the corners of Horne St, Page St, & Church St. 
Tag #: 05015059,05015060A, 05015060 
Applicant: True Line Surveying, c/o Curk Lane 

(curk@truelinesurveying.com)  

Dear Clayton Area Property Owner: 

Notice is hereby given that the Clayton Town Council will first open this item at their April 20, 

2015 meeting and will hold a public hearing to decide this application at their May 4, 2015 

meeting. The Town Council meetings are held at 6:30 PM at Town Hall, 111 E Second Street. 
The above-referenced application is requesting the rezoning of 0.71 acres at the above-
referenced location. Please see the map on the back of this letter. The requested rezoning change 
is from R-6 (Residential-6) to O-I (Office Institutional).  

Based upon records in the Johnston County Tax Office, you are the owner of property that is 
within 100 feet of this proposed rezoning request.  You are invited to attend these meetings and 
express your opinions on this request to Council. If you wish to submit a petition of protest and 
intend to invoke the rules established by N.C. Statute 160A-385 you must submit the petition on 
forms provided by the Town Clerk, Kimberly Moffett, not later than 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 
May 1, 2015.  Ms. Moffett may be reached at 919-553-5002. 

If you should need additional assistance or information, please contact Jay McLeod, in the 
Planning Department at (919) 359-9335 or email at jwmcleod@townofclaytonnc.org.  

Sincerely, 

Jay McLeod, AICP 
Planner 

cc: File folder: 15-05-01-RZ 
Kimberly Moffett, CMC, Town Clerk 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 347 of 366

mailto:curk@truelinesurveying.com
mailto:jwmcleod@townofclaytonnc.org


 

Page 348 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7a    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Warranty and Dedication Acceptances   - Cleveland Draft House of 

Clayton 
 
DESCRIPTION: Acceptance public water and sewer utilities along with all 

related utility easements.  Following acceptances, utilities will 
be subject to a one-year warranty period.  Upon expiration of 
warranty, final inspection will be done and all deficient items 
corrected by developer prior to final acceptance. 

  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Place on May 4, 2015   Inspectors Memos 
    Consent Agenda     
         
 
 
 

Page 349 of 366



Page 350 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7b    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Ordinance amending Chapter 112 Section 17 of the Town of Clayton 

Code of Ordinances. 
 
DESCRIPTION: Chief Bridges will be present this ordinance which will amend 

the Town Code of Ordinances by authorizing the Clayton 
Police Department to seek access to SBI/DCI criminal record 
information for use in making recommendations with regard 
to suitability of person(s) seeking an ABC permit within the 
Town of Clayton 

RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Place on May 4, 2015   Ordinance 
    Consent Agenda     
         
 
 
 

Page 351 of 366



Ordinance No.  

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 112 SECTION 17 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE TOWN OF CLAYTON, NORTH CAROLINA. 

 
AUTHORIZING THE CLAYTON POLICE DEPARTMENT TO SEEK STATE ACCESS 

TO SBI/DCI CRIMINAL RECORD INFORMATION FOR USE IN MAKING 
RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE SUITABILITY OF A PERSON OR OF A LOCATION 

FOR AN ABC PERMIT. 
 

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute § 18B-904(f) provides that the governing body of a 
town may designate an official of the town, either by name or position, to make 
recommendations to the State ABC Commission on behalf of the town concerning the suitability 
of a person or of a location for issuance of an ABC permit when the proposed location is within 
the Town; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Chief of Police, or any Police Captain designated by the Chief of Police, is 
designated as the official authorized to make recommendations on behalf of the governing body 
concerning the suitability of a person or of a location for an ABC permit within the Town of 
Clayton jurisdiction pursuant to North Carolina General Statute § 18B-904(f); and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to make said recommendations, the Clayton Police Department, desires 
State access to the SBI/CCI Criminal History Record information to obtain criminal history 
information on all persons applying for ABC permits for proposed locations within the Town of 
Clayton; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Clayton Police Department will obtain said criminal history on each applicant 
based upon identification regarding the applicant contained in the notice of permit application 
received from the State ABC Commission; and 
 
WHEREAS, if said criminal history information reveals that an applicant has been convicted or 
any felony, a misdemeanor involving drugs or alcohol, or any offense in violation of Article 26 
of Chapter 14 of the North Carolina Statutes, the Clayton Police Department will file a written 
objection to the issuance of the permit; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State ABC Commission is the government agency responsible for the issuance 
of all ABC permits; 

Page 352 of 366



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council for the Town of Clayton, 
North Carolina, that Chapter 112 of the Code of Ordinance, Clayton, North Carolina, shall be 
amended as follows: 
 
Section 17 – Section is added as follows: 
 
Section 17:  Police authority regarding criminal history information for applicants for ABC 
Permits. 
 
The Clayton Police Department shall be authorized to seek state access to SBI/DCI 
Criminal History Record Information to obtain criminal history information on all persons 
applying for ABC permits for proposed locations within the Town of Clayton. 
 
All ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
Should any provision of this ordnance by declared invalid or unconstitutional by any court of any 
competent jurisdiction, such deliberation shall not affect the validity of this ordinance as a whole 
or any part thereof which is not specifically declared to be invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
This ordinance shall take effect immediately following date of adoption. 
 
Duly adopted this ________ day of _______________, 2015. 
 
 
 

 
____________________________________ 

Jody L. McLeod 
Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett, CMC, NCCMC 
Town Clerk 
 

Page 353 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7c    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Special Event – 2015-06 – Harvest Festival 
 
DESCRIPTION: Bruce Naegelen will present an overview of the request and 

details for the 2015 Harvest Festival. 
 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Place on May 4, 2015   Special Event Report 
    Consent Agenda     
         
 
 
 

Page 354 of 366



 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Staff Contact:  Bruce Naegelen: 919-280-1278 
EVENT INFORMATION:  
Event Name: Harvest Festival File Number:   2015-06 

Event Description:  Rides, food vendors, vendor booths selling various items, concerts, talent shows 

 and contest 

Event Date(s): 9/16-20/2015 Event Time(s): Various 

Event Location:   Main Street, Horne Square & Town Square 

Event Coordinator: Polly Mudd Contact Number: 919-255-2662 

Contact Email: polly@claytonchamber.com 

Attendees (Per Day): 20,000  
 

TOWN SERVICES REQUESTED: 
Department / 

Division 
Requested Services Date/Time Primary 

Contact 
Contact 
Phone # 

Electric Dept Activation of all power sources (Town Square, 
Horne Square, Main St & Library, Main Street 
@ Community Garden) 

9/14/15 Dale Medlin 359-1292 

Public Works Roll-Out Trash & Recycled carts 
Road closure blockades & cones per IAP 

Deliver: 
9/16/15 & 
Pick-up: 
9/21/15 

Steve Blasko 359-1287 

Police 
Department 

Road-blocking and detour planning per IAP  Ken Lunger 550-0826 

Police 
Department 

Install barricades & cones for road blocking per 
IAP 

Deliver: 
9/18 at 5:00 
am 
Pick-up: 
9/20 at 5:00 
pm 

Ken Lunger 550-0826 

Parks & 
Recreation 

3 sets of bleachers (if available) at Town 
Square & lime machine to mark vendor spaces 

Deliver: 
9/16/15 & 
Pick-up: 
9/21/15 

Larry Bailey 359-9372 

Town Council Authorize closure of Horne Square parking lot, 
Town Square Parking Lot, and public streets as 
requested  (attached) 

9/13/15 to 
9/20/15 

  

STAFF USE: 
Cmte 
Approval 

  Approved 
Date:  3/26/15   No Council Action needed    Denied 

    
Council 
Action 

Presentation        Date: 4/20/15   Approved      Denied 
Consent Agenda    Date: 5/4/15 Date:   

    
Pending 
Actions 

  DOT Road Closure Approval 

  Issue Permit    Date:   
  ABC Permit Submittal 
  Other 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

SPECIAL EVENT ACTION ITEM REPORT 

Page 355 of 366

mailto:polly@claytonchamber.com


Road & Parking Lot Closure Request  
Clayton Harvest & Music Festival 
2015-6 
 
Council Request: 
 
 September 13-21, 2015 (Monday –  Monday) 

– Closure of Horne Square & parking lot   all day and night 
 September 16, 2015 (Wednesday) 

– Closure of Town Square Parking Lot   4:00 pm – 11:00 pm  
 September 18-19, 2015 (Friday-Saturday) 

– Closure of Town Square Parking Lot  from 4:00 pm on 9/18 to 11:59 pm on 9/19 
 September 18-20, 2015 (Friday-Saturday) 

– Closure of Fayetteville Street from Main to Second  from 5:00 am on 9/18 to 11:59 pm on 
9/19 

 September 19, 2015  (Saturday) 
– Closure of  Main Street from O’Neil St to Second St  5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  Lombard Street from Main to Second Street  5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  N. Lombard Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  S. Church Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  N. Church Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  N. Fayetteville Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  Barbour Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  Smith Street from Main to Second Street 5:00 am – 6:00 pm 
– Closure of  Main Street from O’Neil Street to S. Fayetteville Street 5:00 am – 11:00 pm (New) 

 

Page 356 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7d    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Special Event – 2015-07 – Clayton Shindig 
 
DESCRIPTION: Bruce Naegelen will present an overview of the request and 

details for the 2015 Clayton Shindig. 
 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15   Place on May 4, 2015   Special Event Report 
    Consent Agenda     
         
 
 
 

Page 357 of 366



 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Staff Contact:  Bruce Naegelen: 919-280-1278 
 
EVENT INFORMATION:  
 

Event Name: The Clayton Shindig File Number:   2015-07 

Event Description:  Music festival sponsored by Clayton Mid-Day Rotary proceeds to local charities 

Event Date(s): 10/10/2015 Event Time(s): 

Set up: start 10/9 (Friday) at 
10:00 am end 10/10 
(Saturday) at 11:30 pm 

Event Location:   110 W. Main Street 

Event Coordinator: Dave Brown Contact Number: 919 812-6969 

Contact Email: dave@earthplow.org 

Attendees (Per Day): 2000  
 
 

TOWN SERVICES REQUESTED: 
Department 

/ Division 
Requested Services Date/Time Primary 

Contact 
Contact 
Phone # 

Public Works 24 roll-out trash carts;  19 roll-out recycled carts 
Organizer is negotiating with a potential vendor to 
handle trash and will communicate needs to TOC 45 
days prior to event 

Deliver to Town 
Square: 10/9 and pick 
up 10/11 

Steve 
Blasko 

359-1287 

Public Works Barricades to close: Town Square parking lot; 
Fayetteville Street from Main & Second; Second 
Street from Fayetteville to O’Neil 

Deliver: 10/9/15 by 
10 am 
Pick-Up on 10/11/15 

Steve 
Blasko 

359-1287 

Electric Dept.  Assure power sources at Town Square (O’Neil 
St & Fayetteville St) are in working order 

10/9/15 Dale 
Medlin  

359-1292 

Town Council Authorize Closure of Town Square parking lot 
& Fayetteville Street between Main & Second 
from 10:00 am 10/9/15 (Friday) to 11:30 pm on 
10/10/15 (Saturday);  Second Street between 
Fayetteville & O’Neil from 6:00 am to 11:30 
pm; and The Clayton Center Parking Lot on 
10/10/15 from 6:00 am to 11:30 pm 

   

     
STAFF USE: 

SEC 
Approval 

  Approved 
Date: 3/26/15    No Council Action needed    Denied 

    
Council 
Action 

Presentation        Date: 4/20/15   Approved      Denied 
Consent Agenda    Date:5/4/15 Date:   

    
Pending 
Actions 

  DOT Road Closure Approval 

  Issue Permit    Date:   
  ABC Permit Submittal 
  Other 

 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

SPECIAL EVENT ACTION ITEM REPORT 

Page 358 of 366

mailto:dave@earthplow.org


Road & Parking Lot Closure Request  
Clayton Shindig 
2015-7 
 
Council Request: 
 
 Fayetteville St. from Main Street to Second St. - 10/09/15 (Friday)   3:00 pm to 11:30 pm 10/10/15  

(Saturday) 
 Second St. from O’Neil to Fayetteville Streets  10/10/15  (Saturday) 6:00 am to 11:30 pm  
 Town Square Parking Lot      10/09/15  (Friday) 3:00 pm to 11:30 pm 10/10/15 (Saturday) 
 Horne St. Parking lot at The Clayton Center  10/10/15  (Saturday) 6:00 am to 11:30 pm 

 

Page 359 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 8a    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Archer Lodge Animal Control Service Request 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Town of Clayton has received a request from the Town of 

Archers Lodge with reference to Animal Control Services.  
Mr. Biggs and Chief Bridges will offer additional information 
with regard to this request. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-20-15 Staff Direction   Request/Memo from   
      Archers Lodge. 
         
 
 
 

Page 360 of 366



Page 361 of 366



Proposal for Joint Animal Control Services 
By Clayton and Johnston County 

 
 
 
Background:  The Town of Clayton provides animal control services within Town boundaries.  Services 
consist of one full-time animal control officer (non-sworn position) in the Police Department.  The 
position also has responsibility for solid waste enforcement and certain nuisance enforcement duties.  
The Town provides the full range of animal welfare and enforcement activities but does not kennel or 
otherwise impound animals.  Every effort is made to hold identified owners responsible for the legal and 
proper care of their pet but strays, once collected, are delivered on a daily basis to the Johnston County 
Animal Shelter.  The single position is scheduled to a regular work week.  After hours availability is 
limited. 
 
The Town of Clayton is currently in the process of restructuring and reorganizing its entire Code 
Enforcement Program.  The areas under evaluation include nuisance abatement, abandoned vehicle 
enforcement, solid waste enforcement, minimum housing code enforcement, and enforcement on 
activities within the public right-of-way such as illegal signs and third party utility work.  As animal 
control is currently handled by the same Division as other enforcement activities the Town is also 
exploring how to restructure or improve that activity as well.  Staff and operating costs for the combined 
functions of animal control and other code enforcement activities performed by the assigned staff 
amount to about $47,000 per year. 
 
Based on review of provided reports the position attends to about 1.3 animal related incidents per day 
with a maximum of about 4 animal related incidents per day.  As noted the position also attends to 
other code enforcement related activities. 
 
Considerations 
 

1. The Town needs better after hours (on-call) availability for animal control cases. 
2. The process of transporting animals from Clayton to the shelter is inefficient. 
3. The position does not specialize in animal control.  Duties are divided between animal control 

and other enforcement activities.   
4. The extent of animal control activities does not indicate full time duties. 
5. Johnston County has a comparatively larger staff that works in close coordination with the 

shelter. 
6. The Animal Control Ordinances are not the same.  This issue will be resolved to mutual 

satisfaction through an interlocal agreement and/or Council action. 
 
Proposal 
 

A.  By mutual, formal agreement- Transition Town of Clayton animal control activities to Johnston 
County Animal Control. 

i. Define acceptable regular, in-town operating hours. 
ii. Define normal operating expectations. 
iii. Define financial consideration. 
iv. Define term of agreement. 

Page 362 of 366



B. Provide funding and equipment support to Johnston County to expand their program and 
provide animal control services in the Town of Clayton. 

 
Discussion of Disadvantages 
 

a. Partial loss of in-town, daytime weekday presence. 
b. Partial on-call status during daytime hours. 
c. Unknown resources and preference at Johnston County Animal Control Services. 

 
Discussion of Advantages 
 

d. Greater evening and weekend support/availability for dog bite and urgent cases. 
e. Efficiency of operation in coordination with Shelter. 
f. Opportunity for specialization (duties not split with other enforcement activities.) 

 
Specific Proposed Financial Terms 
 

I. Financial:   
a. Payment of $20,000 per year for initial term of agreement. 
b. Loan of existing animal control vehicle without cost for initial term of agreement. 
c. Payment of $200 per dispatched call for all calls outside of scheduled hours. 

II. Hours: 
a. In-town operating hours:  Minimum of sixteen hours per week based on fixed or flexed 

scheduled. 
b. Response on calls for service for additional time as needed but not more than 35 hours 

per week except in extraordinary circumstances. 
III. Scope of Services 

a. Enforcement of Animal Control Laws. 
b. Collection of stray or loose animal in accordance with normal practices of JCACS. 
c. Assistance in identifying pet owners for purposes of accountability. 
d. Counseling of pet owners on applicable laws, as beneficial. 
e. Coordination with Town of Clayton code enforcement and police department. 

IV. Term:  Four years, unless terminated sooner by mutual consent. 

Page 363 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 9a    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Hocutt  Ellington Memorial Library Long Range Plan 
 
DESCRIPTION: Ms. Starnes recently presented the Long Range Plan for the 

Hocutt Ellington Memorial Library at the April 6, 2015 Town 
Council meeting.  At that time the Council directed this item 
be placed on consent for the April 20, 2015 meeting.  
However, some changes were made to the plan and will be 
presented this evening for approval. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15 Approval    Long Range Plan 
 
4-20-15 Approval    Amended Long Range  
      Plan    
         
 
 
 

Page 364 of 366



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 9b    Meeting Date:  April 20, 2015 
 
TITLE: Library User Fees 
 
DESCRIPTION: Ms. Medlin recently offered a presentation regarding 

suggested Library Card User Fees at the April 6, 2015 Town 
Council meeting.  At that time the Council directed this item 
be placed on consent for the April 20, 2015 meeting.  
However, some adjustments have been made.  Ms. Medlin will 
present these changes for approval. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15 Approval    Report 
 
4-20-15 Approval    Ordinance Amending 

     Fees 
 
 
 

Page 365 of 366



Ordinance No. 2015-04-01 

 
Town of Clayton 

Amendment to the Comprehensive 
List of Fees and Charges 

Regarding Library User Fees 
 

BE IT HEREBY APPROVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL FOR THE TOWN OF CLAYTON, 
NORTH CAROLINA, THAT THE FOLLOWING SHALL BE AMENDED TO ITS 
COMPREHENSIVE LIST OF FEES AND CHARGES: 

LIBRARY 
 
I. Copy Machine or Computer Printouts    $.20 per copy  
II. Lost Book Charge       Cost to replace book or audio book  
III. Overdue Fines for book or audio book      $.25 per day 
IV. Library Card Replacement (unexpired)     $5.00 
V. User Fees: 
  Non-Resident 
   Annual      $25.00 
   Semi-Annual     $15.00 
   Quarterly     $10.00 
  Non-Resident Family (annual)   $50.00  

Resident Taxpayer     No Fee 
  Non-Resident Taxpayer    No Fee 
  Town of Clayton Employee    No Fee 
  Educational Employee (All Johnston County) No Fee 
  Non-Resident Internet Use    $5.00/hour 
   
 
 
Duly adopted this 20th day of April, 2015. 
 

______________________________________ 
Jody McLeod 

Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett 
Town Clerk 
 

Page 366 of 366


	AGENDA COVER PAGE
	April 20 2015 Agenda
	MONDAY, APRIL 20, 2015    THE CLAYTON CENTER

	3a Cover Draft Minutes
	March 16, 2015 Minutes

	3bCover Clean Sweep Proclamation
	3b Clean Sweep Proclamation

	3c Cover Public Arts Board Vacancy
	3c Public Arts Board Application 2015

	3d Cover Street Blade Request
	4a Cover Preecamplsia Proclamation
	4a Preecamplisa Month - May 2015

	4b Cover Police Memorial Day and Week Proclamation
	4b 2015 POLICE WEEK PROCLAMATION

	4c Cover PAAB
	4c PAAB Body of Work 2015-2016

	5a Cover - Steeplechase
	5a Staff Report
	Maps
	Rezoning Application
	Adjacent Property Owners List
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster
	Neighborhood Meeting Summary
	Consistency & Reasonableness Statement
	5a Motion
	5a Ordinance

	5b Cover PDD 2014-128
	5b Staff Report 
	Findings of Fact
	Maps
	Aerial Maps
	Proposed Land Use Map
	Application
	Owners Consent Form
	SS08 Neighborhood meeting materials PDD2014-127
	Neighborhood Mtg Summary
	Neighborhood Mtg Letter.pdf
	Attendance Roster

	SS11 NCDOT Recommendations TIA review 20150120
	SS12 NCDOT Steeplechase TIA Review Comments 20150129 - Update Required
	WW Allocation Request Ltr - SteepleChase PSD 2014-128



	Steeplechase TIA_revised signed_3 3 15
	5b Motion LONG FORM
	5b Motion SHORT FORM
	6a Cover Sewer Bid Process
	6b Cover Ravens Ridge Rezone
	Staff Report
	Maps
	Application
	Adjacent Property Owner List
	Neighborhood Meeting Summary

	6c Cover Ravens Ridge Master Plat
	Staff Report
	Maps
	Findings of Fact
	Application
	Adjacent Property Owner List
	Neighborhood Meeting Summary 
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster
	Consistency & Reasonableness Statement

	6d Cover Rezone Proctors Place
	Staff Report
	Maps
	Application
	Adjacent Property List
	Adjacent Property Meeting Notification
	General Warranty Deed
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster
	Consistency and Reasonableness Statement

	6e Cover Rezone Horne Memorial
	Staff Report
	Maps
	Application
	Adjacent Property
	Neighborhood Meeting Notice
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster 1-21-14
	Neighorhood Meeting Summary
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster 3-10-15
	Neighborhood Meeting Summary 3-10-15
	Consistency and Reasonableness Statement
	Certification of Mailing Notice

	7a Cover Warranty and Dedications
	7a Warranty - Cleveland Draft House of Clayton

	7b Cover ABC Permit Ordinance
	7bOrdinance ABC Permit SBI Criminal History Check

	7c Cover Harvest Festival
	7c. Special Event 2015-06 Harvest Festival Action Item Report

	7d Cover Clayton Shindig
	7d. Special Event 2015-07 Clayton Shindig Action Item Report

	8a Cover Archers Lodge Animal Service Request
	Animal Control Request
	Example- Prior Proposal TofC to JoCo

	9a Cover Library Long Range Plan
	9b Cover User Fees
	Library Fee Ordinance




